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- The City of Detroit

INTRODUCTORY

CHAPTER 1
DETROIT AND WAYNE COUNTY

A GENERAL VIEW—LOCATION AND BOUNDARIES—LATITUDE AND LONGITUDE—TOPOG-
RAPHY—TIHE DETROIT RIVER—ISLANDS OF THE RIVER—DRAINAGE—EXTINCT
STREAMS—GEOLOGY—LIMESTONES—IRON ORE—CLAY, PEAT AND MARL—THE
GLACIAL EPOCH—SOILS—CLIMATE—THE NAME ‘‘DETROIT.’’

Wayne County, of which Detroit is the county seat, is situated in the
southeastern part of the Lower Peninsula of Michigan. It is bounded on the
north by the counties of Oakland and Macomb; on the east by the Detroit
River, which separates it from the Dominion of Canada; on the south by the
County of Monroe, and on the west by the County of Washtenaw. According
to Rand-McNally’s Atlas of the United States, the area of the county is 626
square miles. (For changes in area and boundary lines see Chapter LVII.)
Observations made by the United States Geological Survey show Detroit to be
located in latitude 43° 19’ 50” north and in longitude 83° 2’ 5” west of
Greenwich, :

TOPOGRAPHY

In January, 1839, Bela Hubbard, then assistant state geologist, submitted to
Governor Mason the first official report concerning the topography of the
county. This report says: ‘‘Nearly the whole of Wayne County is included
in that portion of the peninsula constituting the eastern border, in which no
considerable prominences occur, and the descent to the coast is gradual and
uniform. In this county, consequently, if we except the township in the
northwest corner, the general level is varied only by gentle undulations or
isolated sand ridges, forming no continuous ranges and seldom exceeding the
relative height of twenty feet. Along the whole eastern border of the county
the altitude at a distance of six miles from the coast varies but little from
thirty-three to thirty-six feet. At a single point only, in the vicinity of
Detroit, it attains to forty-five feet above the river.”’

" Below the River Rouge, beginning about two or three miles from the
Detroit River, was in early days a chain or network of wet prairies, the ground
gradually rising until at the west line of the county it was about one hundred
and forty feet higher than at the river. The streams in the southwestern
part of the county therefore have a swifter current and are available for water
power. Mr. Hubbard reported sixty-three square miles of marsh land, dis-
tributed over the county as follows: Eleven sections in Brownstown Township ;
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eighteen sections in Ecorse; four sections in Greenfield and Redford, which
he describes as ‘‘good cranberry land;’’ ten sections in Hamtramck; ten
sections in Huron and ten in Romulus.

About the little lakes and ponds in these wet prairies and marshes was once
a fruitful field for the trapper. Beavers were plentiful here until about the
beginning of the Nineteenth Century, when they disappeared. The early settlers
cut large quantities of wild hay from these wet lands to provide sustenance for
their live stock during the long, cold winters.

In the northwestern part the ground is more rolling and broken into frequent
ridges, which often rise sixty or eighty feet above the general surface. The
dividing line between the lands of this character and the more level tracts, which
constitute the remainder of the county, is marked by a low gravelly ridge,
supposed to have been at some remote period in the past the shore of the lake.
The course of this ridge is from northeast to southwest, passing through the
northwest corner of Livonia Township, entering Plymouth about two miles
from the northern boundary, and crossing the west line of the county near the
southwest corner of Canton Township.

THE DETROIT RIVER

The Detroit River, which flows along the eastern border, forms the inter-
national boundary between the United States and the Dominion of Canada,
though the United States exercises jurisdiction over the greater portion of the
stream. By act of Congress, approved by President Monroe on December
19, 1819, the river was declared to be a public thoroughfare for the passage of
vessels. It receives all the waters of Wayne County except the Huron River.
The name, which is of French origin, means ‘‘The Strait.”’

From the point where it leaves Lake St. Clair to the point where it empties
into Lake Erie, the distance is a little less than twenty-eight miles. At its
narrowest point, in front of the City of Detroit, it is a little over half a mile
wide. The greatest width, at the foot of Grosse Ile, is about three miles, and
the average width is about one mile. The average depth is about thirty-five
feet and it is navigable for the largest vessels on the lakes. There are but few
rivers in the world that surpass the Detroit in the volume of water that passes
through its channel. It is the outlet of the largest three of the Great Lakes—
Huron, Michigan and Superior—and all the streams that empty into them.
The area drained by the Detroit is as great as that drained by the Ohio,
though the latter is nearly one thousand miles long. Likewise, there are but
few rivers that present more attractive scenery. Along its course are numerous
islands, which rise like emeralds from the clear, tranquil water, and passengers
upon the great steamers never tire of watching the constantly changing pano-
rama.

ISLANDS OF THE RIVER

Beginning at Lake St. Clair, the prineipal islands in the Detroit River are as
follows: La Peche, or Isle of the Fishes, which is on the Canadian side of
the river and was once the summer home of Pontiac, the great chief of the
Ottawa nation. Belle Isle (formerly called Rattlesnake and later Hog Island)
is now the property of the City of Detroit and one of its most beautiful parks.
(A history of Belle Isle appears in another chapter.) Turkey Island (also
called Fighting Island) a long, narrow island on the Canadian side, takes its
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name from the great numbers of wild turkeys found there in early times. This
island was the scene of the contest between the Indians under Pontiac and
the vessel sent to relieve the fort at Detroit in 1763. The remains of an old
Indian earthwork at the upper end were plainly visible in the early years of
the Nineteenth Century. Near the foot of this island are Little Turkey and
Mammy Judy islands. The latter, containing about thirty acres, was named
for an old Indian squaw who used to come there every year during the fishing
season, and who finally died on the island. Mud and Grassy islands lie between
Turkey Island and the Michigan shore.

Grosse Ile is the largest in the river. An old French document of 1717
says: ‘‘It is very fine and fertile and extensive, being as it is estimated
from six to seven leagues in circumference. There is an extraordinary quantity
of apple trees on this island, and those who have seen the apples on the
ground say they are more than half a foot deep; the apple trees are planted
as if methodically and the apples are as large as small pippins. Abundance
of excellent millstones are found on this island; all around it are very fine
prairies. It was a long time doubtful whether Detroit should not be founded
there. The cause of the hesitation was the apprehension that the timber might
some day fail.”’

About the foot of Grosse Ile are grouped a number of smaller islands, viz.:
Bois Blanc (or Whitewood), Calf, Celeron (or Tawa), Elba, Fox, Hickory,
Horse, Humbug and Sugar. Several of the islands in the river were the scenes
of stirring events during the early wars.

DRAINAGE

As previously stated, the Detroit River receives the waters of all the streams
of Wayne County, except those of the Huron River, which empties into Lake
Erie at the southeast corner of the county. The Huron, the largest stream in
the county, has its source in the lakes and marshes of Livingston and Washtenaw
counties. At first it flows in a southerly direction, but near the City of Dexter
it turns eastward and enters Wayne County about nine miles north of the
southwest corner. Near the Village of Romulus it turns toward the southeast
and follows that direction until it empties into Lake Erie, near the mouth of
the Detroit River. During the last eight or ten miles of its course it forms the
boundary line between Wayne and Monroe counties,

Next in importance is the River Rouge, which is formed by the north, south,
east and west branches. The North Branch is formed near Redford Corners
by the Belle River, Powers Creek and some smaller streams. Its general course
is southeast until it unites with the West Branch near the center of Dearborn
Township.

The South Branch rises near the western boundary of the county and flows
east through Canton, Nankin and Dearborn townships, uniting with the main
stream near Dearborn Village. It is sometimes called the ‘‘Lower Rouge.’’

The East Branch, formed by Campbell’s, Holden and Knagg’s creeks, falls
into the main stream near the Village of Delray. Knagg’s Creek and some of
the others contributing to the formation of this branch are now within the
city limits and have been filled in and the ‘‘made land’’ converted into city lots.

The West Branch rises in Washtenaw County. It enters Wayne about four
miles south of the northwest corner and flows in a northeasterly direction to
Northville. There it changes its course to southeast and unites with the North
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and South branches near Dearborn. From that point the Rouge follows an
easterly course to the Detroit River.

The Belle River, one of the principal tributaries of the North Branch of the
River Rouge, is only a few miles in length. It is formed in Livonia Township
by Collins and Briggs creeks and a few minor streams, flows in an easterly
direction and empties into the North Branch near the center of Redford Town-
ship.

The southeastern portion of the county is watered by the Ecorse River, which
flows through the township of the same name; Big Brownstown and Hunting-
ton creeks, which empty into the Detroit River a short distance below Gibraltar;
and Smith’s and Silver creeks, which unite and empty into the Huron about
a mile above its mouth.

Connor’s (also called Trombly’s) Creek, in the northeastern part, flows in
a southeasterly course and empties into the Detroit River near the upper end
of Belle Isle.

In the southwestern townships are a number of small streams, such as Willow
Creek, Swan Creek, Tonquist and Woods’ creeks and Willow Run, which fall
into the Huron River or the West Branch of the Rouge.

Probably one of the oldest maps in existence, showing accurately the courses
of the various creeks and rivers of Wayne County, is that prepared under the
supervision of Dr. Douglas Houghton to accompany his report as state geologist
in 1840. More modern maps show no important changes, except within the city
limits of Detroit,- where some small streams have been filled in or converted into
sewers. Foremost among the creeks that have thus been obliterated were
Knagg’s Creek, already mentioned, May’s, Parent’s and Savoyard creeks.

May’s Creek, so named for James May, one of the early judges of the
Court of Quarter Sessions, was known as Campau’s River about the middle of
the Eighteenth Century and later as Cabacier’s Creek, after Joseph Cabacier,
who lived near it. Jacques Peltier built a grist mill on this creek during the old
French régime, and the stream furnished water enough to run the mill about
one-half of each year. The mill stood just north of Fort Street, not far from
the point where that street was afterward crossed by the Michigan Central
Railroad.

Parent’s Creek was the most historic of all these extinct watercourses. It
had its source in Private Claim No. 183, in Grosse Pointe Township, flowed in
a southerly direction, passing through Elmwood Cemetery, and emptied into the
Detroit River about a mile and a half above the old French fort. The creek was
doubtless named for Joseph Parent, a gunsmith, whose name appears in the
records of St. Anne’s Church as early as May, 1707. It was on the banks
of this creek that Captain Dalzell was defeated and killed by the Indians during
the Pontiac war, after which the stream was known as ‘‘Bloody Run.”’

The Savoyard Creek had its source in a willow swamp, not far from the
present intersection of Congress and Riopelle streets and flowed in a westerly
course. It is said to have derived its name from the fact that one of the early
settlers near it came from Savoy. Farmer says that the Detroit boys had a
favorite fishing hole where the creek crossed Woodward Avenue. An old
map shows that it emptied into the river near the foot of Fourth Street. The
people living along the creek used it as a receptacle for all sorts of waste matter.
After Fort Shelby was abandoned, lumber was taken from the fortification and
used to protect the sides from falling in. As population increased and the
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quantity of garbage, etc., dumped into the stream grew greater, the stenches
that arose from the creek rivaled those mentioned by the poet Coleridge in his
description of the City of Cologne. In 1836 the city authorities declared it a
nuisanee and, at great expense, walled and covered it with stone, converting
it into a sewer.

GEOLOGY

According to the report of the state geologist for 1876, the oldest exposed
rocks in Wayne County are the limestones of the Helderberg and Water-lime
groups. The former is found over an area of limited extent in the south-
eastern corner of the state, including Monroe County, the southeastern part
of Wayne and the eastern part of Lenawee. In Monroe the rock outcrops in
nearly all the streams, but in Wayne, where the drift deposits are deeper, the
exposures are less frequent. The upper division of the Helderberg group is
found at Trenton, where quarries were opened at an early date. Here the
upper ledges are covered only by a thin layer of loamy drift. They are lime-
stones of a light color, segregated in beds about six feet in thickness and rich in
fossils. The stone from these quarries has been used chiefly for lime, yielding
a white, quick-slaking lime of superior quality. Below these beds is found a
compact, gray, crystalline limestone in ledges from eight inches to two feet
thick, an excellent stone for building purposes. )

Gibraltar, on the Detroit River about four miles below Trenton, marks the
northern exposure of the Water-line group. At this point the lower rock
series come to the surface in the bed of the creek near its mouth. The stone is
described as ‘‘a somewhat absorbent, crystalline dolomite, of gray color and
laminated structure, in layers, from one to two feet thick.”” Stone of this quality
has also been quarried on the lower end of Grosse Ile.

Near Flatrock the Huron River runs over ledges of the Water-lime forma-
tion. Here the stone is a hard, drab-colored dolomite, erystalline in texture,
with flinty concretions and containing but few fossils. The deposits here are too
far below the surface to be profitably quarried.

During the period of French rule, the inhabitants of Detroit obtained stone
from the deposits about Trenton and Gibraltar for chimneys to their log houses.
Farmer’s ‘‘History of Detroit’’ (p. 367) says that by 1763 limekilns had
been established and a few stone buildings had been erected inside the stockade.
In 1870 some workmen, engaged in digging a trench for a water main on Jeffer-
son Avenue, unearthed an old stone fireplace with its iron crane for holding
kettles still fast in the stone work. It was found about four or five feet below
the surface and was supposed to have been the fireplace in a cellar kitchen
of a house within the fort.

IRON ORE

Dr. Douglas Houghton, in his first report as state geologist, submitted to
Governor Mason in 1838, says: ‘‘At a distance of six or seven miles northwest
of Detroit, and in the County of Wayne, bog (iron) ore occurs at intervals over
an extent of several hundred acres, but I have not been able to examine it with
sufficient care to determine its extent ; I think, however, there can be little doubt
but it exists in sufficient quantities to be turned to practical account.’’

Subsequent surveys located the richest of these deposits in Greenfield Town-
ship and near the southern border of Livonia Township. By analysis the ore
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was found to contain nearly seventy-four per cent of peroxide of iron, but it
does not appear that any attempt was ever made to give the deposits a com-
mercial value,

CLAY, PEAT AND MARL

Clay suitable for brickmaking has been found at several points in the
county. The first brickyards in the county were established in what is now
Springwells Township. They were operating on an extensive scale at the time
Michigan was admitted into the Union in 1837, and are mentioned in the early
reports of the state geologist as obtaining their supply of raw material ‘‘from
the blue clay beds in the drift.”’

Doctor Houghton, in his early reports as state geologist, also speaks of
two brickyards in operation on the South Branch of the River Rouge near
Schwarzburg, where clay of a fine quality was found along the river bank in a
stratum ranging from two to four feet in thickness.

Just west of Northville, in Plymouth Township, is a deposit of clay of fine
texture that has been utilized for the manufacture of bricks and earthenware.
In Section 27 of the same township there is a bed of fine clay covering an area
of eighty acres or more.

At Flat Rock, on the Huron River, there is an extensive deposit of blue clay,
but it contains so much lime that all attempts to use it for brickmaking have
been unsuccessful. Farther up the river both the blue and yellow clays are of
a better character. Fifty years ago or more a brickyard was in successful
operation near the mouth of Woods’ Creek, in the southeast corner of Van
Buren Township.

Peat was d.iscovered at a comparatively early date in the marsh lands of
what are now Brownstown, Ecorse, Greenfield, Hamtramck and Huron town-
ships, but little or no use has been made of the deposits. The only bed of
shell marl mentioned in the Michigan Geological Reports is near the center of
Plymouth Township (Section 22). Overlying the marl is a bed of peat, which,
like those above mentioned, has never been used. Gravel and sand, suitable for
concrete work and building purposes, are found at various places in the
county.

THE GLACIAL EPOCH

Far back in the geologic past, about the close of the Tertiary period, came
the Pleistocene or ‘‘Ice Age,”” during which all the central part of North
America was covered with a vast sheet of ice, which extended westward to the
Rocky Mountains. This glacier was formed in the northern part of the con-
tinent by successive falls of snow. The weight added by each snowfall aided
in compressing the mass below into a solid body of ice. As the temperature
rose the entire glacier began to move slowly southward, carrying with it great
bowlders, clays, soils, ete., to be deposited in regions far distant from the
places where they were taken.

As the -huge mass of ice moved slowly along, the bowlders and other hard
substances at the bottom of the glacier left scratches or striee upon the bed
rocks, and from these scorings the geologist has been able to determine the
course of the glacier. At various places in the territory once covered by the
great central glacier the stri@ have been noted upon the rocks, indicating the
general direction traveled by the glacier to have been toward the southeast,
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into a latitude where the rays of the sun began to melt the ice. With the
disappearance of the ice, the solid materials carried by the glacier were
deposited upon the bed rocks or preglacial soil in the form of drift.

‘Where the drift was deposited in a ridge at the edge of the glacier, the
slight elevation is called a ‘‘lateral moraine.”” The ridge formed where two
glaciers, or two sections of a great glacier moving in slightly different directions,
came together is known as a ‘‘medial moraine.”” The ridge which marks the
point where the last of the ice was dissolved is called a ‘‘terminal moraine.’’
There is no doubt that some of the ridges in Wayne County were formed by
glacial action. These ridges are either lateral or medial moraines, the terminal
moraines of the great central glacier being found farther southward, in the
states of Indiana and Ohio.

How long the glacial epoch lasted, or how long since it occurred, is largely
a matter of conjecture. Some geologists estimate the duration of the ‘‘Ice Age’’
as half a million years, and that the last of the ice disappeared more than a
thousand centuries ago. At the close of the glacial period the surface of the
earth, over which the glacier had passed, was void of either vegetable or
animal life. Gradually the frost and rains leveled the surface, the heat of the
sun warmed ‘the chilled earth, the winds carried the seeds of plants and
deposited them upon the soil and life in its primitive forms made its appearance.

SOILS

Wayne County, in common with all the Lower Peninsula, is covered with
glacial drift. Soil formed of drift material, being composed of a great variety
of mineral constituents, usually has all the chemical requirements of a fertile
soil. Exceptions to this rule are seen in places where the assorting of drift
materials, by floods or atmospheric action, is sometimes carried to such a degree
as to destroy fertility. A bed of clay, sand or gravel is not a soil, but a mixture
of all three constitutes a soil that will produce vegetation.

Originally, about two-thirds of the county were heavily timbered with
beech, basswood, black walnut, elm, hickory, oak and a few other varieties of
trees, with some chestnut on the sandy ridges in Dearborn and Van Buren
townships. The remaining third consisted of small plains called ‘‘oak open-
ings,”” a fine description of which is found in J. Fennimore Cooper’s novel
of that name.

In the timbered portions the soil is composed chiefly of clay, sand and loams,
silex forming an important ingredient, and the clay usually contains a large
percentage of lime, which adds to the fertility. Soil of this character, through-
out the southern portion of the Lower Peninsula, is well adapted to horticulture
and many fine orchards and vineyards have been planted in this section of
the state. The soil in the oak openings is generally sandy and less productive,
but by careful cultivation it can be made to produce fair crops. In recent
years, by a liberal application of commercial fertilizers, the farmers of Wayne
County have been able to produce an abundance of vegetables of all sorts and
of excellent quality.

CLIMATE

Like that of most of the cities in the Great Lake region, the climate of
Detroit is modified by the adjacent bodies of water. Records of the United
States Weather Bureau show that the average mean temperature for twenty-
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five years, for the period from May to September, inclusive, never exceeded
72° Fahrenheit, while the mean winter temperature was 26°, the coldest weather
occurring in February. The mean annual temperature therefore varies but
little from that of other cities in the same latitude.

Observations have shown that, when the entire year is taken into con-
sideration, the proportion of clear days to cloudy ones is about two to one,
though in the summer and autumn months the proportion of clear days to
cloudy is approximately five to one. The average yearly rainfall at Detroit
is about forty inches. Usually June is the month of greatest precipitation (aver-
age nearly four inches) and the least rainfall occurs in the months of Decem-
ber and February.

M. de Bougainville, who visited Detroit in 1757, wrote: ‘‘The atmosphere
is of great beauty and serenity. It is a magnificent climate, having almost
no cold weather and only a little snow. The cattle stay in the fields all winter
and find their living there.’’

No doubt the principal reason why Bougainville and other early travelers
noticed so little snow is that the open surface of the Great Lakes has a tendency
to increase the temperature and the snow often melts as fast as it falls. The
snowfall was probably much heavier than these early visitors realized. The
winter of 1779-80 was one of the most severe on record. Snow covered the
ground practically all winter, the cold was intense and in the spring the bodies
of horses and cattle were found by scores in the woods, where they had perished
from exposure and starvation. The winter of 1785-86 was also one of extreme
cold and deep snow. As late as March 1, 1786, the snow was four feet in places
where it had not been disturbed. In Lake St. Clair the ice was three feet
thick a mile from the shore and did not disappear until May. About the middle
of April, 1821, eight inches of snow fell, and on May 1, 1824, the snow was a
foot deep.

As the great lumbering interests cut off the pine forests, the destruction of
the timber wielded an influence upon the climate, which has become more
variable than formerly, though heavy snows still occur occasionally. About the
middle of January, 1877, a snow storm caused the suspension of railway traffic
for several days. At noon on April 6, 1886, a snow storm commenced and by
midnight the snow was two feet deep on the level. The high wind blew the
snow into drifts and all street cars stopped running until late the next day.

As a rule, the autumns in Detroit are the most delightful and enjoyable
seasons of the year. There is but little rainfall and the ‘‘Indian Summer”’
frequently extends into the latter part of November.,

THE NAME ‘‘DETROIT’’

No fewer than six names have been bestowed upon the site of Detroit and
the white settlement there established. Early Indian tribes called the place Yon-
do-ti-ga, meaning a ‘‘Great Village.”” Other tribes gave it the name of
Wa-we-a-tun-ong, which meant ‘‘Crooked Way,”” or ¢ Circuitous Approach,’’
on account of the great bend in the river between Lake St. Clair and Fighting
Island. Another Indian name was Tsych-sa-ron-dia, which also refers to the
bend in the river. In the Colonial Archives of New York State, this name is
found spelled in various ways, the most frequent of which is Teuchsa Grondie.
The Huron Indians called the place Ka-ron-ta-en, ‘‘The Coast of the Straits.”’

Such were the names conferred by the natives. When Cadillac founded his
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settlement here in 1701, it was at first called Fort Pontchartrain, in honor of
Count Pontchartrain, then the French minister of marine. Early French ex-
plorers and travelers designated all the waters connecting Lake Huron and
Lake Irie—the St. Clair River, Lake St. Clair and the Detroit River—as
Détrort, that is ‘‘the strait.”” So the settlement at Fort Pontchartrain was
christened Detroit, from which is derived its popular sobriquet of the ‘‘City of
the Straits.”’ '



CHAPTER 1I
PREHISTORIC DETROIT

THEORIES REGARDING THE FIRST INHABITANTS—THE MOUND BUILDERS—WAYNE
COUNTY MOUNDS—WHO WERE THE MOUND BUILDERS—THE INDIANS—TRIBAL
DISTRIBUTION AT THE BEGINNING OF THE SIXTEENTH CENTURY—THE CHIPPEWA
—THE IROQUOIS—THE HURON—THE MASCOUTEN—THE MIAMI—THE OTTAWA—
THE POTTAWATOMI—SAC AND FOX CONFEDERACY—THE WINNEBAGO—MINOR
TRIBES—REGION INHABITED BY EACH—-THEIR IMPORTANCE IN HISTORY—SOCIAL
ORGANIZATION—TRADITIONS, ETC.

Before the whité man the Indian; before the Indian, who? The question
is more easily asked than answered. Owing te various theories advanced, the
origin of the aboriginal inhabitants of Central North America is veiled in
obscurity. A number of writers—men who made a special study of the subject
—among whom were Prescott and Schooleraft, have asserted their belief that
the first occupants of the continent were descendants of the lost tribes of Israel.
They support their theory with interesting and ingenious arguments to show
that it was not impossible for them to have come from Asia, either by being
drifted across the Pacific Ocean or by way of Behring’s Strait and thence south-
ward into what are now the United States and Mexico. Cadillac, the founder of
Detroit, was an advocate of this theory. An old document found in the French
Archives, written by him, sets forth the reasons for his belief that the Indians
were of Hebrew origin.

THE MOUND BUILDERS

The first white settlements along the Atlantic coast were made in- the early
part of the Seventeenth Century. Almost a century and a half elapsed after
these settlements were founded, before evidences were discovered to show that
the interior had once been peopled by a peculiar race. Says one of the reports
of the United States Bureau of Ethnology:

“During a period beginning some time after the close of the Ice Age and
ending with the coming of the white man—or only a few generations before—
the central part of North America was inhabited by a people who had emerged
to some extent from the darkness of savagery, had acquired certain domestic
arts, and practiced some well-defined lines of industry. The location and boun-
daries inhabited by them are fairly well marked by the mounds and earthworks
they erected.’’

The center of this ancient civilization—if such it may be called—appears to
have been in the present State of Ohio. From the relics left by these early
people archeologists have given them the name of ‘‘Mound Builders.”” Most
of the mounds so far discovered are conical in shape and when explored have
generally been found to contain skeletons. For this reason they have been desig-
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nated as burial mounds. Others are in the form of truncated pyramids—that is,
square or rectangular at the base and flattened on the top. The mounds of this
class are usually much higher than the burial mounds and are supposed to have
been lookouts or signal stations. Here and there are to be seen well-defined
lines of earthworks, indicating that they had been used for defensive purposes
against invading enemies. In a few instances, the discovery of a large mound,
surrounded by an embankment, outside of which are a number of smaller
mounds, has given rise to the theory that such places were centers of religious
worship or sacrifice.

Cyrus Thomas, of the United States Bureau of Ethnology, has divided the
region once inhabited by the Mound Builders into eight districts, in each of
which there are certain characteristics not common to the others. The location
of these districts can be fairly well determined by their names, to wit: 1. The
Dacotah; 2. The Huron-Iroquois; 3. The Illinois; 4. The Ohio; 5. The Ap-
palachian; 6. The Tennessee; 7. The Arkansas; 8. The Gulf District.

The second of these districts—the Huron-Iroquois—embraces the country
once inhabited by the Huron and Iroquois Indians. It includes the greater
part of the State of New York, a strip across the northern part of Ohio, the
Lower Peninsula of Michigan and extends northward into Canada. Through-
out this district burial mounds are numerous, a few fortifications have been noted
and ‘‘hut rings,”’ or foundations of ancient dwellings, are plentiful.

WAYNE COUNTY MOUNDS

A few miles down the Detroit River from the City of Detroit, in Spring-
wells Township, was once a group of mounds, circular or oval in form, with two
parallel embankments about four feet high leading eastward, toward the Detroit
River. Henry Gillman, at one time a curator of the Detroit Scientific Society and
later librarian of the Detroit Public Library, wrote a description of these mounds,
which was published in the report of the Smithsonian Institution for 1873. He
says:

““One of the most interesting works of this region, and which, till a few years
ago, formed a member of a numerous series of mounds in the immediate vicinity,
is the tumulus which I have named ‘The Great Mound of the River Rouge.’ This,
in many respects, remarkable work is situated on the eastern bank of the River
Rouge, a tributary of the Detroit, and near the point of junction of the former
with the latter river, or about four and a half miles from the City Hall of
Detroit.

““The size, shape and well-defined outlines of the monument could hardly
fail to attract the attention of even the superficial observer and impress him as
to its being the work of man. With a height of 20 feet, it must originally have
measured 300 feet in length by 200 in width, but large quantities of sand have
been removed from time to time, greatly reducing its proportions and scatter-
ing or destroying relics. The smaller mounds, extending from the Great Mound
to the eastward, have long since been removed, so has the greater number of
smaller mounds which one stood immediately below the southern city limits.
Those which remain are rapidly disappearing, being used for building sand.

“‘The relics exhumed from the Great Mound (which has not even yet been
thoroughly explored) consist of stone implements, such as axes, scrapers, chisels,
arrow heads and knives; fragments of pottery of a great variety of patterns,
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including the favorite cord pattern; and the bones of man, generally much de-
cayed and exhibiting other indications of antiquity.

‘“About three-fourths of a mile north and eastward of the Great Rouge
Mound, and a few hundred feet westward of Fort Wayne, being over one-third
of a mile from the Detroit River, occurs the monument which I have named
‘The Great Circular Mound.’ Eleven skeletons were here exhumed, with a large
number of burial vases; stone implements in great variety and superior work-
manship, consisting of axes, spears, arrow heads, chisels, drillers and sinkers;
pipes, ornaments of shell and stone; also a peculiar implement of unknown use
formed from an antler, and two articles made of copper, one the remains of a
necklace, consisting of a number of beads, and the other a needle several inches
in length.”’

‘WHO WERE THEY

‘Who were the Mound Builders? Various authors have written upon the
subject and nearly every one has a theory'as to their origin. Some maintain that
they first established their civilization in the Ohio Valley, whence they worked
their way gradually southward into Mexico and Central America, where the
white man found their descendants in the Aztec Indians. Others, with argu-
ments equally logical and plausible, contend that the Mound Builders originated
in the South and migrated northward to the country about the Great Lakes,
where their further progress was checked by hostile tribes. Practically all the
early writers were agreed upon one thing, however, and that was that the Mound
Builders were a very ancient race. The principal reasons for this view were
that the Indians had no traditions concerning many of the relics, and upon
many of the mounds and earthworks, when first discovered, were trees several
feet in diameter, indicating that the relics were of great antiquity. Regarding
the antiquity of the mounds in Wayne County, Mr. Gillman, in the article already
referred to, says:

“Indian tradition says that the mounds were built in ancient times by a
people of whom they (the Indians) know nothing, and for whom they have no
name; that the mounds were occupied by the Turtle Indians and subsequently
by the Wyandottes, but were constructed long before their time. * * * That
these people are identical with the race whose monuments of various deserip-
tions are found in such remarkable abundance to the westward and southward,
through Ohio, Kentucky and Tennessee, even to the gulf of Mexico, admits now
of no question; a race whose craniological development and evidently advanced
civilization apparently separate it from the North American Indian and ally it
to the ancient Brazilian type.”’

Among the earliest writers on the subject of the Mound Builders were Squier
and Davis, who about the middle of the Nineteenth Century published a work
entitled, ‘‘ Ancient Monuments of the Mississippi Valley.”” Between the years
1845 and 1848 these two investigators opened over two hundred mounds. Fol-
lowing the lead of Squier and Davis, other investigators supported their theory
that the Mound Builders, who once inhabited the Ohio and Mississippi valleys,
were of a different race from the Indians found here by the white man.

In more recent years archaologists, who have made extensive research among
the mounds, are practically a unit in the conclusion that the Mound Builder was
nothing more than the ancestor, more or less remote, of the Indian.
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THE INDIANS

‘When Christopher Columbus made his first voyage to the Western Hemis-
phere in 1492, he believed that he had reached the goal of his long cherished
ambitions and that the country where he landed was the eastern shore of Asia.
Early European explorers in America, entertaining a similar belief, thought
the country was India and gave to the race of copper colored people they found
here the name of ‘‘Indians.’’ Later explorations disclosed the fact that Colum-
bus had really discovered a continent hitherto unknown to the civilized nations
of the world. The error in geography was corrected, but the name given by the
first adventurers to the natives still remains,

Probably more pages have been written relating to the Indian tribes of
North America than on any other one subject connected with American history.
To the student of history there is a peculiar fascination in the story of these
savage tribes—their legends, traditions, wars and customs—that makes the topic
always one of surpassing interest, and no history of Detroit and its environs
would be complete without some account of the tribes that inhabited the country
before the advent of the white man.

TRIBAL DISTRIBUTION

The North American Indians are divided into several groups or families, each
of which is distinguished by certain physical and linguistic characteristics. Each
of these groups is subdivided into tribes and each tribe is ruled over by a chief.
At the beginning of the Sixteenth Century, when the first Europeans began
their explorations in America, they found the various leading Indian families
distributed over the continent as follows:

In the far north were the Eskimo, a people that have never played any con-
spicuous part in history. These Indiauns still inhabit the country about the Arctic
Circle, where some of them have been occasionally employed as guides to polar
expeditions, which has been about their only association with the white race.

The Algonquian family, the most powerful and numerous of all the Indian
groups, occupied a great triangle, roughly bounded by the Atlantic coast from
Labrador to Cape Hatteras and by lines drawn from those two points to the
western end of Liake Superior. Within this triangle lived the Delaware, Shawnee,
Miami, Pottawatomi, Chippewa, Ottawa, Sac, Fox, Huron, Winnebago and other
powerful tribes, which yielded slowly to the advance of the superior race.

Almost in the very heart of the Algonquian triangle—along the upper
reaches of the St. Lawrence River and the shores of Lake Ontario—lived the
Iroquoian group, the principal tribes of which were the Cayuga, Mohawk,
Oneida, Onondaga, and Seneca.

South of the Algonquian country and extending from the Mississippi River
to the Atlantic coast was the domain of the Muskhogean family. The leading
tribes of this group were the Cherokee, Chickasaw, Choctaw and Creek. The
Indians of this group were among the most intelligent, as well as the most
aggressive and warlike, of all the North American tribes.

Of the groups inhabiting the western part of the present United States,
the strongest was the Siouan, whose domain was about the headwaters of the
" Mississippi and extending westward to the Missouri River. It was composed of



46 CITY OF DETROIT

a number of tribes closely resembling each other in physical appearance and
dialect, all noted for their warlike tendencies and military prowess.

South and west of the Siouan country lived the ‘‘Plains Indians,’’ composed
of tribes of mixed stock, including the Arapaho, Cheyenne and Pawnee (or Pani)
in the north, and the Apache, Comanche and Kiowa in the south. All these
tribes were of bold and vindictive disposition, expert horsemen and skilful
hunters. West of the Plains Indians dwelt the Shoshonean family, one of the
smallest on the continent, the principal tribes of which were the Bannock and
Shoshone, and farther southward, in what are now the states of Arkansas and
Louisiana, was the Caddoan family, or ‘‘hut builders.”’

Scattered over other parts of the country were numerous minor tribes, which
in all probability had separated from some of the great families, but who, at
the time they first came in contact with the white man, claimed kinship with
none. These tribes were generally inferior in numbers, often nomadic in their
habits, and consequently are of little importance historically.

In a history such as this it is not the design to attempt any extended account
of the Indian race as a whole, but to notice only those tribes whose history is
more or less intimately connected with the region about Detroit, to wit: The
Chippewa, Huron, Iroquois, Mascouten, Miami, Pottawatomi, Sac and Fox,
‘Winnebago and some minor tribes that were really only subdivisions or offshoots
of the larger ones.

THE CHIPPEWA

This was one of the largest tribes of the Algonquian family. The Indian
name was ‘‘Ojibwa,”’ meaning ‘‘to roast till puckered up,’’ a name conferred
by other tribes on account of the Chippewa method of making moccasins with
a puckered seam around the edge. Morgan divides the Chippewa into twenty-
four clans or gentes, the principal ones of which were the wolf, bear, beaver,
bald eagle and sturgeon.

A Chippewa tradition says that at an early date the tribe was closely allied
with the other Algonquian subdivisions, especially the Ottawa and Pottawatomi.
During this period they inhabited both shores of the northern part of Lake
Michigan and the country about the foot of Lake Superior. The French gave
them the name of Sauteaux, from the Sault Ste. Marie. At Mackinaw the
Chippewa withdrew from the alliance and moved westward into what is now
the State of Minnesota, ultimately extending their domain to the Turtle River
in North Dakota.

Although a large tribe numerically, it was not as prominent in history as
some of the smaller ones. Some of the Chippewa lived near the site of Detroit
before the coming of Cadillac and became the friends of the French. When the
post was surrendered to the English in 1760 they transferred their allegiance
to the new power. After the United States came into control, the tribe con-
tinued to receive presents from the British until 1820, when a treaty of peace
was concluded with them by Gov. Lewis Cass.

THE HURON

The Huron nation was composed of four well organized tribes of Iroquoian
stock, commonly called the Bear, Cord, Deer and Rock people, and was known
as the Wendat (Vendat) Confederacy. The name Huron is derived from the
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French ‘‘hure,”’ signifying ‘‘bristly,”’ and was given to these Indians on account
of their coarse, bristly hair.

In 1615 Champlain found the four confederated tribes living about the
Georgian Bay and along the eastern coast of Lake Huron. He estimated their
number at 30,000 and says they had eighteen populous villages, eight of which
were fortified with palisades. About forty years after Champlain’s visit, they
became involved in a war with the Five Nations and were driven to take refuge
with the Erie Indians, whom they persuaded to join them in the war. In 1656
they were again defeated and many of their warriors killed. The survivors fled
to Christian Island, in the Georgian Bay, but finding that locality unsafe they
retired to Michilimackinae, whither they were pursued by their old enemy. The
Iroquois advance was then checked by the Chippewa, the Hurons retiring to
the vieinity of Green Bay, where they formed an alliance with some of the
Ottawa and Pottawatomi.

According to the Jesuit Relations, a Huron settlement was founded in 1670
on Mantoulin Island, where the next year Father Marquette established the
mission of St. Ignace. When Cadillac founded the post at Detroit, he adopted
the policy of having as many friendly Indians as possible locate near the fort.
On June 28, 1703, thirty Huron families from the St. Ignace mission arrived
at Detroit and set up their wigwams. They were soon joined by others of the
tribe and an old French memoir of 1707 says:

“‘The Hurons are also near, perhaps the eighth of a league from the French
fort. This is the most industrious nation that can be seen. They scarcely ever
dance and are always at work; raise a very large amount of Indian corn, peas
and beans; grow some wheat. They construct their huts entirely of bark, very
strong and solid; very lofty and very long and arched like arbors. Their fort
is strongly encircled with pickets and bastions, well redoubted and has strong
gates. They are the most faithful nation to the French, and the most expert
hunters that we have.”’

After some years at Detroit, a portion of the tribe went to Sandusky, Ohio.
In 1745 the French commandant at Detroit provoked the enmity of the chief
Orontony (or Nicholas), who, with his following, left Detroit and joined those
at Sandusky. There he began the formation of a conspiracy for the destruction
of the French posts at and above Detroit, but a Huron woman revealed the
plot to a Jesuit priest, who in turn notified Longueuil, the commandant at
Detroit. Orontony then destroyed his village near Sandusky and with his
warriors and their families established a new one on the White River in Indiana,
where he died in the fall of 1748.

Upon the death of their chief the Indians returned to Detroit and Sandusky,
where they took the name of Wyandot instead of Huron. As the Wyandot
nation they laid claim to the greater part of what is now the State of Ohio.
During the War of 1812 they supported the English cause and by the peace of
1815 the tribe was granted a large tract of land in Ohio and Michigan. Most
of this tract was ceded to the United States in 1819, the Indians accepting two
reservations, one near Upper Sandusky and the other on the Huron River, not
far from Detroit. These reservations were sold in 1842 and the occupants re-
moved to what is now Wyandotte County, Kansas, where they lived for twenty-
five years, when they were removed to the Indian Territory. The remnant of
the once great Huron nation now lives on a reservation in the northeast corner
of Oklahoma.
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THE IROQUOIS

Strictly speaking there were no Iroquois Indians, that name being applied
in a general way to all the tribes of the same linguistic stock, ethnologically
known as the Iroquoian family. In 1534 Jacques Cartier found these Indians
on the shore of the Gaspe Basin and on both banks of the St. Lawrence River
between Quebec and Montreal, which was their first acquaintance with the
white race.

The word Iroquois means ‘‘We are of the extended lodge,”’ and was given
to the confederacy formed about 1570 by the Cayuga, Mohawk, Oneida, Onop
daga and Seneca tribes, after wars with other tribes led them to unite for
their common defense. This confederacy was known to the early settlers of
New York as the ‘‘Five Nations.”” At that time the allied tribes claimed nearly
all the St. Lawrence Valley, the basins of Lake Ontario and Lake Erie, the
eastern shore of Lake Huron, especially the country about the Georgian Bay,
and all the present State of New York except the lower Hudson Valley.

In this confederacy each tribe was an independent political unit, which sent
delegates to a general council. The Five Nations were second to none north
of Mexico in political organization, statecraft and military prowess. Their
chiefs were diplomats of ability and nearly always proved a match for the
white men, when the two races met in council for the negotiation of treaties,
etc. In 1722 the Tuscarora tribe was added to the confederacy, whlch then
took the name of the ‘‘Six Nations.”’

Champlain, in one of his early expeditions, joined a party of Canadian
Indians at war with the Five Nations, who thereby became bitter and lasting
enemies of the French. Jesuit and Franciscan missionaries tried in vain to
win them to the Catholic faith and in the French and Indian war they fought
on the side of the British.

About 1650 French travelers estimated the Iroquois population at 20,000.
They were nearly always at war with the neighboring tribes, from New England
to Lake Michigan, where their westward advance was checked by the Chippewa.
These wars depleted their ranks and at the close of the French and Indian war
they numbered about 10,000, with fifty villages. They sometimes were repre-
sented in the councils held at the Huron or Wyandot village, near the mouth
of the Detroit River, but as a rule they were the enemies of all the Indians
about Detroit, particularly those on friendly terms with the French. They
were cruel in war and it is stated on apparently good authority that they often
ate the flesh of their enemies killed in battle.

THE MASCOUTEN

Some ethnologists classify this tribe as part of the Sac and Fox confederacy
and others as the ‘‘Prairie Band’’ of the Pottawatomi. This is probably due
to the confused accounts concerning their early history. In 1616 Champlain
met with a tribe that he designated as the Asistaguerouon, which inhabited the
country south and west of Lake Huron. Twenty years later, Sagard stated
that the Mascouten country was nine or ten days’ journey west of the south
end of the Georgian Bay. In 1634 Nicolas Perrot found them living on the
Fox River in Wisconsin, and the Jesuit Relation for 1646 says that up to the
time of Perrot’s visit no white man had seen them and no missionaries had
been among them. They called themselves the ‘‘little prairie people.’’
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Marest, writing of this tribe, says that in 1712 he found a number of them
living on the Ohio River, near the mouth of the Wabash, where they had located
only a short time before. It was part of this band who, with some of the
Kickapoo, joined in the Fox attack on Detroit in May, 1712, which may have
had something to do with the theory that the Mascouten were a branch of the
Fox tribe.

THE MIAMI

Among the great tribes of the Algonquian family, the Miami (ealled Twight-
wees by the early English settlers) occupied a large territory in Southern
Michigan, Western Ohio and Central Indiana. Some idea of the extent of the
tribal claims may be gained from the following extract from the speech of
their great chief, Little Turtle, at the council of Greenville, Ohio, in August,
1795: ‘“‘My fathers kindled the first fire at Detroit; thence they extended their
lines to the headwaters of the Scioto; thence to its mouth; thence down the
Ohio to the mouth of the Wabash ; thence to Chicago and over Lake Michigan.”’

The Miami was one of the first tribes to establish friendly relations with
the French under Cadillac. As early as 1703 there was a considerable Miami
colony at Detroit, but their principal settlement at that time was on the shore
of Lake Michigan, near the present City of St. Joseph. Later the tribal head-
quarters were established at the head of the Maumee River, where the City of
Fort Wayne, Indiana, now stands.

Agriculture was practiced in a primitive way, the women, as in other tribes
doing the work of the field and wigwam, while the men engaged in hunting
or ‘““went on the war path.”” They were less treacherous than many of the
tribes and appear to have had a higher sense of honor. When the peace treaty
of Greenville was concluded on August 3, 1795, some of the Miami chiefs were
opposed to certain provisions, but finally yielded to the majority. As Little
Turtle ‘“touched the goose quill”’ he said: ‘‘I am the last to sign it and I will
be the last to break it.”” He kept his word and remained on terms of peace with
the white people until his death at Fort Wayne, Indiana, on July 14, 1812.

THE OTTAWA

The name Ottawa was a term common to a number of Algonquian tribes,
notably the Cree, Chippewa, Nipissing and Ottawa proper. The first mention
of these Indians in history was in 1615, when Champlain met about 300 of
them and gave them the name of ‘‘les cheueux releuez.”” In his description of
them he says:

““Their arms consisted only of a bow and arrows, a buckler of boiled leather
and the club. They wore no breech clouts, their bodies were tattooed in many
fashions and designs, their faces painted and their noses pierced.”’

From their pierced noses an ornament consisting of a small pebble or shell
was suspended, which doubtless led some of the early writers to conclude that
the term Ottawa signified ‘‘the nation with a hole in the nose.”’ This theory
is not sustained by the United States Bureau of Ethnology, the ‘‘Handbook’’
of which says the name was applied to the Ottawa ‘‘because in early traditional
times and also during the historic period they were noted among their neigh-
bors as intertribal traders and barterers, dealing chiefly in corn meal, sun-
flower oil, furs and skins, rugs and mats, tobaceco, and medicinal roots and

herbs.”’
Vol. I—4
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The Jesuit Relation for 1667 says that they claimed the country along the
Ottawa River and that no other nation was permitted to navigate that stream
without their consent. About the same time Claude Allouez, the Jesuit mis-
sionary, wrote: ‘‘They are little disposed toward the faith, for they are too
much given to idolatry, superstitions, fables, polygamy, looseness of the mar-
riage tie and to all manner of license, which causes them to drop all native
decency.”’

Until about 1670 the Ottawa and Huron lived together. Then the latter
removed to the west side of Liake Huron, part of the tribe locating near the
present City of Detroit and others going to Michilimackinac to escape from
their old enemy, the Iroquois. A little later it seems that a portion of the
Ottawa also gained a foothold on the west side of Lake Huron, in the vicinity
of Saginaw Bay, where the Pottawatomi were probably in close union with
them. In 1703 Cadillac invited them to settle near Detroit and they established
a village on the opposite side of the river, where Sandwich now stands. There
they built a picket fort, similar to that of the Huron stockade.

For more than half a century the Ottawa were the steadfast friends of the
French and on numerous occasions assisted them in repelling the attacks of
hostile tribes. After Detroit was surrendered to the British in 1760, the tribe
became dissatisfied with the new power. The celebrated chief, Pontiac, was a
member of this tribe, and Pontiac’s war of 1763, an account of which is given
in another chapter, was a prominent event in Ottawa history.

The Ottawa were good farmers and experts in handling their canoes. At
the close of the Revolutionary war a small portion of the tribe refused to submit
to the authority of the United States and removed to Canada. Subsequently
they, with some of the Chippewa and Pottawatomi Indians, were settled on
Walpole Island in Lake St. Clair. All the lands in Michigan claimed by the
Ottawa were ceded to the United States by various treaties, ending with the
Chicago treaty of September 26, 1833, when they accepted a reservation near
Fort Leavenworth, Kansas.

THE POTTAWATOMI

When first met by the white men, this tribe was one of the greatest of the
Algonquin group. The name Pottawatomi signifies ‘““the people of the place
of fire,”” or ‘‘nation of fire.”” The first authentic account of these Indians is
that given by Jean Nicollet, who found them in 1634 living with the Winnebago
and some other tribes about the Green Bay. Thirty years later the main body
of the tribe inhabited the islands about the mouth of the Green Bay. The Jesuit
Relation for 1671 says: Four nations make their abode here, namely: ‘‘Those
who bear the name of Puans (Winnebago), who have always lived here as in
their own country, and who have been reduced to almost nothing from being
a very flourishing and populous people, having been exterminated by their
enemies, the Illini; the Pottawatomi, the Sauk and the Nation of the Fork also
live here, but as strangers or foreigners, driven by the fear of the Iroquois from
their own lands which are between the lake of the Hurons and the country of
the Illini.”’

This would indicate that the original habitat of the Pottawatomi was some-
where about the foot of Lake Huron. When the Relation of 1671 was written,
the tribe was moving toward the south and east. Soon after Cadillac founded
Detroit a Pottawatomi village was established near the mouth of the little



CITY OF DETROIT 51

stream afterward known as Knagg’s Creek and within a short distance of the
fort. An old French colonial memoir of 1707 says:

““The village of the Pottowatamies adjoins the fort. The women do all the
work. The men belonging to that nation are well clothed, like our domiciliated
Indians at Montreal; their entire occupation is hunting and dress; they make
use of a great deal of vermilion, and in winter wear buffalo robes richly painted
and in summer either blue or red cloth. They play a good deal at la crosse
in summer, twenty or more on each side. Their bat is a sort of little racket
and the ball with which they play is made of very heavy wood, somewhat larger
than the balls used at tennis; when playing they are entirely naked, except a
breech cloth and moccasins on their feet. Their bodies are completely painted
with all sorts of colors. Some, with white clay, trace white lace on their bodies,
as if on all the seams of a coat, and at a distance it would be apt to be taken
for silver lace. They play very deep and often. The bets sometimes amount
to more than eight hundred livres. They set up two poles and commence the
game from the center; one party propels the ball from one side and the other
from the opposite, and whichever reaches the goal wins. This is fine recreation
and worth seeing. * * * The women cultivate Indian corn, beans, peas,
squashes and melons, which come up very fine.”’

The Pottawatomi were the loyal friends of the French, but after the French
and Indian war they joined Pontiac in his conspiracy for the destruction of
the English posts. Their burial place at Detroit was on the tract later known
as the Brevoort farm. In 1771 they granted part of their lands near Detroit
to Isadore Chene and Robert Navarre, on condition that the two white men
would keep in order thg resting places of their dead.

In the Revolutionary war they fought on the side of the British, with whom
they had made friends, and at the council of Greenville in 1795 they notified
the Miami that they intended to move down upon the Wabash River, which’
they did soon afterward, in spite of the protests of the Miami, who claimed
practically the whole Wabash Valley. At the beginning of the Nineteenth
Century the Pottawatomi were in possession of the country around the head
of Lake Michigan from the Milwaukee River to the Grand River in Michigan,
extending eastward across the Lower Peninsula, southwest over a large part
of Northern Illinois, and southward to the Wabash River. Within this territory
they had about fifty populous villages.

In the War of 1812 they again took the side of the British, which was their
undoing. Between the years 1836 and 1841 they ceded their lands in Indiana,
Illinois and Michigan to the United States and in 1846 removed to a reservation
in what is now the. State of Kansas.

Morgan divides the Pottawatomi into fifteen clans or gentes, the most im-
portant of which were the wolf, bear, beaver, fox and thunder. Early writers
describe them as ‘‘docile and affectionate’” in their relations with the white
people. Polygamy was common among them when the first missionaries visited
the tribe. In their mythology they had two spirits—Kitchemonedo, the Great
Spirit, and Matechemonedo, the Evil Spirit—and they were sun worshipers to
some extent. Their principal annual festival was the ‘‘Feast of Dreams,’’ at
which dog meat was served as the leading dish.

SAC AND FOX

Although these two tribes are nearly always spoken of as one, they were
originally separate and distinet organizations, both belonging to the Algonquian
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family. After many migrations and vicissitudes they united and became one
of the powerful Indian nations of the Mississippi Valley.

The Sac (Indian name Sauk or Osa-ki-wug )signifies ‘‘people of the outlet.’’
Their earliest known habitat was on the western shore of Liake Huron, where
they were found by missionaries in 1616 associated with other tribes. They
are first mentioned as an independent tribe in the Jesuit Relation of 1640. In
1667 Father Claude Allouez found them a populous tribe with no fixed dwelling
place and describes them as ‘‘more savage than all the other tribes I have met.
* * * If they find a person in an isolated place they will kill him, espe-
cially if he be a Frenchman, for they cannot endure the sight of the whiskers
of the European.”’

The tribe was divided into thirteen gentes, viz: Bass, bear, eagle, elk, fox,
great lynx, grouse, sea, sturgeon, swan, thunder, trout and wolf. From the
country about Saginaw Bay they retreated toward the northwest, by way of
Mackinaw, and thence southwest to Green Bay, and in 1721 their principal
village was near the mouth of the Fox River in Wisconsin.

Concerning the Fox nation, Dr. William Jones of the United States Bureau
of Ethnology, says that a hunting party of these Indians was met by some
French, who asked to what tribe they belonged and was told the Mesh-kwa-ki-hug.
The name being difficult of pronunciation, the French gave them the name of
Renard, or Fox. The Indian name, Mesh-kwa-ki-hug, means ‘‘people of the
red earth.”” It was often shortened into Musquakie. The Chippewa called
them Utagamig, which the white people corrupted into Outagamie. The Chip-
pewa name means ‘‘people of the other shore,”” and from this fact Warren, in
his ‘“‘History of the Ojibwa Indians,’’ draws the conclusion that the earliest
known habitat of the Fox was on the southern shore of Lake Superior until
driven out by the Chippewa. '

There is a striking similarity in the social organization of the Sac and Fox
nations, in that each had thirteen gentes, the names of which were almost
identical. The Fox clans were the bass, bear, big lynx, buffalo, eagle, elk, fox,
pheasant, sea, sturgeon, swan, thunder and potato. The celebrated chief Black
Hawk was a member of the thunder clan of the Sac tribe, but was recognized
as chief by the Fox after the two had formed their confederacy.

Incited by the English, the Fox Indians became the enemies of the French
and made several attacks upon the French posts. In 1733, after one of their
forays, Sieur de Villiers was sent against them with an armed force from
Canada. They sought refuge in the Sac village on the Fox River. De Villiers
demanded the surrender of the fugitives, but it was refused and in the fight
that ensued the Indians lost twenty-nine and the French fifteen, De Villiers
being one of the killed. The Ottawa and Chippewa, allies of the French, lost
respectively nine and six of their warricrs. Marquis de Beauharnois, then
governor of Canada, sent more troops into the Indian country. It was at this
time that the Sac and Fox confederacy was formed, the allied tribes retreating
southward to the Rock River Valley in Illinois.

The mythology of both the Sac and Fox was full of superstition and fable,
which, like the similarity of their social organization, indicates that they were
of the same stock. Both had many festivals and after the confederacy was
formed both participated in the rites of the secret Grand Medicine Society
known as the Mi-de-wi-win. Also both tribes are described as ‘‘stingy, warlike,
thieving and quarrelsome.”’
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THE WINNEBAGO

The first mention of the Winnebago Indians in the white man’s history was
that made by Jean Nicollet, who found them in 1634 living along the shores of
the Green Bay, where they were associated with other tribes. A Winnebago
tradition says they were once a powerful nation, living along the shores of
Lake Superior until they were driven out by the Chippewa. They really
belonged to the Siouan group, but by long association with Algonquian tribes
they acquired the speech and habits of that family.

In their social organization the Winnebago had two phratries called the
Air Phratry and the Earth Phratry. In the former were four clans—eagle,
pigeon, thunderbird and war people—and in the latter there were eight clans—
bear, buffalo, deer, elk, fish, snake, water-spirit and wolf. The bear and thunder-
bird were the leading clans, from which came most of their great chiefs. In
marrying a man always chose a wife from some other clan than his own.

After the French and Indian war they were slow to transfer their allegiance
to the English. During the Revolutionary war they took no important part,
but in the War of 1812 they fought against the United States with the tribes
that gathered about Detroit. At that time the tribe lived on the Rock River,
in Illinois, a few miles above the Sac Village. A few years after the Black
Hawk war they were removed to a reservation in Iowa.

MINOR TRIBES

In addition to the tribes above mentioned there were several which were
less intimately connected with the history of Detroit. One of these was the
Menominee tribe, which Jean Nicollet found living with the Winnebago on the
Green Bay in 1634. The French called these Indians Folles Avoines, from ‘‘wild
rice,”” which was one of their chief articles of food. They were friendly to
“the French and assisted Du Buisson, the commandant at Detroit, to repel the
attack of the Fox and Kickapoo Indians on the fort in May, 1712. In August,
1831, about twenty of them were killed by a Sac and Fox band near the present
City of Prairie du Chien, Wisconsin, the assassins joining Black Hawk im-
mediately afterward and taking part in the Black Hawk war the following year.

The Illinois—or Illini, as they were at first known—was, according to their
traditions, once a powerful nation, consisting of five subordinate tribes, viz.:
The Kaskaskia, Peoria, Tamaroa, Cahokia and Michigani. They also assisted
the French to defeat the assaults on Fort Pontchartrain in the spring of 1712.
Pontiae, who led the uprising against the English posts in 1763, was killed by
a Kaskaskia Indian in 1769, whereupon the Sac and Fox, allies of Pontiac,
declared war upon the Illini and in time almost exterminated the tribes com-
posing the confederacy.

The main dwelling place of the Kickapoo Indians was along the lower Wabash
River, in southern Indiana and Illinois, though they frequently wandered into
the Great Lakes country. Part of the tribe participated in the attack on the
French fort at Detroit in May, 1712. As Capt. George Croghan and his escort
were on the way to the English posts on the Mississippi River early in the year
1765, he was captured near the mouth of the Wabash by a Kickapoo band that
had been active in supporting Pontiac, but was soon afterward released.

All these tribes were of Algonquian stock, as were the Osage and a few
others that figured to a slight extent in Detroit history. They are here classed
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as ‘‘minor tribes’’ merely because of the insignificant part they played in local
events. Logan, the Cayuga (or Mingo) chief was an occasional visitor at
Detroit. Tecumseh (the Shooting Star) and his brother Tenskwatawa (the
Prophet), two of the greatest members of the Shawnee nation, frequently visited
the post while the English were in control, and the former was an active sup-
porter of the British in the War of 1812 until killed at the battle of the Thames.
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In giving an account of the early explorers, who may or may not have
visited the site of the City of Detroit, the writer has ventured to ‘‘wander far
afield’”’ and include explorations that may appear to have no direct bearing
upon the city’s history. Yet the work of each of the explorers mentioned in
this chapter had its influence in developing the country about the Great Lakes,
and incidentally contributed to the founding of Detroit.

COUREURS DE BOIS

In all probability the first white men to set foot upon the soil of Michigan
were the coureurs de bois, or Canadian woodsmen. When the continent of
North America was first explored by Europeans, it was found that the country
lying above 36° north latitude was the richest and most extensive field in the
world for the collection of fine furs. The Indians used the skins of some of
the fur-bearing animals for clothing, or in the construction of their wigwams,
not knowing that such skins were of almost fabulous value in the European
capitals. The coming of the white man brought to the savage wants hitherto
unknown—wants which he could more easily satisfy by exchanging furs for
the white man’s goods than in any other way.

The French were the pioneers in the fur trade. Before the dawn of the
seventeenth century they were trading with the Indians in the valley of the
St. Lawrence River, and after Montreal was founded that city became the
principal market for their peltries. The fur trade gave rise to that hardy,
adventurous class of men known as coureurs de bois, who, afraid of nothing,
wandered into the trackless forests in quest of furs. From the St. Lawrence
country they worked their way westward, establishing friendly relations with
the Indian tribes they met around the Great Lakes, then crossed the low portages
to the Mississippi Valley, and from there by way of the Missouri River finally
reached the Rocky Mountains.

The coureur de bois kept no journal of his travels. He had no time for
such things, his energies all being directed to the acquisition of valuable peltries
and opening up a trade with new tribes. They had no difficulty, as a rule, in
maintaining good terms with the natives and many of thtm married Indian wives.
It is quite probable that, in their migrations, their cances passed through ‘the
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strait,’’ as the Detroit River was at first known, and it is possible that some of
them may have landed on the site of the City of Detroit.

SAMUEL CHAMPLAIN

One of the earliest known explorers in the region about the Great Lakes,
of whose work an authentic record has been preserved, was Samuel Champlain,
who was born at St. Malo, France, in 1582. He was educated for the priesthood,
but his love of adventure outweighed his love for the ‘‘black gown’’ and he
joined the French navy, where he developed into an expert navigator. About
the time he attained to his majority he became interested in the explorations
then going on in America. In 1607, when only twenty-five years of age, he was
commissioned by the French King to fit out an expedition and establish a settle-
ment somewhere in the country discovered by Jacques Cartier. On July 3,
1608, he selected the site of Quebec and there founded the third permanent
settlement in North America. Three years later he laid the foundations of
Montreal and in the same year discovered the lake that bears his name in North-
eastern New York.

Some writers claim that Champlain visited the vicinity of Detroit in 1610.
In the French Colonial Records it is stated that he passed through the strait
in 1611 or 1612. Marquis de Denonville, who was governor of New France
from 1685 to 1689, writing some years later of Champlain’s explorations, says:
‘“‘In the years 1611 and 1612 he ascended the Grand River as far as Lake Huron,
called the fresh sea. He passed by places he has himself deseribed in his book,
which are no other than Detroit and Lake Erie.”’

Even in the face of this positive statement, it is by no means certain that
Champlain ever visited the site of Detroit. In his own narrative of his travels
and explorations, he says that some Indians described the strait to him in 1603,
but nowhere in his writings does he assert that he passed through the Detroit
River, or any stream answering its description.

From 1612 to 1619 and again from 1633 to 1635 he was governor of New
France. During the former period he was engaged in exploring Canada and
Prince de Conde discharged the duties of governor. His description of the
country was influential in building up the French settlements and, whether he
visited Detroit or not, his work facilitated the establishment of French posts in
the Northwest.

THE JESUITS

The Seventeenth Century was still in its infancy when Jesuit missionaries
from the French settlements at Quebec and Montreal were among the Indian
tribes living upon the shores of Lake Michigan and Lake Superior, instructing
them in the ways of civilization and endeavoring to convert them to the Catholic
faith. These early priests traveled mainly by water and there is no doubt
that some of their canoes passed up the Detroit River. Carlisle, in his compila-
tion of the records of the Wayne County Historical and Pioneer Society, says
Jesuit missionaries visited an Ottawa village on Parent Creek, now within the
city limits of Detroit, in 1610.

Wherever these priests went thev established amicable relations with the
native tribes, and though the spiritual welfare of the Indian was their first
consideration, they opened the way for the fur traders. It was not until toward
the middle of the century, however, that their labors began to bear fruit.
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Among the Jesuit missionaries who were active about this time was Father
Claudius (or Claude) Dablon. He was a native of France and came to America
in 1655, soon after taking his priestly orders. For three years he was stationed
at the Onondaga mission, in the Iroquois country, after which he was among the
Indians of New England for about ten years. In 1668 he was sent to the Great
Lakes country and assisted in founding the mission of Sault Ste. Marie, the
oldest white settlement within the present State of Michigan. For a number of
years he was the superior of all the missions of the Northwest. While serving
as superior he compiled the Jesuit Relations from 1672 to 1679, though they were
not published until many years afterward.

One of the first great councils ever held with the Indians of the upper lakes
was arranged by Father Claude Allouez at the Chippewa Village, on the
southern shore of Lake Superior, in the fall of 1665. At this council half a
dozen or more of the leading Indian nations of the Northwest and the Illinois
country were represented by their chiefs. Allouez and his associates promised
them the friendship and protection of the French and made inquiries regarding
the country in which they lived. In the report of Allouez, concerning what
was accomplished at the council, he says the Sioux and Illini chiefs told him
of a great river ‘‘farther to the westward, called by them the Me-sa-sip-pi,
which they said no white man had yet seen, and along which fur-bearing animals
abounded.”’

Thirty years before the Allouez council, vague rumors of the great river
had reached the Canadian authorities through the reports of Jean Nicollet, but
little attention was paid to them. With the report of Allouez, and other in-
formation he imparted, came a desire to know more of the river and the rich
fur country described by the Indians. A delay of several years occurred,
however, before any systematic effort was made to discover it.

MARQUETTE AND JOLIET

Jacques Marquette, one of the most active and intelligent of the Jesuit
fathers, was born at Laon, France, in 1637. At an early age he joined the
Jesuit Society and in 1666 was sent to Canada as a missionary. For about
eighteen months after his arrival in America, he was stationed at the Three
Rivers mission on the St. Lawrence. He was then transferred to the Lake
Superior field and in 1668 he assisted Father Dablon in establishing the mission
of Sault Ste Marie, ‘‘at the foot of the rapids.”” He remained in charge of
this mission for about a year, when he was sent to the mission known as Pointe
du Esprit. With the Huron portion of his flock, he left Pointe du Esprit in
1671 and founded the mission of Point St. Ignace.

In September, 1673, after his discovery of the Mississippi, he was ordered to
the mission of St. Francis Xavier at the head of the Green Bay, where he
remained until October, 1674. He was then sent to the Illinois country. Leav-
ing St. Francis Xavier on October 25, 1674, he passed down the west shore
of Lake Michigan until he reached the mouth of the Chicago River, thence up
that stream to the portage, and down the Illinois River to Kaskaskia, reaching
that settlement on April 8, 1675. There he founded the mission of the Immacu-
late Conception, when failing health caused him to set out on the return to
St. Ignace. From the mouth of the Chicago River he crossed over to the east
shore of Lake Michigan. Upon reaching the mouth of the Marquette River,
where the City of Ludington, Michigan, is now located, he landed and died there
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on May 18, 1675. His companions buried his body upon a little knoll and
erected a cross to mark the spot, though his remains were afterward removed
to St. Ignace.

Louis Joliet was born at Quebec on September 21, 1645, and was educated
in the Jesuit College in his native city. He took minor orders, but in 1667
he gave up the idea of the priesthood to engage in the fur trade. After a visit
to France, he was sent by M. Talon, the intendant at Quebee, to find the copper
mines on the shore of Liake Superior. Early in 1669, accompanied by Jean Pere,
he set out on his voyage and it is asserted by some writers that he was the first
white man to pass through the Detroit River.

Joliet was at the Sault Ste Marie in June, 1671, when St. Lusson took
possession of the region for France, and upon his return to Quebec he was
assigned to accompany Father Marquette on an expedition ‘‘to find and ascer-
tain the direction of the course of the Mississippi River and its mouth.’’ Joliet
died in Canada in May, 1700.

PERROT’S COUNCIL

The accounts of the region about Liake Michigan and Liake Superior carried
back to Quebec by Allouez and other missionaries, led the Canadian authorities
to send Nicolas Perrot as the accredited agent of the French Government to
arrange for a grand council with the Indians and negotiate a treaty of peace.
The council assembled at the mission of St. Marie late in May, 1671, and con-
tinued in session for about two weeks. According to the Jesuit Relations for
that year, the tribes represented were the Chippewa, Cree, Fox, Sac, Illini,
Menominee, Pottawatomi and some of the Sioux. The account of the counecil
says:

‘‘Having caused a cross to be erected, to produce there the fruits of Christi-
anity, and near it a cedar pole, to which we have attached the arms of France,
saying three times with a loud voice and public proclamation, that IN THE
NAME OF THE MOST HIGH, MOST POWERFUL AND MOST REDOUBTABLE MONARCH,
LOUIS XIV OF NAME, MOST CHRISTIAN KING OF FRANCE AND NAVARRE, we take
possession of said place, Sainte Marie du Sault, as also of the Lakes Huron and
Superior,’’ ete.

This proclamation was signed by Daumont de St. Lusson and a number of
witnesses, and was dated June 14, 1671. (Some writers give the date as June 4,
1671.) By this act of De Lusson the territory bordering on Lake Huron became
officially French domain.

DISCOVERY OF THE MISSISSIPPI

Among those who were filled with the desire to discover the Mississippi
River, after the council held at the Chippewa Village in the fall of 1665, was
Father Marquette. He was deterred from making the attempt until after
Perrot’s council, which assured the friendship of the Indian tribes living along
the upper portion of the river. In the spring of 1673, having received the
necessary authority from the Canadian officials, he began his preparations at
Michilimackinac for the voyage.

Barly in May he was joined by Louis Joliet, who had been selected by
M. Talon on account of his knowledge of topography to accompany Marquette
and prepare a map of the river. It is said that the friendly Indians, who were
loath to lose Father Marquette, tried to dissuade him from the undertaking
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by telling him the Indians living along the river were cruel and treacherous,
and that the river itself was the abode of terrible monsters which could swallow
both canoes and men. These stories had no effect upon the intrepid priest, un-
less to make him more determined, and on May 13, 1673, he and Joliet, accom-
panied by five voyageurs, with two large canoes, left Michilimackinac.

Passing up the Green Bay to the mouth of the Fox River, the little expedi-
tion ascended that stream to the portage, crossed over to the Wisconsin River,
down which they floated until June 17, 1673, when their canoes drifted out
upon the broad bosom of the Mississippi. Turning their course down stream
they descended the great ‘‘Father of Waters,”’ carefully noting the landmarks
as they passed along. When they reached the mouth of the Arkansas River,
they found an Indian tribe whose language they could not understand and
decided to go no farther, deferring the discovery of the mouth of the river for
a future voyage.

Instead of returning by way of the Wisconsin River, they ascended the
Illinois to the portage, about where the City of Joliet now stands, crossed over
to the Chicago River and in due time reached Liake Michigan, over whose waters
they passed to Michilimackinae. There Father Marquette ended his journey,
but Joliet went on to Quebec to report the results of their voyage. In the
Lachine Rapids, above Montreal, his cance was capsized and his notes and charts
were lost. Joliet barely escaped with his life and upon reaching Quebec he
prepared a narrative from memory, which agreed in all the essential particulars
with Marquette’s account of the voyage.

The discovery of the Mississippi by Marquette and Joliet wrought important
changes in the affairs of the Canadian settlements. Transportation in those
days was chiefly by water, and, although the exact location of the mouth of
the Mississippi was still undetermined, it was certain that the river emptied
into the Gulf of Mexico. Emnough was learned through the voyage of Marquette
and Joliet to make sure that by easy portages, by way of either the Illinois or
Wisconsin River, a thoroughfare could be opened between the French settle-
ments about the Great Lakes and those soon to be established in Louisiana. The
reports of Marquette and Joliet convinced the Canadian authorities that the
great river was not a myth, and it was not long until steps were taken to claim
the country drained by it for France.

LA SALLE’S EXPEDITIONS

In the year following the voyage of Marquette and Joliet, Robert Cavelier,
Sieur de La Salle, was granted the seigneury of Fort Frontenae, where the
City of Kingston, Ontario, is now situated, and on May 12, 1678, he received
from Louis XIV, King of France, a commission to continue the explorations
of Marquette and Joliet, ‘‘find a port for the king’s ships in the Gulf of Mexico,
disecover the western parts of New France, and find a way to penetrate Mexico.’’

In the fall of 1678 La Salle sent a party of fifteen men up the lakes to trade
with the Indians and soon afterward commenced preparations for his first
attempt to reach and descend the Mississippi. At a place called Black Rock,
near Niagara, he began the construction of a vessel of sixty tons, which was
launched in May, 1679, and named the ‘‘Griffon.”” This was the first sailing
vessel on the Great Lakes. After a few short trial trips, she started on her
first real voyage early in August, 1679. She was equipped with five small
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cannon and carried La Salle, Louis Hennepin, a Franciscan priest of the Recollet
order, and thirty men.

About three weeks before the start of the ‘‘Griffon,”” La Salle despatched
his lieutenant, Henri de Tonty, with five men, to find the party sent out the
preceding autumn and bring the men to the lake at some convenient point for
embarkation. The little vessel made good time and on August 10, 1679, found
Tonty and the others waiting on the Dectroit River, at or near the site of the
City of Detroit. Taking them on board the ‘‘Griffon,”” La Salle continued
his voyage and reached Washington Island, at the entrance of the Green Bay,
in the early part of September.

Hennepin’s description of the Detroit was one of the first to be published.
He says: ‘“‘The islands are the finest in the world. The strait is finer than
Niagara, being one league broad excepting that part which forms the lake we
have called Lake Ste. Claire. * * * A large village of Huron Indians
called Teuchsa Grondie occupied the bank of the river. The village had been
visited by the Jesuit missionaries and coureurs de bois, but no settlement had
been attempted.’’

On September 18, 1679, the ‘‘Griffon’’ left Washington Island on her return
voyage, but two days later encountered a severe storm in the northern part of
Lake Michigan and was lost. Pieces of the wreck afterward drifted ashore on
some of the islands at the north end of the lake and were identified.

La Salle reached the Illinois River, ‘‘in the dead of winter,”” when he
learned of the loss of the ‘‘Griffon’’ and abandoned the expedition. Near the
present City of La Salle, Illinois, he built a small stockade, which he called
Fort Crevecoeur (Broken Heart), where he left part of his men and with the
others started for Canada. Passing around the head of Lake Michigan, he
arrived at the site of St. Joseph, where he struck a due easterly course, crossed
the Detroit River on a raft and arrived at Niagara about May 1, 1680.

In the meantime, Father Hennepin, who had been left at Fort Crevecoeur,
undertook a little exploring expedition of his own. With a few men he left
the fort in February, 1680, and went down the Illinois to the Mississippi.
Instead of descending the latter stream, he turned his canoes in the opposite
direction. On April 11, 1680, he and his party were captured by Sioux Indians
near the mouth of the Wisconsin River. The captives were taken up the
Mississippi to St. Anthony’s Falls—so named by Hennepin in honor of his
patron saint—where they were rescued by Sieur du Luth and in November they
were back in Quebec.

After the failure of his first expedition, affairs at his seigneury claimed
La Salle’s attention for nearly three years, though he did not relinquish the
idea of finding and exploring the great river. In December, 1681, he started
upon his second, and what proved to be his successful expedition. This time
he was accompanied by Henri de Tonty; Jacques de la Metarie, a notary; Jean
Michel, surgeon of the expedition; Father Zenobe Membre, a Recollet mission-
ary; and a ‘‘number of Frenchmen bearing arms.’’ It is not necessary to follow
this little band of explorers through all its vicissitudes and hardships in travers-
ing a wild, unexplored country in the worst season of the year. Suffice it to
say that the river was reached and descended to its mouth. On April 8, 1682,
La Salle and Tonty passed through two of the channels connecting with the
Gulf of Mexico. The next day came together again and La Salle took formal
possession of ‘‘all the country drained by the great river and its tributaries,
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in the name of France, and conferred upon the territory thus claimed the
name of Louisiana, in honor of the French king.”’

To the casual reader it may seem that La Salle’s work as an explorer has
little or nothing to do with the history of Detroit. But it should be borne in
mind that the discovery of the Mississippi by Marquette and Joliet opened
the way for the later voyage of La Salle and his claim to all the country drained
by the river, which strengthened the French claim to the region about the
Great Lakes and made easier the establishment of forts and trading posts, one
of which was planted at Detroit by Cadillac nineteen years later.

DOLLIER AND GALINEE

Last to be mentioned, but by no means to be reckoned the least important
of the early white visitors to the vicinity of Detroit, were the two Sulpitian
priests, Francois Dollier de Casson and Abbe Brehant de Galinee. The former,
commonly called Dollier, was born about 1620 and before entering the priest-
hood he had won distinction as a cavalry officer under Turenne. Parkman
describes him as ‘‘a man of great courage, of a tall, commanding person and
of uncommon bodily strength.’’

With three of his brethren he came to Canada in September, 1666, and soon
after his arrival joined Colonel Tracy in a campaign against the Mohawk
Indians. Then, for a time, he was chaplain at Fort Ste. Anne, at the outlet
of Lake Champlain. He passed the winter of 1668-69 in the hunting camp of
Nitarikijk, a chief of the Nipissing Indians. While in the Nipissing camp he
met an Indian prisoner from the Lake Superior country, who told him of the
populous tribes living in that region, and he determined to pay them a visit.
In the early summer of 1669 he went to Montreal to procure an outfit for his
journey.

At Montreal he met Galinee and enlisted his codperation. Galinee had come
to America the year before with Queylus, the superior of the Sulpitian Seminary
at Montreal. After hearing Dollier’s story, the superior gave a ready assent
to the undertaking and assisted the two missionaries in their preparations.
Governor Courcelles persuaded them to join Lia Salle, who was then just about
ready to start on an expedition to the upper lakes.

On July 6, 1669, with three canoes and seven men, besides themselves,
they left Montreal. On September 24, 1669, while waiting at an Indian village
called Timaouataoua for guides, they met Louis Joliet, who was on his way
to Liake Superior to locate some copper mines and also to find, if possible, a
better route to the upper lakes than that by way of the Ottawa River, Lake
Nipissing and the Georgian Bay. A fever caused La Salle to abandon his
expedition and Dollier and Galinee linked their fortunes with Joliet.

On the last day of September Dollier said mass at an altar formed of forked
sticks driven into the ground, connected by other sticks and covered with sails
from their canoes. Immediately after the mass, La Salle started for Montreal
and Joliet and the two Sulpitians turned their faces to the Northwest. Accord-
ing to Coyne’s translation of ‘‘Galinee’s Narrative,”’ they arrived at Lake Erie
on October the 13th or 14th, cruised aleng the northern shore of the lake until
they reached the bay behind the Long Point, where they went into winter
quarters. Here, on the shore of Lake Erie, in what is now Norfolk County,
Ontario, they took possession of the country, according to the French custom,
by erecting a cross bearing the following inscription:
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““In the year of salvation 1669, Clement IX being seated in the chair of
St. Peter, Louis XIV reigning in France, Monsieur Courcelles being Governor
of New France, and Monsieur Talon being intendant therein for the king, there
arrived at this place two missionaries (of the Seminary) of Montreal, accom-
panied by seven other Frenchmen, who, the first of all European people, have
wintered on this lake, of which they have taken possession in the name of their
king, as of an unoccupied territory, by affixing his arms, which they have
attached here to the foot of this cross.

““‘In testimony whereof we have signed the present certificate.

‘“‘Francors DOLLIER,
“‘Priest of the Diocese of Nantes, Brittany.
““DE GALINEE,
‘“‘Deacon of the Diocese of Rennes, Brittany.’’

On Mareh 23, 1670, which was Passion Sunday, they went to the lake shore
and noticed that the ice was sufficiently broken up for them to continue their
voyage. Returning to camp, they hurried forward the preparations for their
departure and on Wednesday, March 26, 1670, their canoes were again afloat
on Liake Erie. That same evening they encountered a storm in which one of
their canoes was lost. The next day five of the men marched along the lake
shore, with two men in each of the two remaining canoes, the men changing
places occasionally to rest those who were walking and give those in the canoes
an opportunity for exercise after sitting for hours in a cramped position.
Galinee’s Narrative gives this account of their progress:

‘““We pursued our journey accordingly toward the west, and after making
about one hundred leagues on Lake Erie arrived at the place where the Lake
of the Hurons, otherwise called the Fresh Water Sea of the Hurons, or Michigan,
discharges into this lake. This outlet is perhaps half a league in width and
turns sharp to the northeast, so that we were almost retracing our path. At
the end of six leagues we discovered a place that is remarkable and held in
great veneration by all the Indians of these countries, because of a stone idol
that nature has formed there. To it they say they owe their good luck in
sailing on Lake Erie, when they cross it without accident, and they propitiate
it by sacrifices, presents of skins, provisions, etc., when they wish to embark
on it. The place was full of camps of those who had come to pay homage to
this stone, which had no other resemblance to the ficure of a man than what
the imagination was pleased to give it. However, it was all painted and a sort
of face had been formed for it with vermilion. I leave you to imagine whether
we avenged upon this idol, which the Iroquois had strongly recommended us
to honor, the loss of our chapel. We attributed to it even the dearth of provi-
sions from which we had hitherto suffered. In short, there was nobody whose
hatred it had not incurred. I consecrated one of my axes to break this god of
stone, and then, having yoked our canoes together, we carried the largest pieces
to the middle of the river and threw all the rest also into the water, in order
that it might never be heard of again. God rewarded us immediately for this
good action, for we killed a roebuck and a bear that very day.”’

The outlet of Lake Huron, mentioned by Galinee as being ‘‘half a léague in
width,’’ is the mouth of the Detroit River. Six leagues up that stream, where
they found the stone idol, was not far from where Fort Wayne is now located.
The breaking of the idol gave rise to an Indian legend, to the effect that, after
the two Sulpitians had been gone for some time, a company of Indians came
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to the river with gifts for their stone deity and found only small fragments
of its mutilated remains. There was great wailing among them until their
medicine man directed each one to take a piece of the stone in his canoe and
let it guide his course. With one accord the remnants of the shattered image
guided the canoes to Belle Isle, where the spirit of the idol had taken wup its
abode. This spirit told the Indians to cast the fragments upon the ground and
when they obeyed each fragment was turned into a rattlesnake, to guard the
island against the encroachments of the white man.

After destroying the idol, the missionaries passed on up the river for four
leagues, where they came to a ‘‘small lake about ten leagues in length and
almost as many in width, called by M. Sanson ‘The Salt Water Lake,” but
we saw no sign of salt.”” The small lake was christened Lake St. Clair by
Father Louis Hennepin nine years later, when he passed through the straits
with La Salle.

Galinee was a good topographer for that day and made a map to accompany
his ‘‘Narrative.”” Although this map would hardly be accepted by geographers
of the present day, it shows with tolerable accuracy many of the leading features
of the shores of the lakes. A copy of this map, as well as Galinee’s ‘‘Narrative’’
in the original French, and two translations of the same are now in the Burton
Historical Collection at Detroit.
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‘When the first white men came to Michigan they found the Indians in
possession of the land. The red men had no system of fixing boundaries or
recording deeds, yet, except in a few instances, each tribe or confederacy occu-
pied a certain district as its exclusive hunting grounds, until driven out by a
more powerful tribe.

By the treaty of September 3, 1783, which ended the Revolutionary war,
England acknowledged the independence of the United States, the western
boundary of which was fixed at the Mississippi River, and the new republic
inherited all the rights and powers of the mother country in dealing with the
natives. But Great Britain had no power to extinguish the Indian title to the
lands, leaving that problem to be solved by the Federal Government. Before
the United States could come into formal and complete possession of the ter-
ritory, it was necessary that some agreement be made with the natives that
would permit the white people to occupy and develop the country. In this
connection it may be interesting to the reader to notice briefly the policies of
the several European nations claiming territory in America regarding their
relations with the Indians.

SPAIN’S POLICY

When Cortez was commissioned captain-general of New Spain in 1529, he
was instructed to ‘‘give special attention to the conversion of the Indians; to
see that no Indians be given to the Spaniards as servants; that they pay such
tribute to His Majesty as they can easily afford; that there shall be a good
correspondence between the Spaniards and the natives, and that no wrong
shall ever be offered the latter either in their goods, families or persons.’’

Notwithstanding these instructions of the Spanish Government, during the
conquest of Mexico the treatment of the Indians was often cruel in the extreme,
many of them being enslaved and forced to work in the mines to satisfy the
avarice of their Spanish taskmasters. Don Sebastian Ramirez, bishop and acting
governor after Cortez, honestly endeavored to carry out the humane instrue-
tions given to Cortez, but soon found that he was not to be sustained. Antonio
de Herrera says that under the administration of Ramirez ‘‘the country was
much improved and all things carried on with equity, to the general satisfaction
of all good men.”’

With regard to possession, the Spaniards never accepted the idea that the
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Indians owned all the land, but only that portion actually occupied, or that
might be necessary to supply their wants. All the rest of the land they con-

sidered as belonging to Spain ‘‘by right of discovery,”” and was taken without
compensation. ,

. THE FRENCH POLICY

It seems that the French had no settled policy concerning the possession
of or title to the land. When the French Government, in 1712, granted to
Antoine Crozat a charter giving him a monopoly of the Louisiana trade, it was
expressly stipulated that the Indians living in the province were to receive
religious instruction, but no provision was made for extinguishing the claim
of the Indians to the land. In the letters patent given by Louis XV to the
Western Company (Crozat’s successor) in August, 1717, was the following
provision :

““‘Section IV—The said company shall be free, in the said granted lands,
to negotiate and make alliance with all the nations of the land, except those
which are dependent on the other powers of Europe; she may agree with them
on such conditions as she may think fit, to settle among them and trade freely
with them, and in case they insult her she may declare war against them, attack
them or defend herself by means of arms, and negotiate with them for peace
or a truce.”’

It will be noticed that in this section there is nothing said about the acquisi-
tion of lands. As a matter of fact, the French cared very little for the absolute
ownership of the lands, their principal object being the control of the fur
trade. In the establishment of trading posts only a small tract of land was
required for each post, and the trader and his retinue usually lived with the
Indians as ‘‘tenants in common.’”” At some of the posts a few acres were
cleared for the purpose of raising a few vegetables, but the great forests were
rarely disturbed, leaving the hunting grounds of the natives unmolested. If
the trading post was abandoned, the small cultivated tract reverted to its
Indian owners. Under such a liberal policy it is not surprising that the French
traders were nearly always on friendly terms with the Indians.

THE ENGLISH POLICY

Great Britain’s method of dealing with the Indians was different from either
that of France or Spain. The English colonists wanted to establish permanent
homes and cultivate the soil. Consequently, title to the land was the first con-
sideration. The English Government, however, treated the Indian as a bar-
barian and in making land grants ignored any claim he might make to the soil.
The so-called ‘‘Great Patent of New England,”” which was granted to the
Plymouth Company, including all the land from 40° to 48° north latitude and
“‘from sea to sea,’’ made not the slightest allusion to the Indian title.

The charter granted by Charles I to Lord Baltimore gave the grantee
authority ‘‘to collect troops, wage war on the barbarians and other enemies
who may make incursions into the settlements, and to pursue them even beyond
the limits of their provinece, and, if God shall grant it, to vanquish and cap-
tivate them; and the captives to put to death, or according to their discretion,
to save.”’ :

‘William Penn’s charter to Pennsylvania contained a similar provision.. After

the settlements reached a point where the local authoritiés were called upon
Vol. I—5 ‘
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to deal with the question, each colony adopted a policy of its own. That of
Pennsylvania was perhaps the only one whose ‘‘foundations were laid deep
and secure in the principles of everlasting justice.”” Several of the colonies
followed Penn’s example and bought the land from the tribal chiefs, and in a
number of instances failure to quit the Indian title by purchase resulted in
bloody and disastrous wars.

All the nations of Europe which acquired territory in America, asserted in
themselves and recognized in others the exclusive right of the discoverer to
claim and appropriate the lands occupied by the Indians, but France was the
only nation which exercised that right with a due regard for the original
occupants. Says Parkman: ‘‘Spanish civilization crushed the Indian; English
civilization scorned and neglected him; French civilization embraced and cher-
ished him.”’

THE UNITED STATES POLICY

The people who founded the Government of the United States were either
from England or descendants, for the most part, of English ancestors, and
they copied the English policy, with certain modifications. The Articles of
Confederation, the first organic law of the American Republic, provided that:
““The United States in Congress assembled shall have the exclusive right and
power of regulating the trade and managing all affairs with the Indians not
members of any of the states, provided that the legislative right of any state
within its own limits be not infringed or violated.”’

Under this authority Congress, on September 22, 1783, issued a manifesto
forbidding all persons to settle upon the Indian lands. Then came the Federal
Constitution, which superseded the Articles of Confederation, and which vested
in Congress the power to deal with all matters arising out of the Government’s
relations with the Indians. On March 1, 1793, President Washington approved
an act to regulate trade and intercourse with the Indian tribes, in which it
was expressly stipulated: ‘‘That no purchase or grant of lands, or any title
or claim thereto, from any Indians, or nation or tribe of Indians, within the
bounds of the United States, shall be of any validity, in law or equity, unless
the same be made by a treaty or convention entered into pursuant to the
constitution.’’

The object of the founders of the Government in adopting this policy was
twofold: First, to prevent adventurers from trespassing upon the Indian lands,
thereby causing conflicts with the natives; and, second, to establish a system
by which titles to lands should be assured for all time to come. The penalty
for violation of any of the provisions of the act was a fine of $1,000 and im-
prisonment for a term not exceeding twelve months. With amendments this
law remained the basis of all relations with the Indians of the country until
1871. Cyrus Thomas, of the United States Bureau of Ethnology, says:

‘“‘By the act of March 3, 1871, the legal fiction of recognizing the tribes as
independent nations, with which the United States could enter into solemn
treaty, was, after it had continued nearly one hundred years, finally done away
with. The effect of this act was to bring under the immediate control of Con-
gress the transactions with the Indians and reduce to simple agreements what
had before been accomplished by solemn treaties.”’

Soon after the Federal Constitution went into effect, the Government began
making treaties with the Indians. At first these treaties were merely expres-
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sions of peace and friendship, but as the white population increased and more
territory was needed for white settlement, treaties were negotiated with the
tribes for the relinquishment of their lands.

TREATY OF FORT STANWIX

In fact, before the adoption of the Constitution, the United States had
negotiated treaties of peace with some of the eastern tribes. On October 22,
1784, Oliver Wolcott, Richard Butler and Arthur Lee, as commissioners of the
United States, concluded a treaty with the Six Nations at Fort Stanwix, New
York. This treaty is of interest in the history of Detroit only because it fixed
the western boundary of the domain of the Six Nations. While the Indians
did not agree to give up any of their lands to the United States for white occu-
pation, they accepted as their western boundary a line beginning on the shore
of Lake Ontario, four miles east of Niagara, and running thence by certain
described courses to the ‘‘forks of the Ohio,”” where the City of Pittsburgh
now stands. Prior to the conclusion of this treaty, the Six Nations were fre-
quently at war with the tribes that inhabited the country about Detroit, par-
ticularly the Huron or Wyandot. The establishment of the boundary line
brought peace to the Indians living west of it.

By the treaty of Fort Harmar, which was concluded on January 9, 1789,
between Gen. Arthur St. Clair, representing the United States, and the chiefs
of the Six Nations, the treaty of Fort Stanwix was modified so as to give the
Indians some additional territory in the western part of New York. This
treaty was proclaimed on June 9, 1789, and remained in force until the Six
Nations ceded their lands to the United States and accepted reservations.

TREATY OF GREENVILLE

Late in July, 1795, a great council of Indians was called at Greenville,
Ohio, by Gen. Anthony Wayne, acting under the authority of the United States.
Chiefs of twelve tribes were present at the council, viz.: The Chippewa, Dela-
ware, Eel River, Kaskaskia, Kickapoo, Miami, Ottawa, Piankesha, Pottawatomi,
Shawnee, Wea and Wyandot. On August 3, 1795, a treaty was concluded
which established a boundary line between the Indian possessions and the white
settlements in Ohio, to wit: ‘‘Beginning at the mouth of the Cuyahoga River
and up that stream to the portage between the Cuyahoga and the Tuscarawas
branch of the Muskingum River; thence down the Tuscarawas branch to the
crossing place above Fort Lawrence (Laurens) ; thence westerly to that branch
of the Great Miami River running into the Ohio, at or near which fork stood
Loromie’s Store, and where commences the portage between the Miami of the
Ohio and the St. Mary’s River, which is a branch of the Miami (Maumee)
which runs into Lake Erie; thence in a westerly course to Fort Recovery, which
stands on a branch of the Wabash; thence southwesterly in a direct line to
the Ohio River, so as to intersect that river opposite the mouth of the Kentucke -
or Cuttawa River.”’

All the country south and east of this line was ceded by the Indians to the
United States. About a year later, the northern part of this line was defined
as the boundary of Wayne County in the proclamation of Winthrop Sargent,
acting governor of the Northwest Territory. North and west of the line six-
teen small tracts were ceded by the Indians for military posts, ete. These
tracts were as follows:
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1. One piece of land six miles square at Loromie’s Store, not far from the
present City of Piqua, Ohio.

2. Onme piece of land two miles square at the head of navigable waters on
the St. Mary’s River, near Girty’s Town, about twenty miles east of Fort
Recovery.

3. A tract six miles square at the head of navigation on the Au Glaize
River.

4. A tract six miles square at the confluence of the Au Glaize and Maumee
rivers, where the City of Defiance now stands.

*5. One piece of land six miles square at or near the confluence of the St.
Mary’s and St. Joseph’s rivers, where the City of Fort Wayne, Indiana, is now
situated.

6. One piece of land on the Wabash River at the end of the portage from
the Miami (Maumee) of the lake and about eight miles westward from Fort
Wayne.

7. A piece of land six miles square at the Ouiatenon, or old Wea towns on
the Wabash River, a few miles below the present City of Lafayette, Indiana.

8. Onme piece of land twelve miles square at the British fort on the Miami
(Maumee) of the lake at the foot of the rapids, near the present City of Napo-
leon, Ohio. '

9. A tract six miles square at the mouth of the Maumee, where the City
of Toledo now stands.

10. A tract six miles square on Sandusky Lake, where a fort formerly stood.

11. One piece of land two miles square at the lower rapids of the San-
dusky River, not far from the present City of Fremont, Ohio.

12. “‘The post of Detroit and all the land to the north, the west and the
south of it, of which the Indian title has been extinguished by gifts or grants
to the French or English governments; and so much more land to be annexed
to the District of Detroit as shall be comprehended between the River Rosine
on the south, Lake St. Clair on the north, and a line, the general course whereof
shall be six miles distant from the west end of Lake Lrie and the Dectroit
River.”’ '

13. ““‘The post of Michilimackinac and all the land on the island on which
that post stands, and the main land adjacent, of which the Indian title has
been extinguished by gifts or grants to the French or English governments;
and a piece of land on the main land to the north of the island, to measure
six miles on Lake Huron, or the streight between Liakes Huron and Michigan,
and to extend three miles back from the water of the lake or streight, and also
the island De Bois Blane, being an extra and voluntary gift of the Chippewa
Nation.”’

14. A tract six miles square at the mouth of the Chikago River, emptying
into the southwest end of Lake Michigan, where a fort formerly stood. This
tract is now all within the city limits of Chicago.

15. A piece of land twelve miles square at or near the mouth of the Illinois
River, where it empties into the Mississippi. This tract included the old post
of Kaskaskia.

16. One piece of land six miles square at the old Peoria fort and village,
near the south end of Illinois Lake on said Illinois River, where the City of
Peoria now stands.

In addition to the above mentioned tracts of land, the Indians gave the
United States the right of way for a passage, either by land or water, through
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the Indian country. The cessions made by the treaty of Greenville were the
first ever made by the Indians to the Government of the United States. In
return, the United States agreed to relinquish claim to all other Indian lands
north of the Ohio River, east of the Mississippi and west and south of the
Great Liakes, except a tract of 150,000 acres near the Falls of the Ohio, granted
to Gen. George Rogers Clark for the use of himself and his soldiers.

TREATY OF DETROIT

On November 17, 1807, William Hull, then governor of Michigan Terri-
tory and superintendent of Indian affairs, held a council at Detroit with the
chiefs and head men of the Chippewa, Ottawa, Pottawatomi and Wyandot
tribes at Detroit, which resulted in the conclusion of a treaty, the first article
of which was as follows:

““Article I. The sachems, chiefs and warriors of the nations aforesaid, in
consideration of money and goods, to be paid to the said nations by the United
States as hereinafter stipulated, cede all the lands contained within the follow-
ing boundaries: ‘‘Beginning at the mouth of the Miami River of the Lakes
and running thence up the middle thereof to the mouth of the great Au Glaize
River; thence running due north until it interseets a parallel of latitude to be
drawn from the outlet of Lake Huron, which forms the River St. Clair; thence
running northeast, the course that may be found will lead in a direct line to
the White Rock in Lake Huron; thence due east until it intersects the boun-
dary line between the United States and Upper Canada in said lake; thence
southwardly, following the said boundary line, through the River St. Clair,
Lake St. Clair and the Detroit River into Lake Erie, to a point due east of
the said Miami River; thence west to the place of beginning.”’

For this tract the United States agreed to pay $10,000 in money, or in
goods and animals for the improvement of husbandry, at the option of the
Indians. Of this amount, the Chippewa and Ottawa were each to receive
$3,333.33, the remainder to be divided equally between the Pottawatomi and
Wyandot tribes. In addition to this initial payment, the Indians were to re-
ceive, ‘‘forever,”” an annuity of $2,400, to be distributed among the tribes as
follows: $800 to the Chippewa; $800 to the Ottawa; $400 to the Pottawatomi,
and $400 to the Wyandot. The treaty was proclaimed on January 27, 1808,
and the ceded territory was included in Wayne County by the proclamation
of Governor Cass, dated November 15, 1815. (See Chapter XI.)

TREATY OF ST. MARY’S

About a year after the treaty of Detroit, some of the Wyandot Indians be-
came dissatisfied over its terms, which compelled them, to give up their old
villages on the Huron River, in what is now Brownstown Township, Wayne
County. On February 28, 1809, President Jefferson approved an act of Con-
gress giving the inhabitants of these villages and their descendants the right
to occupy their old homes for a period of fifty years, unless a new treaty for
their cession was concluded.

On September 20, 1818, a treaty was concluded at St. Mary’s, Ohio, by
Gen. Lewis Cass, governor of Michigan Territory, with certain Ottawa and
‘Wyandot bands, including the one to which the old villages had been granted
by the act of February 28, 1809. By the treaty of St. Mary’s, the band re-
linquished the lands in Brownstown Township and aceepted therefor a reser-
vation consisting of sections 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 34, 35 and 36, and that part of
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section 22 lying south of the Huron River, in township 4 south, range 9 east,
containing 4,996 acres. The map of Wayne County accompanying Dr. Doug-
lass Houghton's report as state geologist for 1843, shows this reservation as
being composed of the nine southeastern sections of Huron Township, though
the reservation had been ceded to the United States the preceding year.

TREATY OF CHICAGO

After the act of February 28, 1809, which gave certain Wyandot bands
the privilege of occupying their old villages in Michigan, some of the other
tribes that participated in the negotiation of the treaty of 1807 endeavored to
set up claims to their old homes in that territory. No attention was paid to
their claims by the Federal authorities, and after the treaty of St. Mary’s the
grumbling on the part of the Indians practically ceased, though occasionally
some chief would declare that the United States had cheated the red men in
the treaty of Detroit.

On September 26, 1833, George B. Porter, Thomas J. V. Owen and William
Weatherford, as commissioners of the United States, concluded a treaty at
Chicago with the confederated nations of Chippewa, Ottawa and Pottawatomi
Indians. By this treaty the tribes mentioned ceded to the United States all
their lands bordering on the west shore of Liake Michigan and confirmed the
provisions of the treaties of Detroit and St. Mary’s. The Chicago treaty is
of interest in a History of Detroit only because of this confirmation which gave
the white men an undisputed title to the former Indian lands.

TREATY OF UPPER SANDUSKY

This was the last Indian treaty affecting the Indian title to lands in Wayne
County. Early in the year 1842, President Tyler appointed John Johnston a
commissioner to treat with the Wyandot nation for the relinquishment of all
their lands in Ohio and Michigan. Mr. Johnston met the Wyandot chiefs,
counselors and head men in council at Upper Sandusky, where on Marech 17,
1842, was concluded a treaty by which the Indians ceded to the United States
““all right and title to the Wyandot reserve on both sides of the River Huron,
in the State of Michigan, containing 4,996 acres, being all the land claimed or
set apart for the use of the Wyandot nation within the State of Michigan.’’

For the relinquishment of this reservation and the Wyandot lands in Ohio,
the United States promised the Indians a reservation of 148,000 acres, some-
where west of the Mississippi River acceptable to them, to pay the expenses
of removal, give the tribe an annuity of $17,500, allow them $500 annually
for the maintenance of a school, furnish them a blacksmith and iron for their
needs, and discharge all debts owed by the tribe to white traders, amounting
to $23,860.

The Huron River reserve was vacated soon after the conclusion of the treaty,
the United States paying $500 to defray the expenses of the band’s removal
to Upper Sandusky, where all the Wyandot nation was to rendezvous for their
removal west of the Mississippi. Some delay occurred in finding a tract of
148,000 acres that was satisfactory to the chiefs, but in 1844 the whole tribe
was settled in what is now Wyandotte County, Kansas.

‘When Cadillac founded the post of Detroit in 1701, his first object was to
form friendly relations with the Indians and have them locate near his fort.
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From 1760 to 1796 Detroit was under British control. Neither the French nor
the English made any attempts to establish permanent settlements in Michigan
away from the trading posts. With the Americans it was different. They
were not fur traders and they wanted the lands for agricultural purposes.
Through the treaties above described, the white race came into possession and
the red men were removed from the hunting grounds of their fathers. Such
names as Kalamazoo, Muskegon, Pontiac, Saginaw, Shiawassee, Tekonsha and
Washtenaw are all that they left behind them. These names are pathetic re-
minders of the savage tribes that once roamed through the forests and oak
openings of Southern Michigan or paddled their canoes over the placid waters
of the Detroit River and Lake St. Clair.



PART II
POLITICAL AND CIVIC HISTORY

CHAPTER V
CADILLAC—A BIOGRAPHY

UNCERTAINTY REGARDING CADILLAC’S EARLY LIFE—MEMORIAL TABLET AT HIS BIRTH-
PLACE—CADILLAC’S MARRIAGE—HIS CHILDREN—LAND GRANT ON THE ATLANTIC
COAST—COMMANDANT AT MICHILIMACKINAC—ESTABLISHES A POST AT DETROIT—
GOVERNOR OF LOUISIANA—THE MISSISSIPPI BUBBLE—IMPRISONED IN THE BAS-
TILE—AT CASTELSARRASIN—THE CADILLAC CHAIR AT DETROIT.

For a long time little was known of the early life of Antoine Laumet de
La Mothe Cadillae, the founder of Detroit, even the exact date and place of his
birth being matters of uncertainty. Early in the year 1907, Clarence M. Bur-
ton was in France and learned that the Archmological Society of Montaubau
had marked the birthplace of Cadillac by a memorial tablet. Montaubau is
located on the River Tarn, about thirty miles north of Toulouse on the Garonne,
in the Department of Tarn-et-Garonne, which takes its name from the two
rivers.

Hoping to find the solution of a long-standing problem, Mr. Burton made
the journey from Paris to Montaubau, where he consulted the officers of the
archzological society, from whom he learned that Cadillac was born at St. Nico-
las de la Grave, a village of some two or three thousand inhabitants, about
twenty-three miles from Montaubau, and that the memorial tablet had been
placed on November 8, 1904.

THE MEMORIAL

Continuing his journey to St. Nicholas de la Grave, Mr. Burton found the
house in which Cadillac was born to be a small one-story brick dwelling, proba-
bly five hundred years old. The inscription on the tablet reads:

A la Memorie
Antoine Laumet de LaMothe Cadillac
Ne Dans Cette Maison Le 5 Mars, 1658
Colonisateaur Du Canada et De La Louwisiane
Fondateur de Detroit
Gouverneur De Castelsarrasin
Ou Il Est Mort in 1730

Translation—To the memory of Antoine Laumet de LaMothe Cadillac, born
in this house, March 5, 1658, colonizer of Canada and Louisiana, founder of
Detroit, governor of Castelsarrasin, where he died in 1730.

Cadillac’s father was Jean Laumet, ‘‘lawyer, assistant to the justice, royal
justice, counselor of the king in the Parliament of Toulouse,”’ and his mother
was Jeanne de Pechagut. His parents were married on March 16, 1646, and
Antoine was the fourth child of their union. The family name of Laumet, as
applied to the founder of Detroit, seems to have become practically lost after
he came to America, which is no doubt the reason for some of the confusion
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that has resulted regarding the history of his early life. That he was liberally
educated for a youth of that period is apparent in his writings, his skill as a
navigator and the executive ability he displayed in the various positions of
trust and responsibility to which he was called. He was a cadet in the regi-
ment of Dampierre-Lorraine and a lieutenant in the regiment of Clairembault
in 1677.

CADILLAC’S MARRIAGE

In 1683, when only twenty-five years of age, Cadillac came to America and
located at Port Royal (now Amnmapolis), Nova Scotia. There he formed the
acquaintance of Francois Guyon of Beauport, a merchant and trader (some
say a privateer), with whom he became associated in the seafaring business.
Cadillac had previously acquired some knowledge of the art of navigation and
now learned much of the Atlantic coast of North America, which later was
destined to bring him into important relations with the French Government.
In his voyages to Quebec he met and fell in love with his partner’s niece,
Therese Guyon, daughter of Denis and Elizabeth (Boucher) Guyon, to whom
he was married at Quebec on June 25, 1687. In the church record of the mar-
riage the bridegroom is named ‘‘Antoine de la Mothe, Sieur de Cadillae, of
Port Royal in Acadia, aged about twenty-six years, son of Jean de la Mothe,
Sieur de Cadillac, de Launay et de Semontel, counselor of the Parliament of
Toulouse, and Jeanne de Malenfant.’’ '

In this record the approximate age of Cadillac, as given, is three years
younger than he really was, and there is likewise an error in the name of his
mother. Historians who have depended upon this record, for information con-
cerning Cadillac’s age and parentage, have very naturally been led astray.
Some time previous to his marriage, his superior officer in the French Army,
recommending him for promotion, called him LaMothe. This name, a common
one in France, was adopted by him and he was thereafter known as Antoine
de LaMothe Cadillac, the name Cadillac being derived from landed possessions.

CADILLAC’S CHILDREN

To Antoine de LaMothe Cadillac and his wife, Therese, were born thirteen
children, viz.:

1. Judith, born at Port Royal in 1689. On November 12, 1711, she took
the veil as an Ursuline nun at Quebee, to be a perpetual pensioner, her father
paying 6,000 livres for her support.

2. Magdalene, date and place of birth uncertain. She was probably born
at Quebec or Mount Desert Island and upon arriving at womanhood also be-
came an Ursuline nun.

3. Antoine de LaMothe Cadillae, fils, born at Quebec on April 26, 1692,
accompanied his father to Detroit in 1701, and was made an ensign in 1707.
He died about 1730.

4. Jacques, born at Quebec on March 16, 1695, and was brought to Detroit
by his mother in 1702.

5. Pierre Denis, born at Quebeec on June 13, 1699, and died there when
about one year old. He was buried on July 4, 1700.

6. Marianne, born at Quebec on June 7, 1701, and was buried there two
days later.

7. A child born at Detroit in the latter part of 1702, or early in 1703,
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mentioned in one of Cadillac’s letters. The baptismal record of this child
was probably destroyed in the fire of 1703.

8. Marie Therese, born at Detroit on February 2, 1704. She was married
at Castelsarrasin on February 16, 1729, to Noble Francois de Pouzargues, and
died there in February, 1753.

9. Jean Antoine, born at Detroit on January 19, 1707, and was buried
there on April 9, 1709. v

10. Marie Agathe, born at Detroit on December 28, 1707. No further
record of this daughter is obtainable.

11. Francois, born at Detroit on March 27, 1709, and was still living at
the time of his father’s death.

12. Rene Louis, born at Detroit on March 17, 1710, and was buried at
Quebec in October, 1714,

13. Joseph, a son mentioned in the records relating to the settlement of
his father’s estate. The date and place of his birth could not be ascertained.

Of these thirteen children, only three were living at the time of Cadillac’s
death. They were Marie Therese, Francois and Joseph, whose names are found
in the records of Castelsarrasin in connection with the division of Cadillac’s
property.

LAND GRANT ON THE ATLANTIC COAST

Immediately after his marriage, Cadillac took his young wife (she was only
a little more than sixteen years of age) to Port Royal. The next year he peti-
tioned the Marquis de Denonville, then governor of New France, for a grant
of land ‘‘two leagues on the sea shore, by two leagues in depth, within the land,
at a place called Donaquec, near Mageis (Port Machias), the Donaquec River
to divide the said two leagues in depth, one league to be taken on the west
side and one league on the east side of said river, with the islands which are
on the fore part of the said two front leagues, to hold in fief and lordship
with high, mean and low jurisdiction, being desirous to promote an establish-
ment there.”’

The petition was granted by Governor Denonville on July 23, 1688, and was
confirmed by Louis XIV on May 24, 1689. The grant was recorded at Quebec
on April 20, 1691. It embraced the Island of Mount Desert and a tract of
the mainland opposite, including all of Bar Harbor on the coast of Maine. At
the time the grant was made, the lands lay in what was known as Acadia. After
the Revolution, the tract formed a part of the Territory of Penobscot, in the
State of Massachusetts, Maine not being admitted to the Union as a state until
1820. This grant indicates that Cadillac, at this time, was considered a man
of importance and held in high esteem.

In May, 1761, Marie Therese, daughter of Joseph and granddaughter of
Antoine de LaMothe Cadillac, married her cousin, Bartholomey de Gregoire, at
Castelsarrasin. On June 15, 1785, the French consul at Boston, on behalf of
Marie Therese Gregoire and her husband, made application to the State of
Massachusetts for the restoration to them of the lands. His petition was re-
ferred to a committee on unappropriated lands, where it rested until the fall
of 1786, when the Gregoires arrived to prosecute their claim in person. Their
second petition was presented on November 6, 1786, and set forth the facts
concerning the manner in which the lands were acquired by Cadillac, who was
styled as ‘‘Lord of Donaquec and Mount Desert.”” After some delay, the Massa-
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chusetts Legislature granted the petition on July 5, 1787, and on October 29,
1787, the Gregoires and their three children—Pierre, Nicolas and Marie—
became naturalized citizens of the United States of America.

Says Farmer: °‘The lands were actually within the limits claimed by Massa-
chusetts at the time Louis XIV made the concession. * * * The conceding
of the claim of the Gregoires was really a graceful act, but the good feeling
then entertained toward the French nation, on account of servieces rendered in
the Revolutionary war, undoubtedly had much to do with the favor with which
the claim was received.”’

COMMANDANT AT MICHILIMACKINAC

While making his preparations to settle a colony on the Donaquec River
or Mount Desert Island, Cadillac continued to live at Port Royal. In 1689
Louis XIV declared war against England. This conflict is commonly known
as King Williams’ war. Cadillac was summoned to Paris in 1689, to consult
with the king as to the best means of prosecuting the war. During his absence
Port Royal was captured by the English expedition under Sir William Phipps
on May 10, 1690, and Madame Cadillac, with her infant daughter, went to
her mother’s home in Quebec. There she was found by her husband upon his
return from France, soon after the defeat of Sir William Phipps by the French
troops under Count Frontenae, who had succeeded the Marquis de Denonville
as governor of New France.

Cadillac proved to be of great assistance to Governor Frontenac in planning
his campaigns for the defense of New France. In February, 1692, Count Pont-
chartrain, the French minister of marine, wrote to Frontenac to send ‘‘ Antoine
de LaMothe Cadillac to Paris by the first ship, that he may give minute in-
formation to aid in the proposed attack on New York and New England, as
he is considered to be the best instructed on plans, soundings and all observa-
tions.”’

Pursuant to this request, Cadillac again went to France. On this occasion
he presented his plan for the defense of the rivers and lakes of Canada by
using vessels of light draft, which plan was approved by the king. He returned
to Canada and toward the close of the war was made a second licutenant in
the French navy. At that time the French colonies were under the control
of the naval department, hence the soldiers of New France were classed as
marines, although much of their service was upon the land. On October 25,
1694, Governor Frontenac wrote to Count Pontchartrain: ‘‘Lieutenant Cad-
illac is a man of rank, full of capability and valor; and I have just sent him
to Missilimakinac to command all those posts of the upper country and to fill
the place of the Sieur de Louvigny de Laporte.”’

Cadillac remained the commandant at Michilimackinae until after the death
of Governor Frontenac in 1698. During that time his wife and children lived
in Quebec. On his visits to his family, and from the rcports of early French
explorers, he became imbued with the advantages of the country along the
Detroit River as a desirable location for a post. Soon after the death of Count
Frontenac he went to France to present the matter to the king. The history
of the post of Detroit under Cadillac, his controversy with the Company of
the Colony of Canada, his disputes with the Jesuits, his financial losses, ete.,
is given in the next chapter.
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GOVERNOR OF LOUISIANA

Men of positive natures invariably make enemies. Cadillac’s enemies accused
him of being ‘‘opinionated and quarrelsome,’” and through their influence and
that of their friends he was finally removed from the position of commandant
at Detroit. To soften the blow of the removal, he was appointed governor of
the French Province of Louisiana.  This appointment was made on May 6.
1710, but he remained at Detroit until some time in the summer of the follow-
ing year.

In September, 1712, Antoine Crozat, a wealthy merchant of Paris, was
granted a charter giving him the exclusive right to trade in Louisiana, as well
as the proceeds of any mines he might discover and develop. Crozat continued
Cadillac in the office of governor and, it is said, promised him a liberal per-
centage of the profits derived from commercial transactions and mining opera-
tions in the province. Cadillac’s whereabouts at this time are somewhat un-
certain. He was probably in France, as the Louisiana records show that on
May 17, 1713, he arrived at Dauphin Island, at the entrance to Mobile Bay, on
the French frigate ‘‘Baron de la Fosse.”” He was accompanied by his family
and servants, and brought a large quantity of provisions and munitions of
war for the colony there.

At that time the settlement was near the head of Mobile Bay, but in 1713
Cadillac caused it to be removed to the site of the present City of Mobile, where
a number of houses were built during the summer and autumn. In order to
obtain supplies for the infant colony, he sent out expeditions in various direc-
tions to ascertain the resources of the country, and endeavored to open a trade
with the Spanish settlements in Mexico. In the summer of 1715 he visited
the Illinois country’ and examined the lead mines near the present City of
Dubuque, Iowa. Returning to Mobile, he embarked for France in November,
1715, to report the result of his explorations and make further arrangements
for the support of the settlements in Louisiana.

THE MISSISSIPPI BUBBLE

Cadillac’s reports from Louisiana indicate that he was not altogether sat-
isfied with the country. Possibly his removal from Detroit and the blasting
of his hopes still rankled in his mind. His strong will and somewhat arbitrary
methods at times aroused opposition among his associate officers, and early
in 1717 M. de la Epinay was appointed to succeed him as governor. Epinay
arrived at Mobile on March 9, 1717, and in June following, Cadillac bade good-by
to America. Before the close of that year Crozat surrendered his charter.

John Law, an English adventurer, organized the Mississippi Company, as
a branch of the Bank of France, which company succeeded to ‘‘all the rights,
privileges and emoluments formerly enjoyed by Crozat.”’ In 1718 Law sent
some eight hundred colonists to Louisiana and the next year Philipe Renault
brought over about two hundred more. Renault’s idea was to go up the
Mississippi River, establish posts in the Illinois country, and open a trade with
the Indians. A few years of the wildest speculation and inflation followed, but
in 1720 Law’s whole scheme collapsed. It is known in history as ‘‘The Miss-
issippi Bubble.”’

Cadillac arrived in France about the time the Mississippi Company was
launched. His knowledge of the country Law proposed to develop, the general
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plan advertised by the company, and the extravagant promises made to in-
vestors, all told him that the project was built upon an insecure foundation
and doomed to failure. Ile frankly expressed his opinion that the whole scheme
was a swindle, unworthy of patronage, and did all he could to warn the French
people against investing their money in such a problematical venture. Popular
sentiment was in favor of Law, however, and Cadillac was arrested. For several
months he was confined in the celebrated Bastile in Paris, when he was released
and was never brought to trial. A year or so later the people learned by experi-
ence that his judgment of Law was well founded, and many of those who lost
money by investing in the company regretted they did not heed his warning.

AT CASTELSARRASIN

Shortly after the collapse of the Mississippi Company, Cadillac applied for
the governorship of Castelsarrasin, in the department where he was born.
His application was granted in August, 1722. The appointment was made
by Louis XIV, who in 1721, issued an edict taking away from the people of
municipalities the right to select their own officers. On December 11, 1722,
Cadillac was regularly commissioned governor and mayor. Thus, after having
spent the best part of his life amid the turmoil and strife of the New World,
and having wandered all over America, he returned to the neighborhood of
his birth, there to spend his declining years in peace.

Castelsarrasin, now a town of some eight or ten thousand inhabitants, and
perhaps quite as large in Cadillac’s day, is located about twelve miles from
Montaubau. In 1722 it contained a castle, in which Cadillac established his
official residence. How long he retained the office of governor is not definitely
known. In 1724 the king revoked his edict of 1721, and some writers assert
that Cadillac was then retired. It is quite likely, however, that he continued
to hold the office for some time after the revocation of the edict, as it is well
known that he remained a resident of Castelsarrasin until his death on October
16, 1730. His remains were buried in the cemetery adjoining the Carmelite
monastery in the town. At the time of the French Revolution the monastery
was confiscated and converted into a prison. Some years later the remains
of the few persons of consequence buried in the cemetery were exhumed and
carefully reinterred beneath the stone flagging in the rear of the building.
Here rest the bones of Antoine Laumet, de LLaMothe Cadillae, soldier, chevalier,
Knight of the Royal and Military Order of St. Louis, navigator and diplomat.
During his long and active career he was successively a merchant and trader
at Port Royal, seigneur of Mount Desert Island and Bar Harbor, an officer
in the French navy, commandant at Michilimackinac, founder and first com-
mandant at Detroit, governor of Louisiana, a prisoner in the Bastile in Paris
because he dared to give wise counsel to the people of his native land, and
governor of Castelsarrasin.

THE CADILLAC CHAIR

On Wednesday morning, July 24, 1901, at the opening of the Bi-Centenary
exercises in Detroit, a fitting tribute was paid to this soldier, scholar and
pioneer by the unveiling of a large stone chair at the western end of Cadillac
Square. This is known as the ‘‘Cadillac Chair.”” The inscription on the back

of the chair is as follows:
Yol, I—6
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“‘This chair, erected July 24, 1901, is located on the site of the City Hall
built in 1835 and occupied until 1871 as the seat of Civie Authority.

““It is symbolic of the Seigneurial Rule of Antoine de la Mothe Cadillac,
Knight of St. Louis, who, with his company of colonists, arrived at Detroit,
July 24, 1701.

““On that day, under the patronage of Louis XIV, and protected by the
Flag of France, the City of Detroit, then called Fort Pontchartrain, was
founded.”’



CHAPTER VI
BEGINNING OF DETROIT

CADILLAC RECOGNIZES THE ADVANTAGES OF THE DETROIT RIVER—HE WRITES TO
COUNT FRONTENAC—CADILLAC GOES TO FRANCE;HE IS COMMISSIONED TO
ESTABLISH A POST—THE VOYAGE TO DETROIT—BUILDING THE POST—COMPANY
OF THE COLONY OF CANADA—LITIGATION—CADILLAC’S REPORT TO COUNT PONT-
CHARTRAIN—CADILLAC REGAINS POSSESSION—QUARREL WITH THE JESUITS—
DISPOSAL OF LOTS—FIRST WHITE WOMEN—MADAME CADILLAC TABLET—A FEW
FIRST THINGS.

‘While Cadillac was commandant at Michilimackinace, he learned through
the reports of Dollier and Galinee and Father Louis Hennepin of the beauties
and advantages of the region along the Detroit River and bent himself to the
task of securing the establishment of a post in that part of the country. Sieur
Du L’hut (Du Liuth) had selected the site of Fort St. Joseph, near the present
City of Port Huron, only a short time before Cadillac went to Michilimackinac.
‘While he recognized the importance of Du Luth’s post, as well as the one he
had the honor to command, Cadillac was so favorably impressed with the De-
troit River that he wrote to Count Frontenac, then governor of New France:

‘““However well chosen was the position of Du L’hut’s trading fort at St.
Joseph, I have in mind a better site. Dollier and Galinee, and later La
Salle, followed up this connecting chain of waters from Fort Frontenac. They
found it as richly set with islands as is a queen’s necklace with jewels and
the beautifully verdant shores of the mainland served to complete the picture
of a veritable paradise. Especially attractive was the region that lies south
of the pearl-like lake to which they gave the name of Ste. Clair, and the country
bordering upon that deep, clear river, a quarter of a league broad, known as
Le Detroit. I have had from the Indians and the coureurs de bois glowing de-
scriptions of this fair locality, and, while affecting to treat their accounts with
indifference, I made a note of it in my mind.

““On both sides of this strait lie fine, open plains where the deer roam in
graceful herds, where bears, by no means fierce and exceedingly good to eat,
are to be found, as are also the savoury poules d’Indies (wild duck) and other
varieties of game. The islands are covered with trees; chestnuts, walnuts, ap-
ples and plums abound; and, in season, the wild vines are heavy with grapes,
of which the forest rangers say they have made a wine that, considering its
newness, was not at all bad. The Hurons have a village on Le Detroit; they
see, according to their needs, its advantages. Michilimackinac is an important
post, but the climate will ever be against it; the place will never become a great
settlement. ILe Detroit is the real center of the lake country—the gateway
to the West. It is from there that we can best hold the English in check. I
would make it a permanent post, not subject to changes as are so many of the
others. To do this it is but necessary to have a good number of French soldiers

83
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and traders, and to draw around it the tribes of friendly Indians, in order
to conquer the Iroquois, who, from the beginning, have harassed us and pre-
vented the advance of civilization. The French live too far apart. We must
bring them closer together, that, when necessary, they may be able to oppose
‘a large force of savages and thus defeat them. Moreover, the waters of the
Great Lakes pass through this strait, and it is the only path whereby the English
can carry on their trade with the savage nations who have to do with the French.
If we establish ourselves at Le Detroit, they can no longer hope to deprive us
of the benefits of the fur trade.”’

CADILLAC GOES TO FRANCE

Governor Frontenac was inclined to favor Cadillac’s plans, but he died in
1698, before definite arrangements for the establishment of the post had been
completed. He was succeeded by Chevalier de Callieres, who apparently had
little faith in Cadillac’s suggestions and refused to aid his project. Failing to
interest the new governor in his cherished ambition, Cadillac resolved to go
to France and lay the whole matter before the king. He was cordially wel-
comed by Louis XIV, then the occupant of the French throne, and returned
to America armed with authority to establish a post at such point as he might
select. His commission was signed by Count Pontchartrain, the minister of
marine, and was approved by the king. He was allowed the sum of 1,500 livres
(a livre was about twenty cents) for the purpose of building a fort, and was
granted subsistence for himself, wife and two children, and two servants. He
was likewise granted a tract of land ‘‘fifteen arpents square.”’

Having accomplished the object of his mission, Cadillac returned to Amer-
ica, arriving at Quebec on March 8, 1701. After a brief stay there, he went
on to Montreal to make arrangements for the establishment of his post. Under
the authority given him by Count Pontchartrain, he enrolled 100 Frenchmen
and a similar number of friendly Indians. Cadillac’s officers were: Capt.
Alpheonse de Tonty; Lieutenants Chacornacle and Dugue; Sergeant Jacob de
Marae, Sieur de L’Ommesprou; Chaplains Father Constantine de L’Halle,
a Recollet, and Father Francois Valliant, a Jesuit. Francois and Jean Fafard
also accompanied the expedition as Indian interpreters.

THE VOYAGE TO DETROIT

With this outfit, Cadillac left Montreal on June 2, 1701, for the Detroit
River. The scene of the embarkation is thus described by Mary Catherine
Crowley in her ‘‘Daughter of New France,”” as she obtained it from old docu-
ments in the archives at Quebec: ‘‘There in the sunshine were the soldiers in
their blue coats with white facing; the artisans in their blouses; the coureurs
de bois, with leathern jerkins brightly embroidered with porcupine quills, red
caps set jauntily on their dark heads, and upon their swift feet gandy Indian
moceasins; the black robed Jesuit and the gray frocked Recollet missionaries,
holding aloft the cross beside the banner of St. Louis; the officers resplendent
in their gorgeous uniforms and white plumed cavalier hats. Cadillac was the
last one to embark. Stepping into his canoe he stood erect—an imposing figure
in his azure habit with its erimson sash, a scarlet mantle thrown back from
his broad shoulders, his sword by his side, and the breeze stirring the long,
thick locks of his black hair, as he waved a last adieu to his friends upon the
shore.”’
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In writing her story, Miss Crowley doubtless exercised the privilege of the
novelist and drew largely upon her imagination. The ‘‘gorgeous uniforms’’
and ‘‘white plumed cavalier hats’’ of the officers, Cadillac’s ‘‘azure habit with
its erimson sash’ and his ‘‘searlet mantle’’ would all have been appropriate
were they going to visit the court of some foreign monarch. But they were
going into a wilderness where they would meet none except savage Indians,
and it is far more likely that Cadillac and his men all wore the rough costume
of the voyageur—a costume that would stand hard knocks.

Among the soldiers was one Robert Chevalier, called De Beauchene, whose
adventures were written by Le Sage, author of Gil Blas, and published in 1745.
This is said to be the first printed book to mention Cadillac. From the copy
in the Burton Collection De Beauchene’s story, as told by himself, is taken.
Says he:

‘““An affair that I had in that City (Montreal), in the middle of the year
1701, attached me wholly to my Algonquins. The Fact was this: We, that is,
myself and about a hundred Canadians, undertook to escort Monsieur de la
Mothe de Cadillac, who wag sent with two Subaltern Officers, near two hundred
Leagues from Montreal, to command at the Streight. When we were at the
Place, which is named the Fall of China, because there is a Water-fall there,
upon the River of St. Lawrence, where they are obliged to unload their Goods,
Monsieur de Cadillac undertook to search the canoes, to see if we had not
brought more Brandy than was allowed. He discover’d more than was licene’d
in several of the Canoes, and immediately raising his voice, demand’d with a
magisterial Air, whose it was; one of my Brothers was near him, who answered
him in the same Tone, that it belonged to us and that he had no Authority
to find Fault with it.

‘“Cadillac was a Gascon, and consequently hot; he affronted my Brother,
who drew upon him immediately ; Cadillac received him like a Man of Courage
and making him retreat, he was going to disarm him, when throwing myself
between them, I push’d aside my Brother and took his Place, and repuls’d my
Enemy so briskly that he had no Occasion to be sorry that we were parted. He
is, I believe, still alive—if he dares, let him contradict me.”’

He then goes on to tell how Cadillac returned to Montreal to make his com-
plaints. De Beauchene followed him and the intendant, Champigny, gave him
a short term in prison (three days), and his brother, ashamed of having been
defeated by Cadillae, spent the rest of his life among the Indians.

To avoid giving offense to the tribes of the Five Nations, who were inclined
to resent any exploration or occupation of the Indian country, the route se-
lected was up the Ottawa River, thence by way of Liake Nipissing and the
French and Pickerel rivers to the Georgian Bay. Regarding the route fol-
lowed by Cadillac, C. M. Burton says in his ‘‘Early Detroit’’: ‘‘In the sum-
mer of 1904, I went to the eastern end of Liake Nipissing and spent several
weeks in going over the pathway of Cadillac in this, his first trip to Detroit.
Passing through the eastern end of this lake, we reached the outlet known as
French River. With an Indian guide and birch bark canoes, we paddled the
entire length of French and Pickerel rivers to French River village, the head
of navigation. The country today is as wild and barren as it was in Cadillac’s
time, and if he could again visit this scene, there is no doubt that the old land-
marks that guided him then would again serve to show him his way through
this vast wilderness of water and of rocks. The country is a great desert of
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rocks—rocks for miles and miles—no trees of any size, and underbrush only
in the crevices of the rocks, where the accumulation of the dust of ages has
been sufficient to sustain a little vegetable life. The river is not a river, but
a continuation of the lake. It has very little current, though it occasionally
contracts into a narrower channel with a waterfall, around which our boats
had to be carried. The scenery is perfectly wild and the route we took is doubt-
less the one used by all travelers for the past two hundred and fifty years.”’

Upon reaching the Georgian Bay, Cadillac’s twenty-five canoes crossed that
body of water to the strait connecting it with Lake Huron, then followed the
easterly coast of that lake to the St. Clair River, down which they passed,
through Lake St. Clair and the Detroit River to the site of Detroit. Late on
the afternoon of July 23, 1701, the canoes passed the place where the city now
stands and that night Cadillac encamped on Grosse Ile, sixteen miles down the
river. Early the next morning he slowly ascended the stream, carefully noting
the character of the shores, until he reached a point now about the foot of
Shelby Street, where the high bank seemed to offer strategic advantages for a
post. There he landed and planted the French standard at the top of the bluff,
taking possession of the country in the name of Louis XIV.

BUILDING THE POST

Almost immediately after the ceremony of taking possession of the terri-
tory, the work of building a storehouse and stockade was commenced. A piece
of ground one arpent square (the Canadian arpent of that day was 192.75
feet) was laid off for the fort. While some cleared the ground others cut trees
from six to eight inches in diameter for the pickets to form the stockade. These
pickets were about fifteen feet long and were sunk in the ground to a depth of
three feet. They stood close together, thus forming a palisade twelve feet high.
Still others, under the direction of Father de L’Halle, began the building of
a church, which was named Ste. Anne, because it was commenced on July 26th
—Ste. Anne’s day. It was 2415 by 35 feet, ten feet high to the eaves, and was
provided with a door and windows, though the windows were without glass.
The door had a lock and the windows were provided with shutters. This church
was the first building in Detroit to be completed.

Other buildings (belonging to Cadillac) inside the stockade were seven in
number, to wit: 1. A warehouse 22 by 3714 feet, 8 feet high, constructed of
thick oak planks split from trees and smoothed with an adz. Inside this ware-
house were a counter and a press for baling skins, and the door was fitted with
a lock and key. 2. A building 19 by 331% feet, built, like all the others, by
placing posts in the ground. This building was also provided with a lock. 3. A
smaller building 12V, by 18 feet, 614 feet high. 4. A barn 27 by 50 feet, 11
feet high. This was evidently for storing crops, though Cadillac later brought
three horses, only one of which (Colon) lived. 5. A building 21 by 33 feet,
formed of split stakes and without a door. 6. An ice house 15 feet square,
6 feet high above ground and extending 15 feet below the surface. 7. An in-
ferior building 12 by 16 feet and only 5 feet high. Other buildings were owned
by members of the colony, all built of logs set on end. Several years elapsed
before cabins were built with the logs laid horizontally. Concerning this work
Cadillac wrote: ‘“All this is no easy task, as everything has to be carried on
the shoulders, for we have no oxen or horses yet to draw loads, nor to plough,
and to accomplish it, it is necessary to be very active.”’
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COMPANY OF THE COLONY

Scarcely had Cadillac laid the foundations of Michigan’s future metropolis,
—and while he was encouraged and buoyed up by the bright prospects for the
future,—when a cloud appeared above the horizon. For some years the mer-
chants of Quebec and Montreal had been engaged in the fur trade in a limited
way. Their method was to employ voyageurs to fit out expeditions and trans-
port in canoes, to the Indian country about the upper lakes, goods to exchange
for peltries. About the close of the Seventeenth Century a company was formed
to conduct this trade on a larger scale. Authentic information relative to this
company is so scarce that it is difficult to ascertain just what rights it was
granted, or who composed it. Enough has been learned, however, to state with
certainty that on October 3, 1699, some of the leading citizens of Quebec
(among whom was Cadillac) sent a deputation composed of Anteuil, Juchereau
and Pacaud to Versailles to solicit from the king the privilege of organizing a
company to have general charge of the beaver trade of Canada. (The beaver
trade included all furs.)

That some effort to organize a company at that time was made is borne out
by a letter written some years later (October 21, 1726), by Claude Thomas
Dupuy, then intendant of Canada, in which he says: ‘M. de la Mothe was
placed at Detroit as commandant in the year 1700, when this post was estab-
lished. The old Beaver Company, which had established the post, gave it up
to the new company, which was unable to keep it up, and Sieur de la Mothe
asked for it with the monopoly of the trade and the other conditions the com-
pany had.”

Not long after Cadillac left Quebec on June 2, 1701, for the Detroit River,
a treaty of peace was made with the Iroquois, which opened a more direct
route between Fort Frontenac and Detroit by way of Lake Erie. It is quite
probable that this treaty revived the idea of organizing a company, as goods
could now be transported without encountering the troublesome portages of
the Ottawa River route. But Cadillac had been granted the exclusive right
to trade with the Indians at Detroit and was taking steps to settle them near
the post, where they would be under his domination. To break his power, a
company called the ‘‘Company of the Colony of Canada’’ was formed and
influences set to work to undermine his standing with King Louis XIV. If
this hypothesis as to the formation of the new company is correct, it follows
that at the time Cadillac founded the post there was no company in charge
of the new colony, and he was justified in considering himself the exclusive
owner of the post and of its trade.

It seems that Governor-General Callieres had conceived a personal dislike
for Cadillac and, as the representative of the French Government in Canada,
encourage the formation of the company, with the exclusive right to trade at
Fort Frontenac and Detroit, taking from Cadillac the powers given him by
the king’s commission. By intrigue the consent of Louis XIV was gained and
the contract with the company was concluded at Quebec on October 31, 1701.
On the same day the intendant wrote to Count Pontchartrain:

“You will see from the agreement I have made with the Company of the
Colony, on putting it in possession of the forts of Frontenac and Detroit, that
I have been obliged to advance large sums without being able to obtain pay-
ment until next year, in letters of exchange and furs, which will have to be
sent to France to be sold, and this will delay the repayment for two years.
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Therefore I most humbly beg you, My Lord, to take this into account to some
extent, by granting us such increase in funds as you may think fit, having
regard to the extraordinary disbursements we have been obliged to make both
for the ratification of peace with the Iroquois and for the enterprise at Detroit,
and for the fortification at Quebee, as you know from the statements which 1
have sent to you.

: ‘“CHAMPIGNY, Intendant.”’

As the Company of the Colony was destined to play a conspicuous part in
the discomfiture of Cadillac, the principal features of the contract entered into
by its directors and the Canadian officials are here given, taken from Leake’s
History of Detroit (p. 13):

‘“The following articles of agreement have been made between the governor-
general and intendant on the one part, and Messrs, d’Auteuil, procureur-general
of the King in the sovereign council of this country, Lotbiniere, lieutenant-
general of this City of Quebee, Irazeur, Gobin, Macart and Pierese, gent]emen,
merchants of this City of Quebee, all directors-general of the said company, on
the other part.

‘“1. Be it known, that the governor-general and intendant, in consequence
of the express orders which they have this year received from the King, do,
by these presents and acceptances, in the name of His Majesty, cede and convey
to the directors of said Company of the Colony the posts of Detroit and Fort
Frontenae, giving into the possession of said Company of the Colony, from this
day forth, the said posts in the state in which they now are for their use, to
traffic in furs, to the exclusion of all other inhabitants of said country, so long
as it shall please His Majesty.

€¢2. It shall be the duty of said Company to complete the construction of
said fort at Detroit, and the buildings properly belonging thereto; and the
Company shall in future keep said buildings and fort in good repair, that they
may be rendered in the same state they are now, and better, if possible, when-
ever His Majesty shall judge proper to receive them, if in the course of time
he so order.

¢¢8. The Company of the Colony is also to take charge of the goods which
have been sent to said place, obeying the conditions that have been agreed
upon—DMessrs. Radisson and Arnault to be overseers of the storehouse of said
goods which the intendant has placed in the hands of the directors of the Com-
pany. They are also to have charge of the other advances made by the King
for this establishment, and to make payment for said goods and advances to
the intendant from the first bills which shall be returned from Detroit, and in
case said bills should not be sufficient, on the first of October, 1702, the said
overseers shall give bills of exchange for the remainder, which shall be drawn
upon the directors and commissioners of said Company in Paris, payable to
the sureties and overseers of the storehouse, for the purpose of liquidating the
claims against said Company, conformably to the agreement made with the
said Lord-Lieutenant.

“4, Tt is also agreed that the King shall support, at his expense, the gar-
rison which the governor shall order for the protection of said fort of Detroit,
and that the commandant and one other officer only, shall be maintained by
the Company.

‘5. The said commandant and soldiers shall not make any trade for furs



CITY OF DETROIT 89

with the savages nor French, directly nor indirectly, on any pretext whatever,
under pain of confiscation of the said furs, and other punishment prescribed
by the King.”’

Cadillac knew nothing of all this until July 18, 1702, when Arnault and
Radisson arrived at Detroit to take charge of affairs. They presented him with
a copy of the contract and showed their credentials as overseers. The informa-
tion came like the proverbial clap of thunder from a clear sky. On July 21,
1702, Cadillac left Detroit for Quebec, hoping to secure some modification of
the contract with the company, or, failing in that, to make terms with the
directors that would give him partial control of the post, at least. Under date
of September 25, 1702, he wrote from Quebec to Count Pontchartrain, giving
the following account of what had been accomplished at Detroit:

““ After the fort was built, and the dwellings, I had the land cleared there
and some French wheat sown on the 7th of October, not having had time to
prepare it well. This wheat, although sown hastily, came up very fine and was
cut on the 21st of July. I also had some sown in the spring, as is done in
Canada; it came up well enough, but not like that of the autumn. The land
having thus shown its quality, and taught me that the French tillage must be
followed, I left orders with M. de Tonty to take care to begin the sowing about
the 20th of September and I left him twenty arpents of land prepared. T have
no doubt he has increased it somewhat since my departure. I also had twelve
arpents or more sown this spring, in the month of May, with Indian corn which
came up eight feet high; it will have been harvested about the 20th of August
and T hope there will be a good deal of it. All the soldiers have their own
dwellings.”’ :

Then, after giving a detailed account of his building a boat, establishing a
vineyard for the cultivation of wild grape vines, and some other matters, he
continues: ‘‘All that I have had the honor to state to you has been done in
one year, without it having cost the King a sou, and without costing the com-
pany a double; and in twelve months we have put ourselves in a position to do
without provisions from Canada forever; and all this undertaking was carried
out with three months’ provisions, which T took when I set out from Montreal,
and which were consumed in the course of the journey. This proves whether
Detroit is a desirable or an undesirable country. Besides this, nearly six thou-
sands mouths of different tribes wintered there, as every one knows. All these
proofs, convincing as they are, cannot silence the enemies of my scheme; hut
they do begin to grow feeble and to diminish in violence. It may be said that
nothing more remains to them, good or bad, but their tongues.

““‘There are at Detroit a good fort, good dwellings and the means of living
and subsisting. There are three villages of the savages; the rest will very soon
come there. They are waiting to see whether what was promised them is being
carried out. It is for you to push this matter about the inhabitants (that de-
serves our attention on account of the war) and to consider whether you will
allow the inhabitants of Canada to settle there; to form a seminary to begin
to instruct the savage children in piety and in the French language; to allow
the Recollets to settle there in order to discharge their functions.”’

Unable to have the agreement with the company altered to any appreciable
extent, Cadillac returned to Detroit. Upon his arrival there on November 6,
1702, he found that the overseers had conducted matters in such a manner as
to incur the displeasure of the Indians. It had been Cadillac’s custom to treat
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his red brethren as though he had implicit confidence in their honesty, allowing
them the freedom of the fort during the day. As soon as he left for Quebec
in July, Radisson and Arnault ordered the warehouse, in which the goods were
stored, to be kept locked, and in other ways (particularly in the distribution of
brandy) treated the Indians with so much insolence that many of them were
about ready to desert the post. Cadillac did all he could to pacify his Indian
friends, who liked him personally, but his influence among them was weakened
when they saw he was subordinate to the despised overseers.

CADILLAC REGAINS POSSESSION

‘While the company was in charge of the post, Cadillac remained as com-
mandant on a salary of 2,000 livres per year, and was not required to bear
any part of the expense of maintaining the garrison. Under this arrangement
he was not shorn of his powers, always went about in military costume, with his
sword by his side, soldiers saluting him and ecivilians removing their hats as he
passed. But he was almost constantly involved in quarrels with the representa-
tives and employees of the company. On one occasion a clerk named Desnoyers
became rather saucy and Cadillac ordered him to be imprisoned for two hours.
Upon being released, he immediately began making preparations to desert his
post and return to Montreal, when he was again thrown into prison by the
commandant’s orders. In his defense before Count Pontchartrain, when asked
why Desnoyers had been so treated, Cadillac said:

“I did so because it is laid down in my orders that nobody, officer or
otherwise, is to set out from Detroit without my permission; yet the clerk,
Desnoyers, to continue his disobedience, had his boat put in the water and
loaded for Montreal (as he says) without speaking of it to me or saying
anything to me about it, claiming always that he was not subordinate to
me. * »* * .

‘“As to my powers, they are very ample, being to punish according to cir-
cumstances, by reprimands, by arrests, by imprisonment or by deprivation of
civil rights; and in case of distinct disobedience, to run my sword through any
one who has offended against me.’’

Although it was stipulated in the articles of agreement with the company
that the king would support the garrison, in the fall of 1703 the soldiers were
so poorly paid that nine of them deserted. They returned after a short absence
and were pardoned by Cadillac. About the same time Cadillac learned that
his captain, Tonty, had entered into a plot with the Jesuits of Michilimackinac
to cripple Detroit by encouraging the establishment of a new post at St. Joseph
on Lake Michigan. When confronted with the evidence of the conspiracy,
Tonty, it is said, admitted the truth and was likewise pardoned, on promise of
good behavior. These pardons indicate that Cadillac was not always unduly
severe in his administration of affairs.

Notwithstanding Tonty’s promise of good behavior, he was soon engaged in
another scheme. Cadillac detected him and one of the company’s commis-
sioners in the embezzlement of goods belonging to the company, for the pur-
pose of carrying on an illicit trade in furs. The furs they had collected were con-
fiscated and charges against the offenders were forwarded to the Marquis de
Vaudreuil, the governor-general. The commissioner was a relative of Vaudreuil
and an intimate friend of some of the directors of the company, who preferred
countercharges against Cadillac, and in the fall of 1704 he was summoned to
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appear before the governor and intendant for trial. He was acquitted, but was
not allowed to return to Detroit. Cadillac then appealed to the colonial min-
ister at Paris and received instructions while still at Quebec to present his
case to Count Pontchartrain. Vaudreuil then gave him permission to return
to Detroit, but Cadillac wanted a complete vindication. After a patient hear-
ing, Count Pontchartrain announced himself as satisfied that Cadillac had done
‘“all that could be expected of a faithful officer and an honest man,”” and
promised that the annoyances to which he had been subjected should be stopped.

On June 14, 1705, the company executed an agreement to restore to Cadillac
the post of Detroit and all its appurtenances. In accordance with this agree-
ment, the property was to be invoiced in the presence of M. de Tonty, Father
de IL’Halle and the company’s clerks, Cadillac to pay for the merchandise in
money or bills of exchange; that Count Pontchartrain was to decide whether
Cadillac should pay for the buildings erected by the company; that the new
proprietor was to supply the company with beaver skins not amounting in
value to more than twenty thousand livres per year; that he was not to trade
at any point on the lakes outside of Detroit; and that the company should have
the privilege of sending an inspector to see if that feature of the agreement
was being infringed. In addition, Cadillac was to defray the entire expense
of maintaining the post, except a portion of the priest’s salary, which was to
be paid by the inhabitants.

Cadillac’s victory was only temporary. Count Pontchartrain was unable
to keep his promise that the annoyances should be brought to an end and the
intriguing went on. The company did not want Detroit to be colonized, while
Cadillac’s ambition was to build up a permanent colony. To this end he had
caused a number of Indian bands to locate near the fort. The Huron village
was a short distance down the river, in the opposite direction were four bands
of the Ottawa and a Miami settlement, and the Wolf Indians occupied the land
known as the ‘‘King’s Commons.”” He also offered inducements to Canadians
to settle near the post and encouraged unmarried soldiers to take Indian wives.
Under his liberal policy, it is said that within eight months after he landed at
Detroit, his settlement promised to become a rival of Montreal or Quebee.
After more than four years of bickerings, his enemies succeeded in having him
removed. In the spring of 1710 he was appointed governor of Louisiana. So
many of his friends left at the same time that the town was practically de-
serted, though the original stockade had been previously enlarged to accom-
modate the growing population. To make matters worse for Cadillac, his sue-
cessor took all his property and refused to account for it. The value of this
property, as shown by an inventory taken in April, 1720, was as follows:

400 arpents of land at 100 franes................... 40,000.00
Loss of same for ten years at 6 francs per year........ 24,000.00
1 warehouse ........ciiiiii i e 3,000.00
House of M. de LaMothe .......... ... ... ... ... ... 2,500.00
2 other hoUSeS . ..o v i i e et 1,500.00
1 barn, ete. . .ovv e e 1,200.00
1 ostable ..ot e e 500.00
1 dove Cot voivii i e e 400.00
1 3Ce ROUSE vttt et it et et 300.00

Chapel and house of almoner ....................... 3,000.00
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Tmill oo PR 8,000.00
29 horned cattle and 1 horse ....................... 9,000.00
Loss of mill at 1,000 francs per year ................ 10,000.00

For 29 horned cattle which should have been bred dur-
ing the 10 years ..........oiiviieiiennennennnnn. 9,000.00
Furniture, grain, flour, tools, ete. ................ ... 7,000.00
Premium on same at 4 per cent .................... 2,800.00
Due for King’s service & care of sick................ 4,331.73
Total. .ot e e 126,531.73

The loss of this property, valued at 126,531 franes (or livres), 7 sous and
3 deniers, was a severe one to a man who had spent ten of the best years of his
life in building up a colony in the wilderness of North America, hoping thereby
te upho!d the honor of his king and enrich himself.

QUARREL WITH THE JESUITS

Cadillac was reared a Catholic and in his religious faith and practices was
decidedly partial to the Franciscan order. While commandant at Michilimack-
inac, he became embroiled with the Jesuit missionaries over the sale of brandy
to the Indians. The competition between the French and English for the con-
trol of the fur trade was then at its height. As the English traders were per-
mitted to sell intoxicating liquors to the natives in unlimited quantities, the
French claimed that it was necessary for them to pursue the same policy, in
order to prevent their rivals from obtaining a monopoly of the trade. The
Jesuits protested against the custom, and, knowing the commandant to be in
sympathy with the Franeciscans, tried to place all the blame on him, hoping to
have him removed and a commandant more friendly to their order appointed.
Cadillac had been at Michilimackinac but a few months when the Jesuits scored
a victory by having the transportation of brandy to the post prohibited.

On March 21, 1795, a deputation of Indians and French traders called on
Cadillac to remonstrate against the prohibition. One of the chiefs reminded
him that former commandants had not been so severe upon them, and said:
“If we are your friends, give us the liberty of drinking. Our beaver is worth
your brandy and the Great Spirit gave us both to make us happy. If you wish
to treat us as your enemies, or as slaves, do not be angry if we carry our beaver
to Orange or Cortland (English trading posts), where they will give us rum;
as much of it as we want.”’

After this incident, Cadillac wrote to a friend in Quebec that the Jesuits
had acted in bad faith and made misrepresentations to secure the order pro-
hibiting the shipment of brandy to the post. With him the interests of the
king and the French traders were paramount and he refused to obey the order.
By doing so he made a bitter and lasting enemy of Father Etienne de Carheil,
the Jesuit priest at the post.

Cadillac’s idea, in establishing the post of Detroit, was to make it sufﬁclently
powerful to check the aggressive campaign of the English for the trade of the
Indians of the upper lake country. His plan was to induce the Indians to
settle near the post, teach them-the French language, and thus make it possible
to bring about an alliance for their mutual protection. To accomplish this he
- made the right to supply the Indians with liquor one of the principal pro-
visions of his commission. He well knew that the adoption of such a policy,
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and his open preference for the Recollet priests, would still further alienate
the Jesuits, especially when they should learn that it was his determination
not to permit them to control the religious affairs of the post. He anticipated,
but did not fear, the opposition of Father Carheil, the Montreal traders and
Governor Callieres, who was an ardent supporter of the Jesuits, all of whom
realized that the settlement of the Indians near Fort Pontchartrain, where
they could easily obtain liquor, would draw a large part of the trade away from
Michilimackinac.

Although a stanch friend of the Franciscan order, Cadillac was not in-
tolerant. As already stated; when he left Montreal on June 2, 1701, Father
Valliant, a Jesuit priest, was one of his company. On the way to the Detroit
River, Cadillac noticed a discontent among the men and traced it to rumors
that they would not be paid for their services, that they would not be per-
mitted to bring their wives to Detroit, or to visit their families in Montreal, etec.
It had been settled before starting that Father Valliant was to go as a mis-
sionary to the Indians, and that his colleague, Father de L’Halle, was to be
the priest and almoner of the post. Cadillac knew that Father Valliant wanted
to be superior to Father de Ii’Halle, and suspected him with being the author
of the rumors. Soon after landing at Detroit, he called the men together, told
them frankly that he had observed their discontent and inquired the cause.
Father Valliant, seeing that a day of reckoning was at hand, and that he was
likely to be placed on record, hastily departed, without waiting for permission
or an escort, and went to Michilimackinac. After his departure no Jesuit offi-
ciated at Detroit for several years.

The absence of the Jesuits did not prevent them from engaging in intrigues
and doing many things to harass Cadillac and retard the growth of Detroit.
Under date of August 31, 1703, Cadillac wrote to Count Pontchartrain as
follows:

““You were good enough to write to me that the King wishes the missions
of Detroit to be administered by the Jesuit fathers, and that their Superior at
Quebec would grant me some who would be more in sympathy with me than
Father Valliant had been. It would appear that your orders were sufficient
to induce this Superior to provide for that mission promptly, especially after
the special favor you have done him by approving of Father Valliant remain-
ing in this country, after having opposed the will of His Majesty as he has done.

““The arrangement made by M. de Callieres also seemed to compel him,
absolutely, to have the mission provided for, as is clearly explained therein.
Yet you will see that, up to the present, the Jesuits have done nothing to carry
out His Majesty’s intentions, which you explained clearly both to M. de Callieres
and to their Superior at Quebec, with which you were pleased to acquaint me.

“I do not know whether they have sent you word that it was agreed, in
consequence of the arrangement which had been made, that the Company of
the Colony should pay to each missionary of Detroit the sum of 800 livres a
year; that it would have the things they would want for their food and cloth-
ing necessary for their use, brought for them at its cost and expense; and that
it would get dwellings for them in the villages of the savages until there was
time to build them more conveniently. I have carried out, for my part, the ar-
rangements which have been made; the Company has carried them out on its
side, having this spring (in accordance with the agreement) sent a boat on
purpose for Father Marest, Superior of Missilimakinak, who feigned important
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reasons for not coming here, so the Company has incurred that expense in vain,
as it had already done regarding Father Valliant.

““You wish me to be friendly with the Jesuits and not to pain them. Having
thought it well over, I have only found three ways of succeeding in that. The
first is to let them do as they like; the second to do everything they wish; the
third, to say nothing about what they do. By letting them do as they like,
the savages would not settle at Detroit and would not be settled there; to do
as they wish, it is necessary to cause the downfall of this post; and to say
nothing about what they do, it is necessary to do what I am doing; and (yet)
in spite of this last essential point, I still cannot induce them to be my friends.”’

To just what extent the antipathy of the Jesuit fathers was responsible for
the ultimate defeat of Cadillac’s plans at Detroit would be difficult to deter-
mine. Persons who engage in conspiracy or factional intrigue do not keep an
open record of their deeds. That they connived with the merchants of Mon-
treal and others for his downfall is certain, though it took them nearly ten
years to accomplish their purpose. It is equally certain that none rejoiced
more upon his final removal, to which they had contributed.

DISPOSAL OF LOTS

On June 14, 1704, Count Pontchartrain wrote to Cadillac, advising him of
a decrec giving him authority to make conveyances of the lands in and around
the village, though some of the lots and lands had been taken prior to that
time by some sort of an agreement, the exact nature of which is not known.
The lots inside the fort were small—about 20 by 25 feet,—though a few were
larger. The houses occupied by the soldiers belonged to the commandant, but
the civilians owned their homes. At the time the authority was granted by
the king to make conveyances, Cadillac was in the midst of his litigation with
the Company of the Colony and no lots were conveyed to individuals until in
March, 1707. Between that time and June 28, 1710, sixty-eight lots in the
village were granted to private citizens. He also granted a number of tracts
for agricultural purposes, which are known as the ‘‘French Farms’’ or ‘‘Private
Claims,”” and which are further described in Chapter XX of this work. The
complete description of all of Cadillac’s grants in the village, along the river
and in the ‘‘gardens’’ is published in Volume 33, pp. 373-82, of the Michigan
Pioneer and Historical Society Collections. The following list gives the num-
ber of each lot granted within the village and the name of the person receiving
it from Cadillac:

1. Pierre Chesne 13. Pierre Hemard

2. André Chouet 14. Antoine Dupuis dit Beauregard
3. DPierre Faverau dit LeGrandeur 15. Jacques L’Anglois

4. Joseph Despré 16. Guillaume Bovet dit Deliard

5. Salomon Joseph Du Vestin 17. Michael Massé

6. Pierre Leger dit Parisien 18. Michel Campo

7. Bonnaventure Compien dit 19. Louis Normand

L’Esperance 20. Francois Tesée

8. Jacob de Marsac dit Desrocher 21. Pierre Chantelon

9. M. D’Argenteuil 22. Francois Bienvenu dit de L’Isle
10. Jean Richard 23. Pierre Estevé
11. Jean Labatier dit Champagne 24. Blaise Surgere

12. Estienne Bontran 25. Pierre Poirier
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26. Antoine Ferron 48. Jerome Marliard

27. Pierre Tacet 49. André Bombardie

28. Francois Fafard de Lorme 50. Pierre Du Roy

29. Michel Dizier (Disier) 51. Pierre Roy

30. Jacob de Marsac 52. Francois Margue

31. ————— Rencontre 53. Antoine Magnant

32. ———————— Desloriers 54. Francois Bonne

33. ————— Xaintonge 55. Touissaints Dardennes
34. Jaeques Du Moulin 56. Pierre Bassinet

35. Guilleaume Aguet 57. TFrancois Brunet

36. Louis Gastineau 58. Antoine Beauregard
37. Joseph Parent 59. Marie Le Page

38. Martin Sirier 60. Jaeques Campo

39, ——— Quilenchivé 61. Jean Serond

40. M. Derancé 62. Pierre Robert

41, ——————— Du Figuier 63. I’ Arramée
42, —————— La Montagne 64. René Le Moine

43. Pierre Mallet 65. Jacques Le Moine

44. Antoine Dufresne 66. Paul Guillet

45. Jean Baptiste Chornic 67. Joseph Rinaud

46. Jean Casse 68. Antoine Tufté dit du Fresne

47. Paul L’ Anglois

Lot No. 59, conveyed to Marie Le Page, is the only record of a conveyance
to a woman in early Detroit. As an example of how Louis XIV conducted
colonial affairs, in 1716, after Cadillac had left to become governor of Louisiana,
all grants were annulled by royal edict and the titles reverted to the king.

FIRST WHITE WOMEN

In September, 1701, Madame Cadillac and Madame de Tonty left Quebec
for Fort Frontenac, intending to join their husbands at Detroit the following
spring, as soon as it was considered safe to undertake the journey. The treaty
with the Iroquois had just been concluded and they made their arrangements
to go by way of Lake Erie. When importuned by friends in Quebec to refrain
from such a toilsome and dangerous journey, especially as the country to which
she contemplated going was wild and barbarous, where she would be without
congenial company and attractions, Madame Cadillac replied: ‘‘Do not waste
your pity upon me, dear friends. I know the hardships, the perils of the
journey, the isolation of the life to which I am going; yet I am eager to go.
For a woman who truly loves her husband has no stronger attraction than his
company, wherever he may be.”’

Although the two women were accompanied only by Indians and rough
canoe men, they were treated with the utmost respect and arrived at Detroit
without aceident or adventure. The following description of their landing is
taken from Mary Catherine Crowley’s address at the Bi-Centénary celebra-
tion in 1901:

‘““One day toward the end of May (1702) the sentry whose pleasant task
it is to watech the river, beholds down toward the lake of the Eries a dark
objeet, just at the line where the blue-gray clouds and the silver waters meet;
so far off that it might almost be mistaken for a wild duck, which as it flies
dips its wings to the surface of the stream, a fog stealing up from the lake,
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or the smoke of an Indian fire from the land. As it draws nearer, however,
it is seen to be a canoe; another appears in its wake. The sentry calls the news
in a loud voice and every civilian in the little town hurries to the strand; the
occupants of the canoes may be a party of redskins returning from the lower
lakes, or perhaps even a band of Iroquois come with treacherous offerings of
peace belts, as they did at Michilimackinac.

“‘Monsieur de Cadillac orders the garrison under arms. The bateaux come
nearer; now a white banner waves from the prow of the foremost canoe as it
glides up the shining path made by the sunlight. A sunbeam kisses the flag,
and at the same moment the spectators on the shore catch sight of its golden
fleurs de lis. A glad shout goes up from a hundred throats: ‘This is verily
the convoy from Fort Frontenac!” * * * Now we distinguish the figures
in the canoes; the Indian rowers, the sturdy forms of the Canadians who form
the escort of the women, the happy wives of the soldiers. In the stern of the
ladies’ flagship we see Madame de Tonty, buxom and comely, a charming pic-
ture of a young matron of New France; Madame Cadillac, handsome and gra-
ciously dignified as the wife of the seigneur should be, yet with a bright, glad
smile. Against her knee leans little Jacques, her six year old son, who calls
out cheerily at the sight of his father and of his older brother Antoine, who
came with Cadillae.” :

MADAME CADILLAC TABLET

At noon on May 30, 1903, a tablet commemorative of the arrival of these
first white women in Detroit was unveiled with appropriate ceremonies. It is
located on the Detroit Art Museum, at the corner of Hastings Street and Jef-
ferson Avenue, and shows in bas-relief Madame Cadillac landing from the
canoe, greeted by her husband, while Indians are seen pecring from behind
the trees farther back from the river.

The idea of the tablet originated with Mrs. Marguerite Beaubien, by whom
it was unveiled. It was presented to the city and the Detroit Museum of Art
by Mrs. Bertram C. Whitney, president of the Women’s Bi-Centenary Com-
mittee; was accepted for the city by Mayor William C. Maybury, and for the
Museum of Art by Theodore C. Buhl, custodian of the museum. The memorial
address was delivered by Alfred Russell.

A FEW FIRST THINGS

A few events, each the first of its kind, that occurred in old Detroit, be-
tween the time it was founded and the departure of Cadillac in 1711, were:

The first white child born in the village was a daughter of Alphonse de
Tonty and his wife. She was named Therese, in honor of Madame Cadillac.
The exact date of birth is not known.

The first recorded baptism was that of Marie Therese, daughter of Antoine
de LaMothe and Therese Cadillac. Farmer gives the date of this baptism as
February 2, 1704.

The first known death was that of Father Constantine de I.’Halle, who was
killed by an Indian in the summer of 1706.

The first wheat ever sown in Michigan was sown at Detroit on October 7,
1701, by direction of Cadillac.



CHAPTER VII
DETROIT UNDER FRENCH RULE

FRENCH COMMANDANTS AFTER CADILLAC-—PIERRE ALPHONSE DE TONTY—SIEUR DE
BOURGMONT—SIEUR DUBUISSON—FRANCOIS DE LA FOREST—JACQUES CHARLES
SABREVOIS—SIEUR DE LOUVIGNY—PICOTE DE BELESTRE—SIEUR DESCHAILLONS—
SIEUR DE BOISHEBERT—SIEUR DE LIVANDIERE-—NICOLAS JOSEPH DESNOYELLES
—PIERRE JACQUES PAYAN DE NOYAN—PIERRE JOSEPH CELORON—PAUL JOSEPII
LE MOINE—SIEUR DE MUY —JEAN BAPTISTE HENRY BERANGER-—PICOTE DE BE-
LESTRE II—FIFTY-NINE YFARS ' PROGRESS.

The principal events in the history of Detroit from 1701 to 1710—while
Cadillac was commandant—have been chronicled in the preceding chapter.
During that period Cadillac sent frequent reports to the governor-general of
New FKrance, and to Paris, concerning the condition of the post. None of his
successors was so enterprising in this respect, and many events that occurred
between 1710 and 1760 are left, to a considerable degree, in obscurity. The
purpose of this chapter is to give a list of the commandants that followed
Cadillae, in the order in which they served, together with such information
regarding the occurrences under cach as could be gleaned from sources con-
sidered reliable. The first commandant after Cadillac was

PIERRE ALPHONSE DE TONTY

Pierre Alphonse de Tonty, Baron de Paludy, a son of Laurent and Angelique
(de Liette) de Tonty, was born in 1659. His father is credited with having
been the inventor of Tontine insurance. An older brother, Henry de Tonty,
was La Salle’s lieutenant in the efforts to discover the mouth of the Mississippi
River. He wore an artificial hand and was called by the Indians ‘‘The man
with the iron hand.””

Alphonse de Tonty was an associate and confidant of Cadillac and accom-
panied him to the Detroit River in 1701 as second in command. When Cadillac
was called to Montreal in 1704, and placed under arrest upon his arrival, Tonty
was left in charge of the post. Soon after Cadillac’s departure, Tonty began
selling powder to the Indians and also became involved in the embezzlement of
furs belonging to the Company of the Colony. This caused Cadillac to lose
confidence in a man whom he had trusted implicitly, and at his solicitation
Tonty was removed. M. de la Forest was made temporary commandant on
September 25, 1705, but was succeeded in the following January by Sieur de
Bourgmont, of whom more will be said later.

It appears that when Cadillac returned to Detroit in 1706, he pardoned
Tonty, who remained at the post and secretly worked to destroy the influence

of his superior officer among the Indians. It is reported that he received a
Vol. 1I—7
97
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pension of 6,000 francs a year for this service. In July, 1717, he was made
commandant, though four others had preceded him in that position after the
removal of Cadillac. At that time the commandant was required to pay all
the expenses of the post, a missionary, an interpreter, presents for the Indians,
clothing, subsistence and a surgeon for the soldiers of the garrison, all out of
the profits derived from his trade. Tonty borrowed 26,246 livres, 18 sous and
4 deniers from Francois Bouat to invest in goods for trade with the Indians.
He did not succeed as well as he anticipated, his debt to Bouat was a source
of constant anxiety, and he turned the trade over to Francois La Marque and
Louis Gastineau for an annuity. They took in three other partners—Thierry,
Nolan and Gouin—and these five controlled the trade, paying Tonty every year
a sum sufficient for the maintenance of the post.

During Cadillac’s time, and for some years after he left, it was the custom
to hold a sort of fair every year, usually lasting three days. On these occa-
sions the Indians came to the post and bought such goods as they wanted, pay-
ing for them with their furs. There were at first twenty or more stores, from
which the natives could purchase. Under the Tonty administration they found
but two stores, both owned by the same persons, with no competition in prices,
which were higher than ever before. This created great dissatisfaction among
the Indians, and also among the French or Canadians, causing trade to decrease
to an alarming extent. Many left the post. Others appealed to Tonty for
relief, but he could do nothing, having disposed of his trading rights under an
agreement that could not be broken.

Complaints were lodged against him, by both the leading citizens and the
Indians, and early in the winter of 1721-22 Tonty went to Quebec to answer
the charges. During his absence Sieur de Belestre discharged the duties of
commandant. In 1724 Tonty was again summoned to Quebec to answer charges
made against him by Francois La Marque, who had purchased from Cadillac
certain rights at Detroit, but was forbidden by Tonty to visit the post for the
purpose of looking after his interests. When the Marquis de Beauharnois be-
came governor of New France early in 1727, Tonty went to Quebec to welcome
him and to make certain recommendations for the improvement of the post. He
failed to make a favorable impression on the new governor. To make matters
worse for him, the Huron Indians were threatening to abandon their village
near Detroit and remove to the Maumee River, unless they were given a new
commandant. This threat outweighed anything Tonty could bring to bear, as
it was plain that if the Indians went to the Maumee (now Toledo, Ohio), their
trade would go to the English, which would ruin Detroit. Beauharnois told
the Indians that Tonty’s term would expire the following spring, when they
should have a new commandant. He was therefore relieved of the command
in the spring of 1728.

Tonty was twice married. His first wife, to whom he was married on Feb-
ruary 17, 1689, was Marianne, daughter of Picote de Belestre, afterward second
in command and acting commandant of Detroit. His second wife was Marianne,
a daughter of Francois La Marque. Her first husband was J. B. Nolan, to
whom she was married on May 3, 1669, and after his death she became the wife
of Antoine de Fresnel (or Fruel) de Pipadiere. Tonty was therefore her third
matrimonial venture. Madame de Tonty did not accompany her husband to
Detroit in 1701, but came the following spring with Madame Cadillac. Tonty
died at Detroit on November 10, 1727.
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SIEUR DE BOURGMONT

The name of Ktienne Venyard, Sieur de Bourgmont, first appears in the
post records as commandant on January 29, 1706, when he succeeded La Forest
as temporary commandant during Cadillac’s absence. He had been described
as a ‘‘big blustering coward,”” and some of his acts while at Detroit bear out
the deseription. The several Indian bands located near the village were not
always on amicable terms with each other, quarrels among them were of fre-
quent occurrence and the citizens were in constant fear of an uprising. The
post needed a commandant who understood the Indian character better than
Bourgmont to preserve the peace, but instead of adopting a policy to keep the
savages quiet, he acted in such a manner that they became more restless than
before his coming. In June, 1706, a dog helonging to an Indian of one band
bit an Indian of another. The enraged Indian kicked the dog, which started
trouble inside the fort. Bourgmont rushed out of his quarters, fell upon the
Indian who had been bitten, and beat him severely. All the Indians were
aroused over the incident, but by the exercise of diplomacy on the part of the
citizens in whom the Indians had confidence, serious trouble was averted.

Before the return of Cadillac, Bourgmont deserted the post, taking with
him several soldiers of the garrison and a woman named Tichenet, with whom
he had maintained relations that caused a scandal in the village. The deserters
established a camp on the shores of Lake Erie. As soon as Cadillac returned
he sent a detachment of soldiers to arrest them. Bourgmont and all the de-
serters except one succeeded in making their escape. The one captured was
brought back to Detroit, tried by a court martial and shot. For some time
Bourgmont was hunted by French soldiers, but he managed to avoid them and
in time his offense was apparently forgotten.

In 1718 a letter from him reached the French court, stating that for several
vears he had been living among the Indians on the Missouri River, and asking
for 2,000 livres to be used in purchasing presents for them. He also stated
that he had heard of a people four or five hundred leagues from where he wrote
—a people who were small, very numerous, deformed, with large eyves and flat
noses, and who wore clothing like that worn by Europeans, their boots being
covered with spangles of shining metal. He also stated that these people were
always occupied in good work, possessed an abundance of gold and fine jewels,
and were believed to be related to the Chinese.

On August 12, 1720, he was commissioned to lead an expedition to make
peace with the Indians of New Mexico and to establish a post on the Missouri
River. Margry, in Volume VT of his works, gives a detailed account of Bourg-
mont’s wanderings through the wilds west of the Mississippi River. He suec-
ceeded in his mission and established a post on the Missouri, which he called
the Fort of Orleans, but two vears later it was abandoned.

SIEUR DUBUISSON

The fourth man to occupy the position of commandant at Detroit was
Charles Regnault, Sieur Dubuisson. When Cadillac was removed in 1710,
Francois de la Forest was appointed as his successor. He had previously served
a brief term as temporary commandant, and being old and infirm he requested
that Dubuisson be sent to take charge of the post for a time. By La Forest’s
direction Dubuisson took all of Cadillac’s property, real and personal, and
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would not permit him to sell or remove it. This action was not approved by
the governor-general, but no reparation was ever made.

Many of the people living at Detroit, especially those who were personal
friends of Cadillac and unmarried, packed up their effects and went back’ to
Montreal and Quebec. This so reduced the population that Dubuisson decided
to decrease the size of the village inclosure, which in previous years had been
enlarged to accommodate the growing population. Originally, the village in-
cluded the land measured along the line of the present Jefferson Avenue from
Griswold to Wayne streets, with lots on both sides of St. Anne Street, which
almost coincided with the present north line of Jefferson Avenue. Dubuisson
divided the village into two nearly equal parts and built a new palisade in
such a manner as to exclude about half of the old village from the protection
of the garrison. This did not please the people, particularly those left outside
of the new palisade. A meeting was called, at which a remonstrance was drawn
up and signed by many of the leading men of the village. This was sent to
Cadillae, but the old commandant could do nothing for them. In May, 1712,
the village was attacked by the Fox Indians and those outside the garrison
were the greatest sufferers. An account of this attack is given in Chapter
XXXIII. Soon after this event La Forest arrived and Dubuisson continued
at the post as second in command. ’

After the death of La Forest, Dubuisson served as commandant until the
arrival of Sabrevois. From 1723 to 1727 he was in command at the Miamis,
a post on the Maumee River a short distance above the present City of Toledo.
In 1729 he was in command at Michilimackinac with the rank of captain, after
which he seems to have dropped out of sight.

FRANCOIS DE LA FOREST

Technically speaking, Francois de la Forest (sometimes written La Foret)
was the second actual commandant, having been appointed to succeed Cadillac.
He was born in the City of Paris in 1648 and soon after attaining to his ma-
jority was commissioned a captain in the marine service. In 1679 he accom-
panied La Salle to Fort Frontenac and to the Illinois country the following
year. In 1682 he was in command at Fort Frontenac and assisted the governor
in negotiating a treaty with the Iroquois Indians, accompanying them to Mont-
real. Shortly after this Count Frontenac was removed from the office of gov-
ernor and his successor seized Fort Frontenac (belonging to La Salle). La
Barre, the new governor, who had thus seized the property, would not permit
La Forest to return there and he went to France to enter his protest against
the confiscation of La Salle’s property in this high-handed manner, though he
did the same thing to Cadillac a few years later. In the spring of 1684 he
returned to Canada, with orders to La Barre to restore Fort Frontenac to him
as the agent of La Salle. The orders also directed the governor to assist La
Forest in maintaining the establishment which La Salle had made at the Fort.
From the summer of 1685 to 1687 he was in command at Fort St. Louis, which
had been established by La Salle in the Illinois country.

On September 11, 1691, La Forest left Quebec with 110 men for Michili-
mackinac, with Tonty as second in command. After some time at that post,
he returned to Quebec, where on November 11, 1702, he married Charlotte
Francoise Juchereau, a wealthy widow. The one child born to this union died
in infaney. On September 25, 1705, he was appointed commandant at Detroit
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in the absence of Cadillac. The appointment was only temporary and lasted
but a few weeks. Upon Cadillac’s return a difference of opinion arose between
him and La Forest, and the latter went back to Quebec. In 1710 he was ap-
pointed as Cadillac’s suceessor, but sent Dubuisson to administer the affairs of
the post until the summer of 1712. It was at this time that he appropriated all
of Cadillac’s property, amounting in value to more than one hundred and
twenty-five thousand livres, and never accounted for any of it. La Forest died
at Quebec on October 16, 1714.

JACQUES CHARLES SABREVOIS

Succeeding La Forest came Jacques Charles Sabrevois, Sieur de Bleury, a
son of Henry and Gabrielle (Martin) Sabrevois, who was born in 1667. He
came to America in the latter part of the Seventeenth Century and in 1695-96
held a commission as lieutenant in the war with the Iroquois. Little can be
learned regarding his career during the next quarter of a century. A decree
of the royal council in 1720, cites the fact that Sabrevois was appointed com-
mandant at Detroit in 1712, two years before the death of La Forest. Ramezay
used his influence to prevent him from going to Detroit and he was not permit-
ted to go there until the latter part of 1714 or the early part of 1715.

Acting upon the belief that he was to be given the exclusive right of trade
at Detroit, Sabrevois expended a considerable sum of money. He paid an in-
terpreter 800 livres a year, an almoner 600, a surgeon 150, and was liberal in
other ways. In 1717 he was removed and was succeeded by Alphonse de Tonty.
Just before his departure, Sabrevois called the citizens of Detroit together and
pointed out to them the condition of the fort. One curtain of the fort and one
line of pickets he pronounced as worthless and asked the people to assist him in
rebuilding it for the general welfare of the village. All except three men—
Baby, Dusable and Neven—agreed to bear a portion of the expense. These
three subsequently persuaded the others to withdraw their support. Sabrevois
then undertook the work at his own expense, but did not finish it before he left.
He then applied to the court for financial relief, asking to be reimbursed for
all his expenses, because he had not been given the trade of the post, but his
petition was denied. The rebuilding of the fort was completed by Tonty in 1718.

Sabrevois’ management of the post was evidently satisfactory to his superiors,
as in 1718 he was created a Chevalier of the Military Order of St. Louis. From
1721 to 1724 he was commandant at Fort Chambly. He then returned to
Montreal and was made major of that city. where he died while holding that
office on June 19, 1727. On November 16, 1695, he married Jean Boucher and
to them were born six children.

An incident in the early life of Sabrevois shows that he was acquainted with
Cadillac. On the evening of May 2, 1686, when he was only about nineteen
years of age, he met Cadillac at the boarding house of Louise Mousseau, in the
lower town of Quebec. Sabrevois mentioned that he was going to the upper
town to call on a lady and in the conversation Cadillac characterized him
as a ‘‘sharper.”” This was resented by the youngster, angry words followed
and both started to draw their swords when they were separated by the by-
standers. Cadillac then picked up a heavy brass candlestick and hurled it
at his opponent, knocking him down. The candle was extinguished, leaving
the room in darkness, and Cadillac made a hasty exit, supposing that he had
killed Sabrevois, who, in fact, was only slightly injured. Governor Denonville
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learned of the affair and ordered an investigation. The testimony was reduced
to writing,” but the records do not show that either of the contestants was
punished.

SIEUR DE LOUVIGNY

Some authorities give the name of Louis de la Porte, Sieur de Louvigny,
as commandant at Detroit, succeeding Tonty in 1728, but the records do not
corroborate the statement. If he was ever commandant it must have been only
in a temporary capacity at some period subsequent to the appointment of Tonty
in 1717 and during the absence of that officer from the post.

Louvigny was a native of France, but was in Canada as early as 1682.
From 1690 to 1694 he was commandant at Michilimackinae, immediately pre-
ceding Cadillac, and in 1700 his name appears as commandant at Fort Fron-
tenac. The laws of New France prohibited the commandant of that post from
trading with the Indians. A party of Iroquois visited the fort with a large
quantity of furs and told Louvigny that they were on their way to Albany
to sell the skins to the English, but would sell to him if he desired to buy.
He purchased the peltries, for which he paid 60,000 livres, and sent them to
Quekee. The Jesuits learned of the transaction and informed the governor,
who removed Louvigny and caused the furs to be confiscated.

Louvigny was appointed major of Three Rivers, Canada, in 1701 and held
that office for about two years, when he became major of Quebec. In 1703 he
came to Detroit as an officer in the garrison under Cadillac, but did not remain
long at the post. In 1716 he led an expedition against the Fox Indians. On
that occasion he passed through Detroit and reported the post there as one of
the best fortified in the country. While on this expedition he was appointed
lieutenant-governor of Canada, assuming the duties of the position upon his
return to Quebec. He lost his life in a shipwreck near Louisburg on August
27, 1725. ’

PICOTE DE BELESTRE

The full name of this officer was Francois Marie Picote de Belestre. It is
questionable whether he was ever really appointed commandant at Detroit,
though he may have served as such at various times between 1718 and 1727,
during the absences of Tonty. Belestre was born in 1677 and was twice mar-
ried. His first wife was Anne Bouthier, who died in 1710, and his second
wife was Marie Catherine Trotier, a widow. By his second marriage he had
two children, one of whom afterward became commandant at Detroit. He died
at Detroit on October 9, 1729.

SIEUR DESCHAILLONS

Upon the death of Tonty in 1727, Jean Baptist de St. Ours, Sieur Deschail-
lons was appointed to fill the vacancy. He was about fifty-eight years of age
at the time he received the appointment, having been born in 1670. On Novem-
ber 25, 1705, he married Marguerite La Guardeur and to this marriage were
born nine children. In July, 1708, France and England being at war, he led
a force of about one hundred British troops and some Indians against the New
England settlements. In the assault on Haverhill, Massachusetts, it is said he en-
couraged the savages to massacre the inhabitants. The next year Governor
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Vaudreuil sent him to Lake Champlain, and later he was ordered to march
against the Fox Indians about Detroit and Mackinaw.

In 1719 Deschaillons was appointed commandant of the post at Michili-
mackin&e, but held the position for only about one year. His record during
the next few years seems to have been lost, as nothing more can be learned about
him until he was appointed commandant at Detroit in the early part of 1728.
He remained at Detroit until the spring of 1729. It is said his short stay there
was due to his desire not to forfeit his opportunity for promotion in the army
by settling down as commandant of a frontier post. He died at Quebec on
June 9, 1747.

SIEUR DE BOISHEBERT

Following Deschaillons came Louis Henry Deschamps, Sieur de Boishebert,
a son of Jean Baptiste Deschamps and his wife, Catherine Gertrude Macard.
He was born at Quebec on February 8, 1679. When about two years old, his
mother died and his father removed to Riviere Quelle, where he founded an
establishment and married Jeanne Marguerite Chevalier in 1701. His death
occurred about two years after his second marriage.

Louis entered the army almost as soon as he was old enough to be accepted
by the military authorities. In 1699 he was engaged in the war with the Iro-
quois Indians, under the command of the Marquis de Vaudreuil. In 1701
he was sent by Governor Callieres to hold a council with the Indians at Michili-
mackinac. While he was absent on his mission, Callieres died and Boishebert
received no remuneration for his services. During Queen Anne’s war, he was
sent to guard the harbors of Newfoundland. Near Boston he assisted in the
capture of three English vessels loaded with powder—a prize of great im-
portance to the Canadians, whose supply of powder was very low.

Boishebert made his heme in Acadia during this period. In 1709 he went
overland to Quebec to solicit aid for the Arcadians, who were in great want.
On this journey le dislocated his foot, which rendered him a cripple for the
remainder of his life. He was employed as assistant engineer on the forti-
fications of Quebec in 1711-12, and the next year made a map of the Labrador
coast for the naval council. He was then appointed adjutant of Quebeec and
held that position for about eighteen years. On December 10, 1721, he mar-
ried at Quebec Genevieve de Ramezay, daughter of Claude de Ramezay, who
was afterward governor of Montreal.

The exact date of his appointment to the command of Detroit is uncertain,
but it was probably in the spring of 1730. He started for Detroit in the early
summer of that year and held the position of commandant for about three
years. During his term of office there was an improvement in the conditions at
Detroit. He returned to Montreal in 1733 and died there on June 6, 1736.

SIEUR DE LIVANDIERE

Soon after Boishebert left for Montreal, Ives Jacques Hugues Pean, Sieur
de Livandiere, came to Detroit as commandant. He was born in Paris in
1682 and was a son of Jean Pierre Pean and his wife, Anne de Corbarboineau.
That he held a commission of some sort in the army is almost certain, though
the records do not show his rank. His career after he came to America was
of a military nature. On June 25, 1722, he was united in marriage with Marie
Francoise Pecody, daughter of Antoine Pecody and his wife, Jeanne de St.
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Ours, of Montreal. Three sons and a daughter were born to this union. In
1724 he was appointed commandant of Fort Frontenac and three years later
he occupied a similar position at Fort Chambly.

‘When he came to Detroit in° 1733, the garrison consisted of only seventeen
soldiers, though there were in the village eighty men capable of bearing arms.
Pean was a man of good judgment and executive ability and the improvement
that began under Boishebert continued throughout his term of three years.
In 1734 the population and importance of the village had grown to such pro-
portions as to justify the appointment of a royal notary. Robert Navarre was
chosen for the position. He was a son of that Robert Navarre who came to
Detroit in 1728, and a lineal descendant of Antoine Navarre, Duke de Vendome,
a half-brother of Henry IV, King of France and Navarre. The notary was
born at Detroit in 1739 and married Louise de Marsac, a granddaughter of
Jacob de Marsac, who came as a sergeant with Cadillac to Detroit in 1701.
Before his appointment the only records kept at the post were those of St.
Anne’s Church. He began the public records, among which were the marriage
contracts, which always preceded the church wedding. He was a man of high
character and served as justice, notary, surveyor and collector until the sur-
render of the post to the English in 1760. The British commandants continued
him in office for many years. His death occurred on November 21, 1791.

In his report for 1735 Pean stated that the wheat crop of that year was
between thirteen and fourteen hundred minots, that it had been safely har-
vested, and that the price had fallen to three livres a minot. As the minot at
Detroit was equivalent to a bushel, the price of wheat was therefore sixty cents
per bushel. Prior to this time the chief exports were furs and maple sugar,
but in this year some wheat was exported.

‘While at Detroit, Pean was granted ‘‘a tract of land called Livandiere,
or Riviere Chazy, two leagues or two and half leagues in width by three leagues
in depth along the River Chambly and Lake Champlain, with the River Chazy
in the midst, also the Isle LaMothe.”” This grant was confirmed on February
8, 1735, but in 1744 it was discovered that a portion of it had previously been
granted to other parties, so that Pean’s concession was cut in two. He was
again confirmed in the possession of a tract one and a half leagues wide by
three deep, and, as a sort of indemnity, was granted another parcel three-
fourths of a league wide on Lake Champlain. In the documents relating to
these land grants he is designated as ‘‘a Chevalier of the Military Order of St.
Louis, late captain and now major of Quebec, and commandant at Detroit.”’

Through the reports and letters of Pean, the Quebec government was
awakened to the importance of Detroit and a change of sentiment became
noticeable. A few months after the expiration of Pean’s term in 1736, Hoc-
quart, the intendant at Quebec, recommended the increase of the garrison to
sixty men, with the proper officers, and other measures were taken to strengthen
the post. Pean retained the office of major of Quebec until his death on Janu-
ary 26, 1747. Says Mr. Burton:

‘“An injustice has been done to Pean by the late Judge Campbell and some
others who have written about him, in confounding the commandant Pean
with his son who bore the same name. It is related that the son, Michael Jean
Hugues Pean, became powerful in Canadian affairs and infamous through the
relations existing between his wife and the Intendant Bigot; that he counte-
nanced the intrigue and reaped a financial benefit from it. He formed one of
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a number of conspirators who ruined French Canada and finally gave it up
to the British in 1760. Young Pean was taken to Paris and confined for some
years in the Bastile, tried for his misdemeanors, convicted and sentenced to
pay a fine of 600,000 livres. It is only necessary to examine the dates at which
these transactions are recorded to prove that the commandant Pean is not the
notorious Pean who helped to ruin Canada. Commandant Pean died on January
26, 1747, and the imprisonment of the son in the Bastile began on November
13, 1761. His trial commenced a little later and was protracted three years.”’

NICOLAS JOSEPII DESNOYELLES

The last name of this commandant is sometimes written ‘‘Noyelle’’ or
“Desnoyelle.”” e was horn in France in 1694 and was the son of Col. Joseph
Desnoyelles, of Crecy. He came to America in his youth, entered the army
and in 1736 held a commission as captain in the marine departinent, having
arrived at that distinetion by successive promotions. Six years prior to that
time he was in command at the Miamis, a post on the Maumee River a few
miles above the present City of Toledo. According to Ferland’s ‘‘Historie
du Canada,’”’ Desnoyelles left Montreal in August, 1734, with eighty French
troops and about one hundred thirty Indians, in a campaign against the Sac
and Fox Indians. He passed through Detroit, where he received reinforce-
ments of Huron and Pottawatomi Indians, and after a march of seven months
found the Sac and Fox warriors to the number of 250 on the Des Moines River.
After a skirmish the enemy withdrew to a fort built by the women and children.
Part of the Indians who had aceompanied Desnoyelles had returned to their
villages, leaving him only 240 men. With this force he deemed it imprudent
to attack. A parley was held, in which the Sac and Fox promised to separate
and the latter tribe was sent north to the bay.

Governor Beauharnois appointed Desuoyelles cominandant at Detroit in 1736
to succeed Pean, but the appointment was not approved by the government at
Paris. Unaware of the king’s veto, he left Montreal on May 6, 1736, and in
due time arrived at Detroit. The king appointed Pierre Jacques Payan de
Noyan, but he did not go at once to Detroit, and Governor Beauharnois did not
remove Desnoyelles, reporting that he was ‘‘universally beloved by all the
French and savages and that he was disinterested in his work for the service.”’
It is said that he served the entire term of three years without being apprised of
the king’s refusal to confirm his appointment. After retiring from the office
of commandant, he joined the explorer Verendrye in one of his expeditions
to the westward in an effort to discover a passage by water to the Pacific Ocean.
The date of his death could not be ascertained.

PIERRE .JACQUES PAYAN DE NOYAN

Under date of October 5, 1738, Pierre Jacques Payan de Noyan, Sieur de
Charvis (or Chavois), wrote to the Freuch colonial minister from Montreal :
“My Lord:—I have received with all the respect and gratitude of which I
am capable, the new proofs of the kindness with which your highness honors
me, in having been pleased to select me to command at Detroit. I know, my
Lord, how greatly the honor of that confidence ought to spur me on to seek
means of justifying it to your highness, despite my humble capacity. I feel
to deserve their marked favor will result in the fulfillment of what is required
of me. I do not feel able, my Lord, to make any proposal as to the settlement
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of this post. I am, as yet, unaware what means you wish to be employed and
the methods you preseribe for me, the Marquis de Beauharnois not having
done me the honor to inform me of them.”’ ‘

It seems that the writer of this letter had been appointed commandant
of Detroit in the place of Desnoyelles, but his acceptance of the position was
delayed on account of a surgical operation, as the intendant wrote to the Paris
government in the fall of 1738 that ‘‘he has recovered from the operation that
was performed last spring on his left breast and he counts on being able to
take up his appointment at Detroit next spring. M. de Beauharnois will give
him orders to do so. He will therefore then be installed as commandant.”’

Payan was born at Montreal on November 3, 1695. His father was Pierre
Payan, Sieur de Noyan, and his mother was Catherine Jeanne Le Moine (or
Le Moyne), a member of the celebrated family of that name that furnished
so many men prominent in the annals of Canada and Louisiana. Previous to
his appointment as commandant of Detroit, he served as captain of a company
in the marine department and later as major. In 1726, while serving with
his uncle, Sieur de Bienville, then governor of Louisiana, the latter was removed
from his office as governor and summoned to Paris to explain his official conduct.
Payan accompanied his uncle, but their explanations were not satisfactory to
the court, which was already prejudiced against Bienville. They returned to
America and on November 17, 1731, Payan married Catherine Daillebout. Of
their four children, Pierre Louis was born in Detroit.

Payan assumed his duties as commandant in the spring of 1739 and rendered
himself unpopular with certain elements on account of his efforts to check the
sale of liquor to the Indians. In 1740 he went to Montreal to obtain an order
to that effect, but returned to Detroit in 1742 to finish the remainder of his term
—only a few weeks. In 1749 he was made major and governor of Montreal,
which was probably his last public service. '

PIERRE JOSEPH CELORON

Pierre Joseph Celoron, Sieur de Blainville, the fifth child and eldest son of
Jean Baptiste Celoron and his wife, Helene Picote de Belestre, was one of the
most noted of Detroit’s commandants. Following the example of so many young
men of that period, he chose a military career and in 1734 was commandant
at Michilimackinac with the rank of lieutenant. He was sent to New Orleans
to assist the French settlers of Louisiana in their war with the Chickasaw
Indians. He was appointed commandant at Detroit on July 6, 1742. He served
there until in June, 1744, when he was sent to Niagara. During the next six
years he was employed on several important missions for the Canadian Gov-
ernment. In 1747 he convoyed a quantity of provisions from Quebec to De-
troit, and in 1749 he led an expedition down the Ohio River to plant the leaden
plates setting forth France’s claims to the country. This work he performed
so well that in 1750 he was again appointed commandant at Detroit. Burton’s
‘“‘Early Detroit’’ says:

“‘During Celoron’s second term, the governor of Canada offered, as an in-
ducement to people to settle at Detroit, to assist them with articles necessary
to sustain them for two or three years. Each head of a family was given a
farm, of the usual size, rations for the members from the military stores, tools
and implements of husbandry. Many families came up and settled here
under these inducements, and yet the plan was not very popular. The materials
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furnished these farmers in the way of tools and stock were not gifts but loans,
and were expected to be repaid when the people became permanently settled.
A full list of these emigrants has been preserved, containing the names of fifty-
four heads of families. Many of the newecomers were young men without wives
and young women were so scarce that Celoron wrote to ask for girls to become
wives to the young farmers.”’

Celoron served as commandant until the beginning of the French and
Indian war. In 1755 he was in command of the Canadian militia that attacked
the British post at Lake George. He was appointed major of Montreal while
the war was in progress and died there on April 12, 1759. Celoron Island,
at the mouth of the Detroit River, bears his name.

On December 30, 1724, Celoron married Marie Madeleine Blondeau, who
bore him three children. After her death he married Catherine Eury de La
Parelle at Montreal on October 13, 1743. Of the nine children of this union,
three were born at Detroit. His widow survived him and in 1777 became a
member of the Grey Nuns of Montreal, under the name of Sister Marie Cather-
ine Eury La Parelle. A daughter, Marie Madeleine, was also a member of the
same order.

PAUL JOSEPH LE MOINE

In 1743, a few months before the conclusion of Celoron’s first term as com-
mandant, Paul Joseph Le Moine (or Le Moyne), Chevalier de Longueil, was
appointed as his successor. He was a son of Charles Le Moine, Baron de Longue-
ville, and was born at Longueville on September 19, 1701, when the settlement
at Detroit was not quite two months old. The Le Moine family was one of the
most illustrious in the annals of Canada and Louisiana. Says Parkman:
‘““Charles Le Moyne, son of an inn keeper of Dieppe and founder of a family
the most truly eminent in Canada, was a man of sterling qualities, who had been
long enough in the colonies to learn to live there. He had ten sons who made
themselves famous in the history of their times.’’

The ten sons were: Charles, Baron de Longueville; Jacques, Sieur de Ste.
Helene; Pierre, Sieur d’Iberville; Paul, Sieur de Maricourt; Francois, Sieur
de Bienville; Joseph, Sieur de Serigny; Louis, Sieur de Chatecauguay; Jean
Baptiste, Sieur de Bienville; Gabriel, who died at sea while serving in the ma-
rine guard; Antoine, governor of Cayenne. A daughter, Catherine Jeanne,
married Pierre Payan, Sieur de Noyan, as previously mentioned.

On October 19, 1728, Paul Joseph Le Moine and Marie Genevieve de Joy-
bert were united in marriage at Quebec. They became the parents of eleven
children, none of whom was born during their residence in Detroit. Between
the time of his marriage and his appointment as commandant at Detroit, Le
Moine was employed in various positions of responsibility in connection with
Canadian affairs. At the expiration of his term at Detroit in 1748, he was
made second in command at that post. He took an active part in the French
and Indian war and in 1757 was sent as an emissary to the Six Nations of Indians
to enlist their cooperation in the war against the English. Soon after the close
of that war he went to France and died in Tours on May 12, 1778.

SIEUR DE MUY

The date of the appointment of Jacques Pierre Daneau, Sieur de Muy, as
commandant of Detroit is not certain, but he probably succeeded to the office
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upon the retirement of Celoron in the spring of 1754. Little can be learned
of his life, farther than that he was a son of Nicolas Daneaun, Sieur de Muy,
a Chevalier of the Military Order of St. Louis, at one time governor of Louisi-
ana, who died at Havana, Cuba, on January 25, 1708.

Jacques was born in 1695 and married Louise Genevieve Dauteuil at Montreal
on January 30, 1725. Six children were born to them. He held the office of
commandant at Detroit until his death on May 18, 1758. Events during his
term were of a rather tempestuous nature, owing to the French and Indian war,
the history of which is given in another chapter. Sieur de Muy was more of a
student and diplomat than a soldier, and during these stirring times depended
largely upon the officers of his garrison to carry out the plans and wishes
of his superiors.

JEAN BAPTISTE HENRY BERANGER

Prior to the death of Sieur de Muy, Beranger had occupied the position of
second in command at the post of Detroit. A few days after the funeral, his
name appears in the records as ‘‘lieutenant in the troops of His Majesty and
commandant for the king in this village.”” He remained in that position until
the arrival of the regularly appointed commandant chosen to succeed de Muy,
after which he again took up his old place as second in command until the sur-
render of Detroit to the British on November 29, 1760.

Beranger was a native of France and a son of Guillaume Beranger, Sieur
de Rougemont. He came to America while still a young man and on May 21,
1750, married Catherine Madeleine Fafard dit Laframbois at Three Rivers,
where she was born on August 23, 1723. A daughter of this marriage, Marie
Magdeleine, was born at Detroit on February 9, 1760.

PICOTE DE BELESTRE

The last French commandant at Detroit was Francois Maric Picoté, Sieur
de Belestre, a son of the man of the same name, who was acting commandant
at times during the term of Pierre Alphonse de Tonty, when his superior was
absent. His mother was the widow of Jean Cuillerier. The name is sometimes
written ‘‘Bellestre,”” but the last commandant always signed his name with
one ‘‘1.”’

In some respects Belestre was the most conspicuous of the French com-
mandants. He was an efficient and energetic officer, fully enjoying the con-
fidence of his superiors, and was frequently entrusted with important missions.
In 1739 he was engaged in the war with the Indians; was with Celoron in 1747
to convoy provisions to Detroit; was an active participant in some of the carly
engagements of the French and Indian war, commanding a body of British
and Indians at the time of General Braddock’s defeat on July 9, 1755. Previous
to his coming to Detroit he had served as commandant at St. Joseph. At the
time of his appointment to the Detroit post he held the rank of lieutenant. The
same year he was promoted to captain. After the transfer of Canada to Eng-
land he occupied several important positions under the new government. His
death occurred at Quebec in May, 1793. For many of the events that occurred
at Detroit while he was in command, including the surrender to the English,
see the chapter on the ‘‘French and Indian War.”’

Belestre was born in Montreal, where on July 28, 1738, he was united in
marriage with Marie Anne Nivard. At the time of this marriage he was about
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twenty years of age, having been born in 1719. Six children were born to this
union. His second wife, to whom he was married on January 29, 1753, was
Marie Anne Magnan.

FIFTY-NINE YEARS’ PROGRESS

When Cadillac came in 1701, the country about Detroit was uninhabited,
being a sort of neutral zone between the Five Nations and the western tribes.
The soil was first cultivated by the French, whose methods were so superficial
that only moderate crops were raised. There was no incentive to raise more
than they did, because their market was limited to the villagers and Indians,
and most of the former had gardens of their own. Voyageurs convoying goods
to the upper posts were occasional customers. Wheat and Indian corn were
the principal erops. The price of wheat varied from three to twenty-five livres
(60c to $5.00) per minot or bushel, as the crop was abundant or scarce. Bread
was usually baked by the publiec baker.

Until about 1727 the commandant controlled the trade of the post. This
system gave rise to so much dissatisfaction that, about the time Deschaillons
became commandant, trade was made free. At that time there were only about
thirty families in the village and its environs. In fact, the post had fallen so
low that it was officially proposed to abandon Detroit, if the owners of the
trading licenses would surrender them for 500 livres. A report on conditions
at that time says: ‘‘We shall have a post, abandoned, 300 leagues from
Montreal, with no provision made for the garrison, the maintenance of which
will fall on the king again, contrary to his will.”’

Under the free trade policy an improvement was soon notlceable The first
records, those of St. Anne’s Church, were destroyed by fire in 1703. Later
vital statjstics were kept by the notary, Robert Navarre. From these two
sources it is learned that between the years 1701 and 1730 there were 143
baptisms, 26 marriages and 72 deaths. The next decade showed 156 baptisms,
27 marriages and 73 deaths, more of each than during the first twenty-nine
years of the town’s existence. During the entire period of the French regime
there were 998 baptisms, 147 marriages and 475 deaths.

Vol. I—8



CHAPTER VIII
BRITISH DOMINATION: 1760-1796

CONDITIONS AT DETROIT IN 1760—MAJ. ROBERT. ROGERS—CAPT, DONALD CAMPBELL—
MAJ. HENRY GLADWIN—COL, JOIIN BRADSTREET—LIEUT.-COL, JOHN CAMPBELL
—CAPT. GEORGE TURNBULL—FIGHT OVER ILE AUX COCHONS—CAPT. GEORGE
ETHERINGTON—MAJ. HENRY BASSETT—THE QUEBEC ACT—JOHN CONNOLLY—
RICHARD BERINGER LERNOULT-—ARENT SCHUYLER DE PEYSTER—JEHU HAY—
MAJ. WILLIAM ANCRUM—CAPT. THOMAS BENNETT—CAPT. ROBERT MATTHEWS—
MAJ. PATRICK MURRAY—MAJ. JOHN SMITH—COL. RICHARD ENGLAND,

The period of British domination over the post of Detroit, as well as the
other western posts, begins with the siege of Quebec by General Wolfe, fol-
lowed by the battle of the Plains of Abraham, where Wolfe and Montecalm
met their deaths, the surrender of Montreal and the moving westward of British
troops to take possession of the garrisons like Detroit which had come to them,
the vietors, as the spoils of war. Detroit was occupied by Maj. Robert Rogers,
the ‘““New England Ranger,”” and a detachment of English soldiers, on No-
vember 29, 1760, in pursuance of the articles of capitulation of September,
1760, though the final treaty of peace between England and France was not
concluded until February 10, 1763. Major Rogers came directly to Detroit
from Niagara, some of his men arriving in bateaux by the river route, while
another portion of the force marched along the southern shore of Lake Erie,
driving a herd of cattle with them. This force of men which accompanied
Rogers to Detroit was composed of a portion of the Royal American Regiment,
made up of British colonists, and part of the Iightieth Regiment.

Thus, Detroit changed from a French colony to a British trading-post. The
French had always been amicable with the Indians, but the English came in
with the intention of driving out the Indian, also those of the French who
were not amenable to their customs and rule. This was followed naturally by
the uprising of the Indians under Pontiac, the siege of Detroit, the battle
of Bloody Run and other historical incidents before an era of tranquillity and
peace was to settle down over Detroit under British government.

When the English took possession they found in storage furs worth ap-
proximately half a million dollars. For many years there had been an intense
rivalry between the French and English for the control of the fur trade about
the upper lakes. With the surrender of the French posts, the English took
steps to increase the trade and within a few years about two hundred thousand
skins were marketed annually. During those days the Detroit River was a great
channel of commerce, even as now, but-in the place of the lengthy freighters
one sees now, there were numerous, gaudily-decorated canoes, manned by the
red men and white traders. These canoes came down the river to Detroit loaded
with valuable skins, which were bartered at the post. At night these canoes
were pulled upon the shore, turned upside down, and under them the red or
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white owner reposed. The English trader, it may be mentioned in this con-
nection, was the source of the greater part of the trouble which arose between
the English and the Indians. He was an unscrupulous fellow, utterly without
principle, and his methods in business practice soon aroused the hatred and ire
of the savages.

This condition, with the military despotism, usurpation of authority by
civil officers, and the general unrest under the British domineering influence,
caused many a year of turmoil before prosperity succeeded poverty. These
features, military and official, are narrated at length in other chapters of this
work.

MAJ. ROBERT ROGERS

Maj. Robert Rogers was born at Dunbarton, New Hampshire, in 1727. His
father, James Rogers, was an Irishman and one of the first settlers of Dunbarton.
From boyhood Robert was inured to the hardships of frontier life and assisted
in protecting the New England settlements against Indian depredations. In
1755 he was commissioned a captain by Sir William Johnson, superintendent
of Indian affairs, to drill a company of men as rangers. The company was
formed of volunteers from the regulars to the number of thirty-five, also fifteen
Royal Americans and six men selected by Rogers. Under the leadership of
their dashing commander, ‘‘Rogers’ Rangers’’ played an important part in the
military operations in eastern New York, particularly about Crown Point and
Ticonderoga. They performed many reckless feats, yet so skilfully were their
movements conduected that they suffered few casualties. Rogers won the con-
fidence of his superior officers and was promoted to major. A few days after
the surrender of New France to the British, Gen. Jeffrey Amherst, commander
of the English forces at Quebeec, ordered him to take a force of some two hun-
dred men and occupy Detroit. (See chapter on the French and Indian War.)

Major Rogers remained in Detroit but a short time, leaving on December
23, 1760, for Fort Pitt. He then joined General Grant’s expedition against
the Cherokee Indians, after which he went to London. He was a man of some
education and while in England arranged for the publication of his ‘‘Journals,”’
one edition of which was published in London and another in Dublin. He
returned to America and on July 29, 1763, while Detroit was besieged by the
Indians under Pontiace, he came to the relief of the post, bringing supplies and
reinforcements for the garrison. While in Detroit on this occasion he took part
in the Battle of Bloody Run.

On January 10, 1766, he was appointed commandant at Michilimackinac.
It seems that Gen. Thomas Gage wrote to Sir William Johnson about this time
to learn something of Major Rogers’ character. Sir William replied, telling
how he had made Rogers an officer in the army, and added :

‘““He soon became puffed up with pride and folly, from the extravagant
encomiums and notices of some of the provinces. This spoiled a good Ranger,
for he was fit for nothing else. * * * He has neither understanding nor
principles, as I eould sufficiently show.”’

Notwithstanding this adverse report, Rogers assumed command at Michili-
mackinac in August, 1766. The Indians were not friendly to the English and
at that time the post was almost deserted by white men. It was not long until
Rogers got into trouble by incurring expenses without authority, drawing orders
upon the government which afterwards went to protest, etc. He was also
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charged with a design to plunder the post and desert to the French at New
Orleans. He was arrested and sent to Montreal for trial, the principal witness
against him being a Colonel Hopkins, whose own loyalty was not above suspicion.
Rogers was acquitted of the charge of treason and soon afterward went again
to London.

In 1775 he returned to America and wrote a letter to General Washington,
offering his services to the cause of the colonists in the war with Great Britain.
His offer was not accepted and many thought he was really a British spy. He
then accepted a commission as lieutenant-colonel in the Queen’s Rangers and
became active in the English cause. On October 21, 1776, most of his command
was captured at Mamoranee, Long Island Sound, and Rogers barely escaped.
In 1778 the New Hampshire Legislature passed an act banishing him from the
colony, but his estate was not confiscated. After his defeat at Mamoranee,
Rogers again went to London and died there in 1800.

About the time Rogers entered the army he married Miss Elizabeth Browne,
of Portsmouth, New Hampshire. After his arrest at Michilimackinac she ob-
tained a divorece and married John Roche. She died May 11, 1811.

Says Parkman: ‘‘An engraved portrait of Major Rogers was published in
London in 1776. He is represented as a tall, strong man, dressed in the costume
of a Ranger, with a powder horn slung at his side, a gun resting in the hollow
of his arm, and a countenance by no means prepossessing.’’

CAPT. DONALD CAMPBELL

The territory embracing the post at Detroit was at this time under the
control of Sir William Johnson and Gen. Thomas Gage, who were lieutenants
of Sir Jeffrey Amherst, governor-general of the British colonies. Although
Major Rogers and Colonel Croghan, who led the British troops to Detroit, were
his superior officers, Capt. Donald Campbell was the first appointed com-
mandant at this post pending the settlement of peace. He was a ‘‘canny Scot,”’
who had seen military service in His Majesty’s army for several years before
coming to Detroit. He succeeded Major Rogers on December 23, 1760, and
soon afterwards was promoted to major. At the time the British took posses-
sion, the fort occupied about four blocks of the present city, such as might be
bounded on the north by Larned Street, east by Griswold, south by Wood-
bridge, and on the west by a line near Wayne Street. Early in the year 1761
Captain Campbell wrote to General Amherst as follows:

““The fort is very large and in good repair; there are two bastions toward
the water and a large bastion toward the inland. The point of the bastion is
a cavalier of wood, on which there are mounted the three-pounders and the
three small mortars or coechorns. The palisades are in good repair. There is
scaffolding around the whole, which is floored only toward the land for want
of plank; it is by way of a banquette. There are seventy or eighty houses
in the fort, laid out in regular streets. The country is inhabited ten miles on
each side of the river and is a most beautiful country. The river is here about
nine hundred yards over and very deep. Around the whole village, just
within the palisades, was a road which was called the ‘Chemin de Ronde.” ”’

Campbell was instructed to reconcile the Indians to the change in gov-
ernment, and presents were sent to him for distribution among them. He
was also directed to disarm the French inhabitants, but as many of them
were hunters or trappers, to have disarmed them would have been to deprive
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them of their means of earning a living. The order was then modified so as
to apply only to those whose loyalty to the English order of things was sus-
pected.

This was the first step toward the monopolization of the fur trade. Within
a few years the English completely controlled the trade in furs, and the Ca-
nadians, as the French were termed, were driven either to live on their farms
or to join the Indians in the chase. They did both. During the spring and
summer months they cultivated a small patch of ground, but when the hunting
season opened they left their little crops to be taken care of by the women and
children. Even in the summer, a large part of the farm work was performed
by the women, the men spending their time in fishing, or in associating with
the Indians, with whom most of them were on intimate terms.

About two weeks before he became commandant, Captain Campbell wrote
to Col. Henry Boquet, commandant at Fort Pitt: ‘‘The inhabitants seem very
happy at the change of government, but they are in great want of everything.”’
Boquet undertook to supply the means of providing for this want by giving a
permit to Thomas Colhoon to take a stock of goods to Detroit and open a trading
establishment. Colhoon embraced the opportunity with enthusiasm, but before
he was ready to start the weather grew so severe that he gave up the enterprise.
Hamback and Van Der Velder, two Dutch traders, were then licensed by Boquet
and they arrived in Detroit in January, 1761, with six horses and the first stock
of goods brought to the post after the beginning of British rule.

Major Campbell was superseded as commandant by Maj. Henry Gladwin
in July, 1762, but remained at Detroit as second in command. He was cruelly
murdered by the Indians in July, 1763, an account of which is given in the
chapter on Pontiac’s Conspiracy. He was universally respected by both the
Indians and the white men and the settlement at Detroit prospered while he
was commandant.

MAJ. HENRY GLADWIN

The Gladwin family traces its desecent back to Thomas Gladwin, who was
born in Derbyshire, England, about 1605. Maj. 